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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

RESULTS

The consolidated turnover of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
March 2022 amounted to HKS$62,365,000 (2021:
HKS$206,605,000) of which HKS$12,052,000 (2021:
HK$8,207,000) was attributable to the business of
publishing and intellectual properties licensing:
HK$50,313,000 (2021: HK$198,394,000) was
attributable to digital marketing; HKSnil (2021:
HKS$4,000) was attributable to retailing and
wholesales business. Loss for the year aftributable
to equity holders, taking into account of taxation,
was HK$28,943,000 (2021: HK$57,191,000). The loss
per share was HK1.8 cents (2021: HK4.1 cents).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors has resolved not to
declare any final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2022 (2021: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group has experienced a rather turbulent
year. It continued to face lockdowns and
disruptions due to Covid-19 and shrinking
business activities, in partficular in the Digital
Marketing segment. Against such acute business
and economic environment, the Group focused
on improving profit margins, conserving resources
and reducing expenses. During the year, the
revenue of Digital Marketing has decreased 75%
from HK$198,394,000 in 2021 to HK$50,313,000 in
2022.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRBEE

BUSINESS REVIEW (Confinued)

In streamlining its operations, the operation of the
Group’s two 55% owned subsidiaries in Beijing.
including Beijing Skyvior Technology Co. Ltd
("Beijing Skyvior”) and Hyperchannel Info Tech.,
Ltd ("Hyperchannel Info”), specializing in Digital
Marketing, apply big data analysis in matching
IPs to assist customers in marketing products and
services, were consolidated. During the year, the
Company continued to emphasize on working
closely with customers engaged in consumer
products distribution or social media platforms,
and focused on selecting projects with better
profit margins, instead of pushing for revenue.
Overall, gross profit margin of Digital Marketing
segment improved from about 17% in 2021 to
30% in 2022. Continuing from last year, due to
the Covid-19 pandemic, the original plans for
business development and increased manpower
were scaled back further, as business is still rather
stagnant.

During the last quarter of the fiscal year,
Beijing Skyvior cooperated with WPP Marketing
Communications (Hong Kong) Limited ("WPP
Marketing”) and accepted the capital injection,
equivalent to 19.9% of total issued share capital,
into a subsidiary of the Company. WPP Marketing
is part of a prominent international group of
marketing and advertising companies. This
cooperation allows the Group to expand the
scope and base of Digital Marketing business.
At the same time, WPP Marketing benefits from
the provision of technical support and services
of our Digital Marketing team to their customers.
The Group is excited about the opportunities
offered by this new extension of Digital Marketing
business.

EBERE(E)

RECEEFTE  AEESEREANEREET
ERABESF UGB EFETERRRSE
ZH SRR W EAS5% RS 2 L KB A A
BREYEINRBB LT EERZLREZEESR
MEARAA (tREZE ) RIEREBRRKE
EREAERLIA (EERK)NEEETEH
B RAFE  ARAHEHEERSHEEEE
MEHEIHRRERBTE2EFEREHE L E
ERBBAEESANBRZEE MIEEDY
moREMS  BItHSHEREI BN ZENERH
CEC-FZVUREME_TE = _F230%° H
EFRBBES EBRRERADERE2019E
REEREEHREAEEMEMTEE—D
AR - THE RN AREL BT o

REAVBREFEEE-—BFE LtREZECH
WPP Marketing Communications (Hong
Kong) Limited (TWPP Marketing ) &R EZ
MAXBMEBEARHEERS BHITRALEEII%
Z5EE o WPP MarketingB 1B & HRES A
REBEREEz—BD ZEEEEAEESUE
REBETSHEBREB2EERER - B K
WPP MarketingZ BERAE B 2 it HHZH
EEROEEFRHEIBMIBERRE A&
EBHEBETm G EEER 2T ERATR 2B
BRI LR -

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Confinued)

During the year, activities of digitalisation and
commercialisation of IPs, content creation and
digital marketing dropped substantially as gifts or
accessories, promotional or hosting events almost
grinded to a halt during the Covid-19 pandemic
lockdowns. The Company has re-directed
most of its resources from digitalisation and
commercialisation of IPs and content creation,
including personnel, to other Digital Marketing
activities.

As the overall economic condition is gradually
improving, the Group continues to focus on
reviving new business developments with
emphasis on consolidating and improving
operational efficiency to strengthen and build
the overall Digital Marketing business to be more
resilient and competitive.

Publishing and IP Licensing Business

The Publishing and IP licensing business is still
rather static. Revenue from licensing, were
HK$3,470,000 in 2022 and HK$3,774,000 in 2021.
The Company has been able to achieve a
break-through in reviving certain Japanese
comic book sales by selecting popular past
issues and re-packaging them intfo collector’s
or commemorable issues. As a result, neft
publication comic book sales increased from
HK$4,433,000 in 2021 to HK$8,582,000 in 2022. The
Company is putting more effort on publication
book sales of IP’s owned or under licenses, and
to broaden the scope of licensing business.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRBEE

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Retail and Wholesales Business

The Group’s premium wine is primary for
consumption by high-end consumer groups or
restaurants. The Covid-19 pandemic has delayed
the implementation of marketing plan to expand
sales and distribution channels including online
platforms and wine dealers for its premium wine.
As the lockdowns of bars and entertainment
outlets are easing, the Group will again resume
the development of distribution channels for the
premium wine,

PROSPECT

The prolonged Covid-19 pandemic had caused
adverse effect on business and slowed down or
delayed new business development. The Digital
Marketing business has faced unusual challenges
and has been scaling back substantially its
operation and focusing on improving profit
margins and at the same time reducing
expenses. The total number of employees in the
Digital Marketing segment were scaled back to
54 at the end of fiscal 2022 from 133 at the end
of fiscal 2021. The total number of employees
of the Group reduced from 162 in 2021 to 84 in
2022. Although, overall revenue dropped about
70% from HKS206,605,000 in 2021 to HKS$62,365,000
in 2022. Loss attributable to shareholders of
the Company reduced by about 49.4% from
HK$57,191,000 in 2021 to HK$28,943,000 in 2022.
The Group is optimistic about the general
economic recovery and will continue to strive
to maintain and focus on improving operational
efficiency while moving steadily and cautiously in
fostering new business development.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

PROSPECT (Continued)

The Group has completed the subscription of
new shares under specific mandates to an
investor in May 2021, raising approximately
HKS41,575,000 to strengthen the financial
position of the Group, adding working capital
to fund operation, new projects and business
development,

In May 2021, the Group has entered info an
agreement with third parties to acquire 100%
interests in a PRC company specializing in
artificial intelligence (“Al”) of voice recognition
and analyzing hardware and soffware. The
acquisition will entirely be financed by issuing
new shares of the Company. This is a new
business opportunity and venture of the Group in
Al. This transaction has not been completed and
is pending for the approval by shareholders.

APPRECIATIONS

| would like to express my sincere thanks to the
Board of Directors, our management and staff
for their continued dedication in the past year,
and to all our customers, suppliers, business
partners and shareholders for their enthusiastic
support of the Group.

Kwan Kin Chung
Managing Director
Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEHBF®ESH

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s consolidated net loss attributable to
the owners of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2022 decreased by approximately
49.4% to HK$28,943,000 or HK1.8 cents per share
(2021: loss of HK$57,191,000 or HK4.1 cents per
share).

The analysis of consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2022 is as follows:

1.

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Group’s overall revenue from continuing
operations significantly decreased by
approximately 70% from HK$206,605,000
to HK$62,365,000 of which approximately
HKS$12,052,000, HK$50,313,000, and HKS$nil
(2021: HKS$8,207,000, HK$198,394,000 and
HK$4,000) were attributable to our business
of publishing and intfellectual properties
("IPs™) licensing, digital marketing and
retailing and wholesales respectively.

The revenue from the digital marketing
business significantly decreased from
approximately HK$198,394,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2021 to HKS$50,313,000
for the year ended 31 March 2022. While
in general the online retail business of our
customers might have not been adversely
affected by the Covid-19 pandemic, in
fact some of them experienced increased
business volume, but our customers in
general reduced their outsourcing of
advertising and marketing activities. At the
same fime, the Group also scaled back the
operation and focused on projects with
betfter margins. As a result, our business
volume decreased accordingly compared
with last year. When facing this downward
trend of business, the Group focused on
improving the profit margin of projects
undertaken.

MERE

BE-Z-__F=-ZA=t+-BLFELXRAE
BARGEZASERESERFERDN49.4%2
28,943,000/ 8 THER1.8B M (ZFE=—F : &
1557,191,0008 T2 KR4 184) °

BE-B--—F=B=t-BLEERARN
REMZERERINAOT :

1. WA

REBE-ZE-_-_F=ZA=Z+—HBL*F
E AEBFELELEEBR EZBKRA
H206,605,0008 T K@@ 2 H70% %
62,365,00058 7T » HEAH%912,052,000& 7T
50,313,000 Tt kR EEB T (ZEZ—F .
8,207,0005% T + 198,394,0005% 7t K 4,000
BR)DRREERRAMBERE (HNRERE
D REER BIBtTEHEEERUR
TEHEMBEK-

REHBBLEHTSEBEEBL 2R ABHE
EZE--—FE=ZA=+—BLEFEEHY
198,394,000 T KBV ZEHEZE T —=
F=A=+—HIEFE#50,313,000& T °
BEENMsS BRHAELEF2GLTEE£K
AEER B Z 20198 RFERBRIEZ T F
FE MBNEFZEBEEHAEM
BEMAZEFEERDNHAEERMSEH
EEZs R AEETEHEE Eix
RESHABHEE - Bt RP2EHR
ERLFFEERRL HEHUHERTTE
BoARAKEEEERREAREER 2FBEE
o

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

1.

Revenue (Continued)

The revenue for the business of
publishing and IPs licensing, increased by
approximately 46.9%, as an increase of
revenue from more publication of Japanese
comic book during the year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately HKS$21,758,000 from
continuing operations with overall gross
profit margin of approximately 34.9% for the
year ended 31 March 2022 as compared to
the same period of 2021, which recorded a
gross profit of approximately HK$38,786,000
with gross profit margin of approximately
18.8%. Comparing the gross profits for
both periods, the improvement was due
to the improvement of cost control and
an adoption of new marketing strategy in
digital marketing segment.

Selling expenses

The selling expenses from continuing
operations decreased from approximately
HKS$30,734,000 for the year ended 31 March
2021 to approximately HK$13,051,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2022. The decrease
was mainly due to a drop in revenue and
streamlining of operation of the segment
of digital marketing business for the year
ended 31 March 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEHBF®ESH

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

4.

Administrative expenses

The Group recorded an aggregate
administrative expenses from continuing
operations of approximately HK$33,164,000
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021:
HKS$43,138,000).

The major expenses components for the
year ended 31 March 2022 were staff cost
of approximately HK$17,337,000 (2021:
HK$19,267,000), audit fee of approximately
HK$1,450,000 (2021: HKS$1,950,000),
depreciation of right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$2,087,000 (2021:
HKS$6,000,000), listing and corporate services
fee of approximately HK$1,043,000 (2021:
HKS$1,032,000).

The decrease in administrative expenses
from continuing operations was mainly
due to lower business activities under the
Covid-19 pandemic and streamlining of
operation.

Other impairment losses

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the
amount of approximately HKS$1,452,000
(2021: HKS11,401,000 for goodwill arising
from Egmen and Hyperchannel Info) for
goodwill arising from Hyperchannel Info
were impaired due to incur operating loss to
the Group for the year ended.

An impairment loss on intangible assets
of approximately HKS$1,309,000 (2021:
HK$3,757,000) were recognised as the actual
sale generated from customer confracts
and related customer relationships were
lower than the expected demand.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

6.

Other expenses

The other expenses from continuing
operations recorded the research and
development cost of approximately
HK$10,239,000 (2021: HK$9,453,000) for
strengthening and improving the operation
of digital marketing business. During 2022,
legal, consultancy and other professional
fees of approximately HK$9,284,000 (2021:
HK$6,881,000) were paid to lawyers for
providing legal services (including the
legal services in relation to the civil claim
on infringement of the copyright works)
and paid to consultants for providing
professional advice on business operations
and development.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a loss from continuing
operations of approximately HK$39,205,000
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021:
HKS$69,921,000) and a loss from discontinued
operations for the year ended 31 March
2022 of HKSnil (2021: HK$374,000).

Also, as af 31 March 2022, the Group has
net asset of approximately HK$190,894,000
(81 March 2021: HK$172,574,000). Net asset
value per share of HKS$0.11 (31 March 2021:
HK$0.12).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEHBF®ESH

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As of 31 March 2022, the Group had bank
balances with financial institutions in aggregate
of approximately HK$129,527,000, restricted bank
deposit of HK$5,539,000 and a total of financial
assetfs at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$8,370,000.

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign
exchange rate fluctuation except for the
fransactions that are denominated in United
States dollars (*USD") and HKS$ relative to RMB.

As of 31 March 2022, the Group had a net
current asset of approximately HK$179,547,000
(81 March 2021: HKS$160,377,000) and a current
ratio of approximately 12.9 (31 March 2021: 3.2).
The Group’s total liabilities as of 31 March 2022
amounted to approximately HKS15,119,000 (31
March 2021: HK$73,144,000) and the gearing ratio
of the Group represented approximately 8.3%
(31 March 2021: 44.3%) to equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

Upon consideration of the above, the Directors
have no doubt that the Group will have
sufficient liquidity to finance its daily operations,
as reflected by its healthy financial status with
a wealth of cash flow and other resources. As
always, the Group will continue to follow prudent
and disciplined cash management practices on
any excess liquidity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As of 31 March 2022, the Group had a total
of 84 employees of which 30 are based in
Hong Kong and 54 in the PRC. Total staff
costs from continuing operations incurred for
the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted
to approximately HKS$33,483,000 (2021:
HK$54,456,000). Remuneration packages are
maintained at competitive levels and reviewed
by the management on a periodical basis.
Discretionary bonuses and incentive share
options are awarded to certain directors and
employees according to the assessment of
individual merit and performance.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM
SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES
UNDER SPECIFIC MANDATE

Share Subscription completed on 6
May 2021 (the “Share Subscription”)

Reference is made to the announcement issued
by the Company on 1 March 2021 and the
Circular of the Company dated 9 April 2021
in relation to the placing of new shares under
specific mandate.

On 1 March 2021, the Group and the
subscriber entered into a Share Subscription
agreement, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to allot and issue,
and the Subscriber has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for 278,000,000 subscription shares at
the subscription price of HKS$0.15 per subscription
share.

The Share Subscription was approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the Special
General Meeting on 30 April 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEHBF®ESH

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM

SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES HAR(E)
UNDER SPECIFIC MANDATE

(Continued)

Share Subscription completed on 6 i

May 2021 (the “Share Subscription”)
(Continued)

The Company intends to contfinue to apply the

proceeds from Share Subscription in a manner %

consistent with that mentioned above and it

is expected that these proceeds will be fully TEARE

utilized by March 2023. The Directors will continue
to evaluate the Group’s operations and financial
performance when applying the proceeds.

The subscription of shares was completed B 15 52
PANNEETE =8 8
FrEMEIR X &) 441,575,000 T A WL R &

SECHEB AT SERD I BEAFEUT ¢

on 6 May 2021 with net proceeds of Share
Subscription (after deducting all relevant
expenses) approximately HK$41,575,000 are
intended to use for the expansion of the Group’s
digital marketing segment, in particular as to:
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“TEZ-FRARNEERZROR
BErR(RORBER] (8)
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Approximate Actual use of Unused total
percentage net proceeds net proceeds
Use of net proceeds from Planned use of total up to up to
the Share Subscription of proceeds net proceeds 31 March 2022 31 March 2022
Bz Bz
—EC-CF —EC-CE
=ZA=t-H =A=t+-H
EREHAE ZFBRE ZRE
RORBSEAERE FEREZ MEREL REER ERE
REzAR dERR BABDH R# AEFH
Working capital for building and strengthening HK$8.6 million 20.8% HKS7.7 million HK$0.9 million
the marketing and technical team
BURMEBHZEEREMBEK EEES 8,600,000/ 7t 7,700,000 7t 900,0003& 7t
Working capital for the provision of Key HK$156.2 million 36.7% Nil HK$15.2 million
Opinion Leader ("KOL") management services
RUBREREM(KOL)) ERREEEES 15,200,000% 7t £ 15200,000%
Potential acquisition opportunities to HK$11.9 million 28.7% Nil HK$11.9 million
enhance the Group's competitiveness and
long-term sustainability
BRETUBKEURALEE 11,900,000 1t T 11,900,000t
BEN LREARBEURSERR
General working capital HK$5.7 million 13.8% HKS3.1 million HK$2.6 million
-REEES 5,700,000/ 7t 3,100,000% 1t 2,600,000/ 1t
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROPOSED ACQUISITION

Acquisition of Entire Equity Interests
in a Company involving issue of
consideration Shares under Specific
Mandate

On 28 May 2021, Vanity Holdings Limited (the
“Purchaser”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered info an agreement with 4
Vendors, Guangxi Fuchuan Huafa Technology
Co., Ltd. (the “"Vendor A”"), Shenzhen Qunyou
Intelligent Education Technology Co., Ltd. (the
*Vendor B”), Luo Weizhao (the “Vendor C*) and
Liu Jubo (the “Vendor D”) respectively, pursuant
to which the Purchaser has agreed to purchase
and the Vendors have agreed to sell the entire
registered and paid-up capital in amount of
RMB50,000,000 of Imitation Brain Technology
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (the "IBT") for a total
consideration of HK$63,000,000, which shall be
settled by procuring the Company to issue and
allot an aggregate of 191,000,000 new Shares of
the Company to the Vendors at the issue prices
of approximately HKS$0.33 for each Consideration
Shares.

This proposed acquisition are subject to the
approval by the shareholders of the Company at
Special General Meeting. Details of the Proposed
Acquisition was set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 2 June 2021, 26 August 2021 and
29 October 2021, 29 December 2021, 28 February
2022, 29 April 2022 and 27 June 2022, respectively.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any
significant capital commitment (31 March 2021:
Nil).

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not have
any other significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFSEHREE

The Directors present their annual report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding
company. The activities of its principal associate
and subsidiaries are set out in notes 19 and
39 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE

Details of the Group’s associate and of the
Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2022 are
set out in notes 19 and 39 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2022 and the state of the Company’s and
the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 74 to 278.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 61.1% of the Group’s tfurnover
from continuing operations, of which 25.0% was
attributable to the largest customer.

The aggregate purchases during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 80.0% of the Group’s total
purchases from continuing operations, of which
56.2% was attributable to the largest supplier.

EEEREBE-_E--_F=ZA=+t—HLHF
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BORAZEBDBBRNEEMBRRK T IOR
39 e
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MNETAZ278E 2 BT8R *K
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
(Continued)

At no time during the year did a Director, an
associate of a Director or a shareholder of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) have an interests in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022 including a fair review
of the business and discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s business, are set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement”, *Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Financial Summary” sections
of this Annual Report. Save as disclosed in the
Company’s announcement, no important event
affecting the Group that has occurred since the
end of the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year of 2022, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period
(2021: Nil).

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately
HK$10,000 on the acquisitions of property and
equipment.

Details of these and other movements during the
year in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ESEHEE

TERFRMHER &

ARARESE ESCHBALRUNRESRANE
BEARARBSWAECZRRREANBERER S
SEELAFEFIUEEIPEA-—IFFRHEE
Bz o

£ 3E1)-C

AEERBZE-ZE-_—_F=A=+—HLEE
ZEBOE SEEB2ATER  AEEFR
HEFTZERARERTHPEZZARERAEEE
BARAEBRZEBT SRAFRIEFERS
El TEEENRRIONIRIMBEHE IS -
HEBEZ-ZE-_—_F=ZA=Z+—-HBLUBEELE
RUR  RAQARAEMBEEN  HEBEY
BREBMzEREH -

iz 2

RIZZBZZHFIERGIRZBRAIRE - BR
EHRESEZZRVEARE (ZT=—F:
) -

YRR R

R AKEEZBEANI00008 TEAMERR
fa e

FTREBERAEEYE BERKBRFRZ
Hit#BFREHN S B HRRME16-

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF

19



20

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFSEHREE

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings of the Group during
the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in
note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements during the year in the share
capital and the share option schemes of the
Company are set out in notes 32 and 33 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity and
note 43 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 March 2022, the Company has no
reserves available for distribution to shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assefs and
liabilities of the Group for the past five financial
years is set out on pages 279 and 280.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Huang Mingguo (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 2 July 2021)

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung (Managing Director)

Mr. Yuen Kin
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DIRECTORS (Confinued)
Non-executive Director:

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason (Chairman)
(appointed on 27 April 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew
Mr. Mung Yat Lik

The Directors of the Company, including
Executive Directors, Non-executive Director,
and Independent Non-executive Directors
("INEDs") are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting
of the Company. In accordance with Clauses
101, 110(A) and 190(v) of the Company’s Bye-
Laws, Messrs. Wong Kon Man Jason, Yuen Kin,
Fan Chun Wah Andrew and Wong Kwan Kit will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves, for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service confract which is not terminable
by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the INEDs as required under Rule 3.13 of Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”). The Company considered all INEDs to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFSEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia, aged 61, joined the
Company in April 2008 and was appointed as
an Executive Director on 17 May 2011, and as
Vice Chairman of the Company on 26 March
2012. Currently, Ms. Chow is a member of
the Corporate Governance Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Ms. Chow is the
Director of L&W Holding Limited which is one of
the substantial shareholders of the Company.
Ms. Chow presently is responsible for corporate
management of the Group. Ms. Chow holds a
Master of Business Administration from Stillman
School of Business at Seton Hall University and
has more than 28 years of extensive experience
in executive development and corporate
management.

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung, aged 53, joined the Group
in 1998 and was appointed as an Executive
Director and Managing Director of the Company
in March 2008, Mr. Kwan is a Chairman of
the Corporate Governance Committee of
the Company and is a Director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Kwan held the
position as vice president of the Group from
1998 to 2002 and was appointed as an acting
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in April
2007. During the period of serving as the Vice
President of the Group, Mr. Kwan was also the
vice publisher of Tin Tin Daily News where he
gained wealth of experience in media industry.
He holds a Bachelor Degree of Arts in ECconomics
from Zhongshan University, Guangzhou, PRC.
Mr. Kwan has extensive experience in businesses
restructuring and corporate investment.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yuen Kin, aged 67, was appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company in
September 2017 and Mr. Yuen is a Director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yuen holds
a Master of Business Administration degree
from the University of Toronto, Canada. He is a
Chartered Professional Accountant in Canada
and he is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and
of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has extensive experience in
corporate finance, financial planning, reporting
and management.

Mr. Yuen is an Independent Non-executive
Director of Emerson Radio Corporation (NYSEMKT:
MSN), a company listed on The American Stock
Exchange. He is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Huayi Tencent
Entertainment Limited (stock code: 0419), a
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He had been
a Non-executive Director of Lafe Corporation
Limited from April 2016 to December 2020
(SGX: AYB), a company listed on The Singapore
Stock Exchange. Lafe Corporation Limited was
privatized and delisted on 31 August 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFSEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Huang Mingguo, aged 50, was appointed as
an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company in July 2018 and a member
of the Corporate Governance Committee of
the Company since March 2019. Mr. Huang
resigned as an Executive Director, the Chief
Executive Officer and the member of Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company upon
completion of his service contract of 3-year
term ending on 2 July 2021 in order to devote
more time to his other business engagements.
He holds a Bachelor Degree in Chemistry from
Peking University and a Certificate of Advanced
Management Program in Harvard Business
School. Mr. Huang was the project manager of
market research division in P&G, China. He has
also set up and operated numerous companies
which were engaged in advertising media,
market research, capital management and
investment business. In 2010, he was appointed
as the Chairman of Panmedia Institute which
is the first nonprofit making think tank in China
established to undertake the development and
study of media knowledge and management.
In 2011 to 2014, he served as an Executive
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Shanghai Midas Media Limited. In August 2015,
Mr. Huang set up the venture fund - BkigHEE
PBEHRERELE (BRE M) investing in new
business startups. Mr. Huang has equity interests
in FRETHPBLZAREERBR AT, of which is a
general partner of FkEFBLZASZTHAERE D
¥ (AMRA). Mr. Huang is also a limited partner
of KBEHFEHELHEHMAXERELE (FREN)
which holds a 6.75% equity interests in Egmen, a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason, aged 58, was
appointfed as Non-executive Director and
Chairman of the Board of the Company in April
2022, Mr. Wong is a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor’s degree in
business administration from the University of
Hawaii at Manor in the United States. He has
been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Wong has over 25 years of experience in fund
management and capital markets investment
in Asia Pacific, primarily investing in Al, TMT,
gaming, consumer, biomedical and more.

Mr. Wong has been hailed as ‘the godfather
of special purpose acquisition companies
("SPACs") in Asia’, and has sponsored, advised,
or served on the management team of multiple
U.S.-listed SPACs since 2014. Of his U.S. SPAC
portfolio, three have already successfully
initiated or completed business combinations.
The first of these was DT Asia Investment Limited
(Nasdaqg: CADT), for which Mr. Wong served as
an independent director. He also served as the
chairman and chief executive officer of Norwich
Investment Limited, the U.S. SPAC Sponsor of the
SPAC Tottenham Acquisition | Limited (Nasdaq:
TOTA). He is also the director of Ace Global
Investment Limited, the U.S. SPAC Sponsor of the
SPAC Ace Global Business Acquisition Limited
(Nasdag: ACBA). Mr. Wong is the sole manager
(U.S. equivalent of ‘chairman’) of Soul Venture
Partners LLC, the U.S. SPAC Sponsor of the
newly-listed SPAC Inception Growth Acquisition
Limited (Nasdaqg: IGTA). He is also involved
in several SPACs which are in the process of
becoming listed and served as the strategic
advisor of the SPACs or director of their U.S.
SPAC Sponsor. Mr. Wong was appointed as the
executive director and chief executive officer of
Ace Eight Acquisition Corporation, a SPAC which
has filed a listing application to the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.
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2% # ANorwich Investment Limitedz £E #
THHEHE - TEERKTABSPAC Ace Global
Business Acquisition Limited (4% 8y #Z 5 £
1S : ACBA) 2 ZESPACE # AAce Global
Investment Limitedz EE - T L4 AH L™
SPAC Inception Growth Acquisition Limited
(M ETZE RS - IGTA) 2 EZBISPACE B ASoul
Venture Partners LLCZ i — &I A (F£XEE
ERMEFE]D BIABSHZBEEERLTR
2 R ZSPAC » I & £ 7% ESPACZ K BE BE R =,
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFSEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Non-executive Director (Continued)

Mr. Wong has been serving as the founding
partner and on the board of directors of
Whiz Partners Asia Limited, a joint venture
company co-founded by Whiz Partners Inc.
Whiz Partners Asia Limited has managed the
business development activities of the portfolio
companies of Whiz Asia Evolution Fund, and
Mr. Jason Wong has been an investment
committee member for the fund since April 2013.
Whiz Partners Asia Limited also launched the
China Hero Fund as an exclusive gaming fund
partner with leading gaming company Sony
Interactive Entertainment.

Mr. Wong also served as a financial consultant of
Transpac Capital Limited (one of the largest and
oldest private equity funds and venture capital
funds in Asia) from May 1993 to February 2000.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Bamboos Health Care
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2293), a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Wong had been an
Independent Non-executive Director of Shinsun
Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. from October 2020 to
January 2022 (stock code: 2599), a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

(%&E&%ﬁkétﬁkﬁﬂ

FHITES (F)

FTEE—BEETEZENREBRAAZE
BEBRARESENE  Z2AAFEEWIz
Partners Inc. BRI ¥ W& & A 7] o B 2 52 M
BREBR D TEEWhiz Asia Evolution Fundi&
EHEGLARAZERBRREH MEIEEE_-F
— =N RAZESIREZESEHRE-E
EUMNREERADDNSEABIERESS
BACHANZFEHEARNREEHRELFRE
FECEES -

FTRECER - NAN=FRERE=-ZZTETE A
ATranspac Capital Limited (T2 & K & & &
ARRFIHEREESRBEABBREESZ ) 2K
BER o

IREBERABABEZRERQE (RO :
2293) R BUFHTES (RLAREBBER
ZHRBRRAERLD) - EXREBR-Z=F
FTRAEZZ-__F-AARLER(REE)E
PRA R (BB © 2599) 2B I HITESE (=
RANEBBERGMAERABDERLT)
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, aged 50, was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in July 2018. Mr. Wong is the Chairman
of the Audit Committee, a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Wong holds
a Master of Business Administration degree
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong has
over 21 years of experience in accounting and
financial management, mergers and acquisitions
gained from certain finance related positions in
companies listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Man Sang International
Limited (stock code: 0938) and Sprocomm
Intelligence Limited (stock code: 1401), both of
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFSEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew JP, aged 43, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2015. Mr. Fan
is a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Fan is a
practicing certified public accountant in Hong
Kong with over 15 years of experience. He holds
a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration
(Accounting and Finance) from The University
of Hong Kong and a Bachelor Degree in
Laws from the University of London. Mr. Fan
is the fellow members of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United
Kingdom and the fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
is also a committee member of the tenth to
twelfth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of the Zhejiang Province, the fourth
and fifth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Shenzhen and the Tenth to
Eleventh Vice Chairman of Zhejiang Province
United Young Association.

EEREREEABZBAESR

(&)
BYFHAITES (&)

ERELE(KTPHL)  Bm R=ZZ2—1F
MAEZERARABLFATES B LE
REARBAEREES FTHEESRREEEE
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Fan is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Chuang’s China
Investments Limited (stock code: 0298), Space
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2448), Sing
Tao News Corporation Limited (stock code:
1105) and Nameson Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1982), all of which are companies listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Fan had been an
Independent Non-executive Director of Fulum
Group Holdings Limited from October 2014 to
May 2021 (stock code: 1443), Sinomax Group
Limited from March 2014 to June 2020 (stock
code: 1418) and Universal Star (Holdings) Limited
from May 2019 to September 2020 (stock code:
2346), the shares of all companies are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, and Sanbase Corporation Limited
from January 2018 to December 2019 (stock
code: 8501), CNC Holdings Limited from January
2018 to August 2020 (stock code: 8356) and
Omnibridge Holdings Limited from July 2017 to
November 2020 (stock code: 8462), the shares of
all companies are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.
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5% 0 0298) - EFEEZERBERD T (RO
2448) - ESFEEBEBRLF (RO MK :
1106) REEZERAER AT (RO 1982)
CEUFHUTES (RELAIREBHARS
FIERABERLED) SBEEBR-FT—F
tREZZE-_-FhRAEREEERARLD
Bl (ROMASE 1443) 2 BURHATES TR
—E-NFZRE-Z-EFERARRHREH
BRAE (RMAHR 1 1418) 2 BIYIFHTES
YR-ZZB-NFRAEZZE-ZFNARETF (&
R)BRAE (RO : 2346) c BIUFHTE
E(RERAZRDEINREBHAERZHAERR
AERLED) FRZZ-NF-REZZT-N
Fr+ZAHAEHESEE QT (RO : 8501)
ZBIYFHITES IR=ZF-—-NF-—AE=
EEFNAHEGREHFEESHREZERBER LA
(BRDL3E  8356) e B FHITES » TR
E-tFtRAEZZ-ZF+-AHAEREE
REMRDE (BRMAIE :8462) 2 BIUFHTE
E(RERAZRODEIRERBERZMBERA
BIGEMLETI)

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF

29



30

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFSEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Mung Yat Lik, aged 64, was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company in December 2018. Mr. Mung
is a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company.

He has 33 years of experience in investment
management, tourism, logistics and investment
property. In particular, he has extensive
experience in cooperation with state-owned
enterprises in investment and operations, as well
as cable media management. Mr. Mung acted
as the Vice President and general manager
of Guangdong Southern Yinshi Cable Media
Company Limited (ERE AR REREEREBR A
Al) and as a director of Hoteline Network Limited.
Mr. Mung is currently the Managing Director of
Guangdong Guoye Greenhouse Technology
Limited (ERBEEHZERZBERAT), the Vice
President and investment director of Xiamen
Xinyou Logistics Company Limited (EFI & &K YR
A2 F)and the Vice President and investment
director of Shenxing (Hainan) Travel Limited (& 1T
CERE) RIATHBRQA).
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f=}

BYFHAITES (&)

B ORE ME RZE-NF+ZAEZE
ERARABLHARATES ERERALQA
BEREEECHE -
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management

Mr. Sun Wei, aged 42, was appointed as a
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in
November 2021. Mr. Sun holds a Master Degree
of Science in Accountancy from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Sun has over 15 years
of experience in financial management, equity
investment and asset management.

Mr. Sun has been the Chief Executive Officer of
Sunny Wealth International Investment Limited
from December 2018 to November 2021 and
he was responsible for formulating the overall
corporate development strategy, managing
daily affairs as well as leading investment and
risk management. From 2010 to 2018, he was
the senior managements of Hong Kong Green
Dynasty International Co., Limited, Cornucopiae
Asset Management Limited and Cypress House
Asset Management Company Limited.

Mr. Lam Tin Lung Ivan, aged 50, joined
Culturecom Group as Chief Technology Officer
in October 2021. Mr. Lam has over 25 years of
technical hand-on experience in design and
implementation on large scale computing
architecture & infrastructure. He has extensive
experience of over 15 years in management of
multi-location teams in global environment, as
well as 8 year on business strategic planning and
DevOps leadership for e-commerce & cloud
computing projects. Mr. Lam holds duel Master of
Science in Computer Science and in Mechanical
Engineering from the University of California, Los
Angeles in USA.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFSEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. Yeung Tsz Kit Alban, aged 43, joined the
Group as Chief Financial Officer in August
2021. Mr. Yeung is a fellow member of both
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
"The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators”) in England and The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly “The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries”).
Mr. Yeung is also a fellow member of the CPA
Australia and an associate of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants. He
has over 15 years of experience in corporate
secretarial practice, accounting, auditing, and
finance.

Mr. Yue Chi Wing Toby, aged 56 joined the
group in 2014. Mr. Yue is a member of Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company and is
the General Manager of Culturecom Limited, a
subsidiary of the Group. He is responsible for the
overall planning, development and marketing
of the Group’s publishing business. Mr. Yue has
over 36 years of extensive experience in the
publishing industry and has been involved in the
publication operation of various comic books in
Hong Kong. He is also the founder of THE ONE
Comics Publishing Limited which was acquired
by the Group in 2014.

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, aged 54, joined the Group in
September 1997. Ms. Lee holds a Master Degree
of Professional Accounting. She is a fellow
member of both the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has
extensive experience in auditing, accounting
and corporate finance.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted its share option scheme
(the "2013 Scheme”) on its 2013 annual general
meeting held on 12 August 2013.

Details of movement of the share options
granted to the Directors and employees of the
Company under 2013 Scheme as of this Annual
Report are as follows:

The number of shares available for issue under
the 2013 Scheme as of the date of the Annual
Report is 14,000,000 shares which in representing
approximately 0.84% of the issued share capital
of the Company as of that date.
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ESEHEE

BRERTE

ARAAERZZE-—ZFNA+ZBEFTZ=ZF
—ZERRBFASLRABREFS (==
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RAFHRBEH RE-F-—=FFEARTEQ
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Number of share options

EREHE
Granted/
Exercised/

At Cancelled Lapsed At Exercise

1 April  duringthe  during the 31 March Grantedon  price per
Date of Grant 2021 year year 2022 27 April 2022 share Exercise period

g a2
W-B=-F FRERL/ W-2--f WAZttA

REAH MA-B /2% EREAM ZAZt-H RY SROKE igid

HKS
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(0) Director
gz
Wong Kon Man (i) 27 April 2022 - - - - 8,000,000 0.72 27 April 2022 to
Jason 26 April 2025
Iy i3 “E-CEMACTLAEE
MAZT+A “ECREMAZTAH
(b) Others
Hit

Consultant of the (i) 27 April 2022 - - - - 6,000,000 072 27 April 2022 to
Group 26 April 2025
AREZER ZRIZE SECCEMACTLAE
MA=ttA ZECREMAZTAA
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EFSEHREE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

No share option had been granted, exercised,
cancelled and lapsed during the year ended 31 March
2022.

On 27 April 2022, 14,000,000 share opfions were granted
to the non-executive Director and consultant of the
Group, respectively, in order to reward the Director and
consultant for the business development of the Group.
These share options have an exercise price of HKS0.72
per share and an exercise period ranging from 27 April
2022 to 26 April 2025. The price of the Company’s shares
at the date of grant was HKS$0.72 per share.

The options exercise period is commenced from the
date of grant for three years. The options may be
exercised at any time within the options period provided
that the options have been vested.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHEE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS ERFE

(A) Interests of the Directors (A EECER
As of 31 March 2022, the interests and short MR-ZBE-_—_F=A=+—H A"ATEE=E
positions of each Director of the Company in ERAATREEBE LB (EXRBF R
the shares, underlying shares or debentures BE5RA ([R5 REBERM] EXVE) 2R
of the Company and its associated 7 HEERORNEEEFEE HQ)IREF
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV SREBEROIEXVEBETRESD EEME
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the AABRERFT (BEREFSRBAERH
“SFO")) which are required (a) to be notified BBEGRXEEEIRABEEZRBZRAR) ;
to the Company and the Stock Exchange H(0)IR 15 75 5 & By & 1% 5 5535215k 78 i #%
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of EFRESHmA CEBRBELTATES
the SFO (including interests or short positions ETRESRFEESTHENEARARA R
which he/she is taken or deemed to have RFizEERKAR

under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein;
or (¢) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:

Interests in the shares of the Company RAERGRGZ#Ez
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Director Capacity Nature of interest shares held issued share capital
HERITRE
Espg 54 BImME Fris R4 8 B ZBREDH
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (i) Beneficial owner Personal interest 32,962,800 22.41%
BEZEZL BERBEBA EARR
(i) Interests of a contfrolled Corporate interest 275,767,312
corporation NAIER (Note 1)
TRARER (&)
(iii) Interests of spouse Personal interest 65,245,000
[R5 BA#E (Note 2)
(Ht&2)
Mr. Huang Mingguo (i) Beneficial owner Personal interest 14,460,000 0.90%
ERERL EnfEmA BA#R
(i) Interests of a confrolled Corporate interest 500,000
corporation N AR (Note 3)
RENAzER (FiE3)
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EFSEHREE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors

(Continued)

Notes:

1. Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia ("Ms. Chow"”) has
conftrolling interests in L&W Holding Limited
("L&W"), L&W is beneficially interested in
275,767,312 shares in the Company. Accordingly,
Ms. Chow is deemed to be infterested in
275,767,312 shares in the Company under the SFO.

2. Mr. Dizon Basilio ("Mr. Dizon”), the spouse of
Ms. Chow, is beneficially interested in 65,245,000
shares. Therefore, Ms. Chow is deemed to be
interested in 65,245,000 shares in the Company
under the SFO.

3. Mr. Huang Mingguo, resigned as an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company on 2 July 2021, has controlling interests
in Jet Victory Investments Limited (“Jet Victory”).
Jet Victory is beneficially interested in 500,000
shares in the Company. Accordingly , Mr. Huang is
deemed to be interested in 500,000 shares in the
Company under the SFO.

All inferests stated above represent long
positions.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 March
2022, none of the Directors of the Company
had interests or short positions in any
securities of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which are required
(a) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which he/she is taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

EaiRE (E)

(A) EE 2w ()

1. AEZExz+ ([AZ*]) AL&W Holding Limited
(TL&W ) B ZEHI MR LAWEREE
275,767.312RA DA KR M 2w o B I
REBSRBEGRG BRZItBRERES
275,767,312 ARB BB P 2R o

2. ZHEBERE(FEEDDAZTIZERB BR
BB 65,245,000 11 - At - REFSZRBE
1%RG) B2+ 3R R FEH 65,245,000 A A 7 R
70z e

3. ERELELEER-E-—FLtAZHBER
DRAZHITEERITHAR  MNJet Victory
Investments Limited ([ Jet Victory]) & & #l
MRS o Jet VictoryE % # H500,0008% 7 2 7]
Bz - DAt RIBFSZRBEGKRD > &k
4 AR EHEA500,0001 R AT WD 2 -

LA BIE -

BREXFIREEN BE-ZE-_5=A
=+—-B ARFAESHEREFARITRH
FAEBEIE (ERRBZRBEMRGE
XVE) 2EAESHEBAQORERSZR
HIERGIEXVEBETRESD IAME AR
ARBX(BEREESRPERIEEH
HYXREFESRAEE2EEZIAXA) S R
(O)1R 5 & % & 23 & 1% 5 5835215k 7R iC $% £
ZAFFT it 2 2R MR FCH)RE LT D F
ESETRSREZ2BETUANAANEERR
AIRBRcEEIAR
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors

(B)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ESEHEE

(A) EE 2w ()

(Continued)
Interests in the share options of the READNGHEREZES
Company
Approximate
percentage of
Nature of Number of Exercise price issued share
Name of Director Capacity interest share options per share Exercisable period capital
HERTRA
£ 3.2 L) EiftE BREHE BRITERE gid ZEREAN
HK$
B
Mr. Wong Kon Man Beneficial Personal 8,000,000 0.72 27 April 2022 to 0.48%
Jason owner inferest (Note 1&2) 26 April 2025
IBX BRERA HARSR (ME182) ZECCEMAZTLA
S
ZECREMAZTRA
Notes: MiEE
1. Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason appointed as NED and 1. EIFBRNEER-E-__FWNA-T+LHEZRE

Chairman of the Board on 27 April 2022.

2. The options exercise period is commenced from
the date of grant for three years. The options may
be exercised at any time within the options period
provided that the options have been vested.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

Interests of Substantial Shareholders

As of 31 March 2022, so far as is known to
any Director or Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, the following person had
an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:

(B)

REPTESREFSIR -

2. BRETEPARTZERK =ZFHX-B
RETREBERECESE 2BREDREME
RATE ©

LA RERIRER -

TERRES

BE-Z-_—_F=ZA=t—-H ' ®ELH
FMESIITRARFA - LTALHSR
RARROBEEARD 2EZINARRE
RIEE 5 R E RO EXVERE2R FE30 &
ZERNXABARTRRE IR\ QA
HERHERPIEIBMAETUREFEZE
AR 2 BB FIX R ¢
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EFSEHREE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)

(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders
(Continued)

Interests in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company

EaiRE (E)

(B) EER R = (&)

RERXTARGREEK G 2

Approximate

Number percentage of
of shares issued share
Name Capacity held capital
HEBITRAE
=x 54 RO EE ZBABED
L&W Holding Limited Beneficial owner 275,767,312 16.52%
BEREAA
Mr. Dizon Basilio Beneficial owner, interests in a 373,975,112 22.41%
ZHRBEE controlled corporation and
interests of spouse (Note 1)
EZBEEA ZEAQAT
2wk BER (1)
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia Beneficial owner, interests in a 373,975,112 22.41%

BEELZL controlled corporation and
interests of spouse (Note 2)

BERSBEAA  ZELQT

ZEm R E SRS (EE2)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHEE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS E=IRE (&)

(Continued)
(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders (B) TERE#ER (1)
(Continued)

Interests in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Dizon Basilio (*Mr. Dizon”) is beneficially
interested in 65,245,000 shares in the Company.
Mr. Dizon also has conftrolling interests of 65% in
L&W Holding Limited ("L&W"). L&W is beneficially
interested in 275,767,312 shares in the Company.
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia ("Ms. Chow”), the spouse
of Mr. Dizon and the Director of the Company, is
beneficially interested in 32,962,800 shares in the
Company. Accordingly, Mr. Dizon is deemed to be
interested in 373,975,112 shares in the Company
under the SFO.

2. Ms. Chow is beneficially interested in 32,962,800
shares in the Company. Ms. Chow is the spouse
of Mr. Dizon and has confrolling inferests in L&W.
Accordingly, She is deemed to be interested in
373,975,112 shares in the Company under the SFO.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 March
2022, the Directors and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company were not aware
of any person who had an inferest or
short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

RAERXTARGREEKR G 2z ()

1. ZHEBEE(ZEE)EBERZEFAL T
65,245,000 B& 19 ° Z= 5% £ RL&W Holding
Limited ([L&W 1) HE B 65% < = H MR o L&AW
BEER275767312BR AR A RM 2B - =
SECERERABELZT (BALt]) FAEKRAT
CEE BREB32962800RADTRN 2
o H  RIBFHRHEKR ZEEBRES
HEAH373,975, 1121 N A AR AR 2 % ©

2. B+ E#EEH32962,800R A1 AR 2 HE
B BTZEINFEECERB BREWERE
Bt - EUt - RBBSRBPERM - KR
BEEAI73,975112RA DB RM 2 B -
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS REWE (8)
(Continued)
(C) Interests in Shares of Associated C)RAEQABHEHB LB Z2RMD 2 ER

Corporation of the Company

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding on

Name of the associated the associated
corporation Name of Director corporations
REBEZEREZ

B LEER EEps BB

Egmen Technology Limited Mr. Huang Mingguo (Note 2) 6.75% (Note 1)

TRZFFABRBEERRAF EREKLE (FE2) (BfF=ET)

Notes: B & :

1. Mr. Huang Mingguo (“Mr. Huang”) has equity 1. EHEXE(BEEE)AKETHPEEHRE
interests in BREMHBLZPAREEEFR AR, of EEERAGDEARE MHERKREPIEELSH
which is a General Partner of kg #5788 =Hi Al EHAERECE(BEREN) ZEBEMNA -
£BELE (BRAK) . Mr. Huang is also a Limited BERETAKETBRERESHRAERELE(F
Partner of BREH BB EHMAIERELZE (BREN), RE) 2BRENUA > HELESFHREE
which holds a 6.75% interests in Egmen Technology RAR(THFM]) 26.75%Ex » A A T RIF
Limited ("Egmen”), of which the Company holds a BHSS%HEERER -

55% indirect interests.

2. Mr. Huang Mingguo resigned as Executive Director 2. EPRELALECBELARZHTESRITHA
and the CEQ of the Company with effect from 2 B B-ZE-_—FtHA-HEEXN-
July 2021.

All interests stated above represent long Lt ERRIIBER -

positions.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No confracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective
associates had any business which competed or
was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights
under the Company’s Bye-Laws, or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis o existing
shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, every
Director or other officers of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or damages
which he may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his office, or otherwise
in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and Officers of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities in the Company during the year ended
31 March 2022.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company, with
written terms of reference in line with the code
provision set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the "Code”) as stipulated
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”), currently comprises of
three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, Mr. Fan Chun
Wah Andrew and Mr. Mung Yat Lik. The Audit
Committee of the Company has reviewed with
the management the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed
the internal control, risk management and
financial reporting matters including the review
of audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

LITIGATION

As to the dispute regarding the registered
frademark and all other intellectual property
rights of “Little Rascals Comics”, Culturecom
Limited and Citicomics Limited have obtained
an injunction order against Jade Dynasty
Publications Limited and Huang Yulang in the
High Court Intellectual Property Proceedings
in September 2021, in which those parties are
restrained among the others in (1) making
publishing selling distributing promoting issues of
the Little Rascals Comics and/or any products
by reference to the frade make of the Little
Rascals Comics (including books, magazines,

BE- - HENEE LRSS

KRB EMBRrANRBE-_ZT=-__F=A8
St-HLEFE WERBOD HERBELALQF
EA LTRSS -

EREE"

ARAzEREZES (HEARERENSE R
BAEXZMERLR (B & £HEA
(TETRADMEETNTB2EXERERT
TSR REzFRAGR) REAEERNSE
EBRERERT-NDAEE=ZUBILFANT
ESER - ANAZEREZEECHEEES
BMASEMEAzETRARED  LHBA
BEE EREERVME2HREEHE  BEEH
BE-Z-_-_F=-A=Z+-BLFEZREX
ISR o

HiEN

ERCIARBE)NEMBAERAANBERES 2
Mg XMEEEERAAREBEXLARLAA
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ERDABAREEBORE - iRk HE - 28
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comic strips, posters and sticker etc);, and (2)
making any representation that Huang Yulang
or anyone other than Culturecom Limited is the
owner of the copyright and/or other intellectual
property rights subsisting in and relating to the
Little Rascals Comics. The trial date of the said
High Court Intellectual Property Proceedings has
yet been fixed.

In respect of the dispute arising out of the
co-operation and licence agreements for
“Dragon and Tiger Gate” made between
Citicomics Limited and Jade Dynasty Publication
Limited in 2018 and 2019, Citicomics Limited
has commenced several legal proceedings,
including District Court Action, High Court
Companies (Winding-Up) Proceedings and
Arbitration Proceedings, pursuing for outstanding
licensing fees plus interest thereon against Jade
Dynasty Publication Limited. In April 2022, parties
have reached settlement regarding the said
dispute and Mr. Huang Yulang, as the director of
Jade Dynasty Publication Limited, sighed a Deed
of Settlement, in which Jade Dynasty Publication
Limited has agreed to pay Citicomics Limited a
sum of HK$2,340,000.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a material impact on the business of
the Group in all material aspect and there
were no circumstances of material breach
or non-compliance of applicable laws and
regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to achieving
environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours fo comply with the relevant laws and
regulations regarding environmental protection
and adopt effective measures to achieve
efficient use of resources, waste reduction
and energy saving. For instance, the in-house
manufacturing facilities of the Group operate
in compliance with the relevant environmental
rules and regulations. The Group reviews its
environmental policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG
Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 to
the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report will be available
on our website in due course.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out on
pages 46 to 64 of the annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the “Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers” as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors (the “"Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code during
the year ended 31 March 2022,
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

During the year, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
("Deloitte”) resigned as auditor of the Company
with effect from 7 March 2022, and Gary Cheng
CPA Limited ("Gary Cheng”) was appointed
as auditor of the Company with effect from
11 March 2022 to fill the casual vacancy
occasioned by the resignation of Deloitte. The
reason for this change of auditor is that taking
info account the level of audit fees, Deloitte
decided to resign as auditor of the Company.

The financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2022 were audited
by Gary Cheng, who will retfire and a resolution
tfo re-appoint Gary Cheng as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Kwan Kin Chung
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is committed to achieving high
standards of corporate governance which
is crucial to the development of the Group
and safeguard the interests of the Company’s
shareholders. To accomplish this, the Group has
adopted practices which meet the Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. During the
year, the Company has complied with the Code
except for the following deviations:

CODE PROVISION A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1, Non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. The current
Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company are not appointed for a specific term.
However, all Directors (including Executive and
Non-executive) of the Company are subject to
retirement by roftation at the Annual General
Meeting in accordance with Bye-Law 110(A) and
190(v) of the Bye-Laws of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

=
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CODE PROVISION E.1.2

Under the code provision E.1.2, the Chairman
of the Board should attend the Annual General
Meeting. The position of the Chairman of the
Board was not filled before the Company’s
Annual General Meeting held on 17 August 2021.
However, an Executive Director, present at the
annual general meeting who then took the chair
of that meeting in accordance with the Bye-Laws
of the Company.

On 27 April 2022, the Company has appointed
Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason as Non-executive
Director and Chairman of the Board of the
Company to fill up the vacancy of Chairman.

MINIMUM NUMBERS OF CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

According to the written terms of reference,
the Corporate Governance Committee (the
"CGC") comprised of 4 members. Following
the resignation of Mr. Huang Mingguo on 2 July
2021, Ms. Hung Wai Kwan on 8 August 2021, and
the appointment of Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason
and Mr. Yue Chi Wing on 28 June 2022, the
Company currently comprises of four Corporate
Governance Committee members, Mr. Kwan Kin
Chung, Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia, Mr. Wong Kon
Man Jason and Mr. Yue Chi Wing respectively.
The Company has then complied with the written
terms of reference of Corporate Governance
Committee.
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l\_Jﬂ iEﬂ:

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code
as set out in Appendix 10 fo the Listing Rules
as its own code for dealing in securities of the
Company by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed
that all Directors have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2022, the Board comprises of
the Vice Chairman, the Managing Director,
one Executive Director and three Independent
Non-executive Directors. The Board of Directors
is principally accountable tfo the shareholders
and is responsible for the leadership and
control of the Group including overseeing
the Group’s businesses, strategic directions,
financial performance, setting objectives and
business development plans, and monitoring the
performance of the senior management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board of Directors meets regularly throughout
the year to formulate overall strategy, monitor
business development as well as the financial
performance of the Group and has formal
procedures on matters for consideration and

TEREEA

AFEAWRSE

Exg (&)

ExesFeEERegsR
EEAKE2EBRERMBERE  UHEF
ZRRARZEERAEAEF -EFECER
EETHRIUNEEAEB AR
EE-BEERNFRETZEFTEZRRRK

LA 5T 22 B8 SR K

decision-making. The Board of Directors has S2HBEREMT
delegated certain authorities to the senior
management for the day-to-day management
of the Group’s operations. The attendance of
Directors at the Board Meetings and General
Meeting held during the year is as follows:
Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Annual
Directors Board Meetings General Meeting
HERE, HERE
Bz EEEERLY BRREFAE
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia BEFELLT (FIZE) 10/10 N
(Vice Chairman)
Mr. Huang Mingguo BERELE (TEAZR) 3/3 0/0
(Chief Executive Officer) (ER=ZF=-—F+H
(resigned on 2 July 2021) ZHEHF)
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung BRELE (EFLLE) 10/10 1/1
(Managing Director)
Mr. Yuen Kin R BEE 10/10 1
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason IBHNELE 0/0 0/0
(Chairman of the Board) (EEZEFE)
(appointed on 27 April 2022) (R=—FE-——FHMA=—1++tH
BZE)
Independent Non-executive Directors B HTES
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEALE 10/10 11
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew CERERE 10/10 1/1
Mr. Mung Yat Lik E LIl v 10/10 N
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors as required
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considered all Independent Non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.5.5 of the CG
Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. Reading materials on relevant
topics are issued to Directors where appropriate.
Each Director received induction on the first
occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure
that he/she has appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Group
and that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, all
Directors participated in continuous professional
development relevant to the duties and
responsibilities of the Directors under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirement.
Such continuous professional development was
delivered via reading materials in relation to
legal or regulatory updates and/or attending
fraining courses provided by the legal advisors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit
Committee with written terms of reference which
is aligned with the code provisions set out in the
Code.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year
for reviewing the reporting of annual and interim
results and other information to the shareholders,
and the effectiveness and objectivity of the
audit process. Additional meetings may be held
by the Audit Committee from time to time fo
discuss special projects or other issues which
the Audit Committee considers necessary. The
external auditors of the Company may request
a meeting if they consider that one is necessary.
The Audit Committee also provides an important
link between the Board and the Company’s
auditors in matters coming within the scope of its
terms of reference and keeps under review the
independence and objectivity of the auditors.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises of
three Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Audit Committee was chaired by Mr. Wong Kwan
Kit.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed
with the management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed about auditing, internal conftrol, risk
management and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited financial
statements and unaudited interim financial
statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the members and attendance
of the meetings of the Audit Committee are as
follows:

EREES ()
FRETZERZESERZZHNERERERE
1

Attendance/

Number of

Directors Meetings
HERE

=3 BRRHE
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEARNEE 5/5
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SBRRELLE 5/5
Mr. Mung Yat Lik R—h%iHE 5/5

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Office ("CEQO")
should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the Chairman and
CEO should be clearly established and set out
in writing. The Chairman’s roles are convening
meetings of the Board and make decision of
the Group’s business strategies. After Mr. Huang
Mingguo resigned as Executive Director and
CEO of the Company on 2 July 2021, Mr. Sun
Wei, appointed as CEO of the Company on 22
November 2021. The CEO of Company is primarily
responsible for the daily operations of the Group
in accordance with the goals set up by the
Board.
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ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER (Continued)

The CEO is also supported by other Executive
Directors and Senior Management. The Board
believes that the Company has already a strong
corporate governance structure in place to
ensure effective oversight of management. The
Board will continue to review the effectiveness
of current management structure from ftime
to time and may make changes if and when
appropriate. The Board will also continue fo
monitor and review the Company’s corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with
the Code.

TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Under the code provision A.4.1, Non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. The current Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company are
not appointed for a specific term. However, all
Directors (including Executive, and Independent
Non-executive Directors) of the Company are
subject to retirement by rotation at the annual
general meeting in accordance with Bye-
Law 110(A) and 190(v) of the Bye-Laws of the
Company. As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure
that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are no less exacting than those in the
Code.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Group has
been established in November 2005 with written
terms of reference in line with the Code. The
Remuneration Committee will meet as and when
necessary or as requested by any Committee
member to consider and recommend to the
Board the Group’s remuneration policy and
stfructure and to review and determine the
remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors and senior management. The Directors
are remunerated with reference to their
respective duties and responsibility with the
Company, the Company’s performance and
current market situation.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive
Directors and one Executive Director. The
Remuneration Committee was chaired
by Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew. Details of
emoluments of the Directors from the Group
for the year are as disclosed in note 15 of the
consolidated financial statements.

Statistics of each Remuneration Committee
member’s attendance at the Remuneration
Committee Meeting:

FMEES
AEEER-ZEEHRF+-—ARIFMNEES -
WKBRTRFAHEHEEREGEE FTHEES
REEIREZESEHEEZRBHEER UZ
ERODESERZAEECTMBRRES
LR R EEHITESREREEASZH
MEB EE2HFMOBRBERESENRALT
ZHBEREBE  AQATRZEERBAIZHRERE -

FHNEESEREMEBUFATESR—2H
TESHAN FHZEES 2 TERTHRERLE -
FEERAEEESCHMECHBRESUBR
RIFFEISHIKE -

Attendance/

Directors No. of Meetings
HERE,

=3 BRRHE
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SBRELLE /1
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia BAEELZL /1
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEAEE /1
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company,
the Company established a Nomination
Committee on 26 March 2012 with written terms
of reference, to formulate nomination policy for
the Board’s consideration and implement the
Board’s approved nomination policy. The Board
of Directors has the power from time fo time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board
of Directors. The nomination shall be taken in
consideration of the nominee’s qualification,
ability and potential contribution to the
Company.

According to the written terms of reference,
the Nomination Committee shall consist of
three Directors, a majority of whom shall be
Independent Non-executive Directors appointed
by the Board of Directors from time to fime.
Currently, the Nomination Committee comprises
of one Executive Director, Ms. Chow Lai Wah
Livia, and two Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew and
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit.

Nomination Policy

The Company has also adopted the Director
Nomination Policy on 1 January 2019. Such policy
sets out the selection criteria and process and
the Board succession planning considerations
in relation to nomination and appointment of
Directors of the Company, and aims to ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the Company, the conftinuity of the Board and
appropriate leadership at Board level.
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LAFERRSE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the
factors for assessing the suitability and the
potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the
following: character and integrity; qualifications
including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant
to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy; diversity in all aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age (18 years or above),
cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service; requirements of Independent
Non-executive Directors on the Board and
independence of the proposed Independent
Non-executive Directors in accordance with
the Listing Rules; and commitment in respect of
available time and relevant interest to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

Statistics of each Nomination Committee
member’s attendance at the Nomination
Committee Meeting:
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted its own board diversity
policy ("Board Diversity Policy”). The Board
Diversity Policy aimed to achieve diversity of
the Board through consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural, educational background and
professional experience. The Nomination
Committee of the Company shall review the
Board Diversity Policy as appropriate and make
recommendations on any proposed revisions to
the Board.

Board appointments will be based on objective
criteria having due regard to the benefits of
diversity of the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Company established a Corporate Governance
Committee (the "CGC”) on 26 April 2010 with
written terms of reference. The CGC obligates
to advise upon any fransaction of the Company
which the Board is proposed to enter or transact
for and on behalf of the Company, and give
a collective opinion to the Board as to the
propriety, feasibility and prudence of entering
into such transactions.

According to the written terms of reference, the
CGC comprised of 4 members. Following the
resignation of Mr. Huang Mingguo on 2 July 2021
and Ms. Hung Wai Kwan on 8 August 2022, and
the appointment of Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason
and Mr. Yue Chi Wing on 28 June 2022, the
Company comprises of four CGC members The
Company has then complied with the written
terms of reference of CGC. Currently, the CGC is
chaired by Mr. Kwan Kin Chung.
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LAFERRSE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements for each financial
period which give a tfrue and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. In preparing
the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2022, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgments and estimates
that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Directors are also responsible
for keeping proper accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Group, for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Auditor’s Responsibilities and
Remuneration

During the year, the audit fee for the Group
amounted to approximately HKS$1,450,000.

The statement of the auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 65
to 73.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Risk Management and Internal control

The Board acknowledges ifs responsibility fo
ensure sound and effective risk management
and internal contfrol systems and reviewing
their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
risk management and infernal control systems
are reviewed at least annually to ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of
the Group’s internal audit and financial reporting
functions.

Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage and
mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Through the Audit Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee, the Board conducts
annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, covering the material control, including
financial, operational and compliance controls.
The management are primarily responsible for
applying and for supporting the risk management
and internal conftrol processes. The operating
units and support functions are facilitated and
coordinated by the management, and ensure
that risk management processes and mitigation
plans follow good practices and guidelines
established in their day-to-day operations. Any
risk events and incidents identified are reported
by the operating units and support functions to
the management in a timely manner.

LAFERRSE
P R ()

BB EE R AR

EEETHRIEFEIRARAREERAMBE
BERGTERRN  LHERITEENME - MY
EEEERABERZRARELSFETRT
LRER BETERRER  BIIRBURK
SEABEFEERMBERBITEME -

EREERABEZRS

AEENEREERAMBEEZRGEEEEER
AR ELE o T IEPEBRE R - W T E RERR
My EIBIRMSEMIEBERE -

ERERZEERGCXEREZES ESEY
AEENEREERAPEZRAG CREEKRE
B RV E€ERGHAERE) NEMMEET
FERN EEETREERARXERRE
BRABEZEF ERESHHARSEE
BEURXENM  UEREREERFREZ
SEABTRAEEEPRELNRFEMARIES -
NBERREARBREHAREN EBEURIE
BIERELBREERE -

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF

59



60

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

LAFERRSE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Main Features of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk
management and intfernal control systems
include the establishment of strategic risk register
tfo monitor the identified risks, the assessment and
evaluation of risks, the continuous updating of risk
responses for each key risk identified to ensure
the effectiveness of the mitigation procedures
on an ongoing basis. A risk matrix approach is
adopted to determine the significance of the
risk after evaluation of the risk in accordance to
the likelihood of occurrence and severity of the
risk event identified. The significance of the risks
reflects the level of management’s attention and
risk responses.

Risk management process is integrated
with the internal control systems, so that the
Group’s ability to handle risks that hinder the
achievement of financial, operational and
compliance goals are stfrengthened and the
allocation of resources are more adequate.

Process used to identify, evaluate and
manage significant risks

The Group develops a preliminary inventory of
events that could influence the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives. The Group
identifies outside and inside events by reviewing
its external and inftfernal environment and
stakeholders, that have an influence or potential
influence on the Group’s ability to achieve
its strategy and business objectives. The risk
identification process takes place at least once
a year. Furthermore, any risk events and incidents
identified by the operating units and support
functions will be reported to the management in
a timely manner.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Process used to identify, evaluate and
manage significant risks (Continued)

The risks identified are evaluated with a risk matrix
which prioritises risks according to the likelihood
of their occurrence and the significance of their
impact on the achievement of the Group’s
business objectives. Following the review of the
risk matrix, the Group selects and deploys the
corresponding risk responses and investigates the
mitigation procedures to be executed to ensure
the idenftified significant risks were managed 1o
an acceptable level.

Process used to review the effectiveness
of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Group does not have an internal audit
function due to the size of the Group and for
cost effectiveness consideration. The Board
would be directly responsible for internal control
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.
The Group contfinues to review the need for an
internal audit function annually. An independent
consultant (“the Consultant”) was engaged to
perform a review on the risk management and
infernal conftrol systems. The Consultant has
reported findings and areas for improvement
to the Board and management. The Board
and management are of the view that no
material defects are noted in the Group’s risk
management and infernal control systems.

The recommendations from the Consultant are
properly followed up by the Group to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board considers the Group’s
risk management and infernal control systems
are adequate and effective and no significant
control failings or weaknesses was identified for
the year ended 31 March 2022,
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LAFERRSE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Inside Information Policy

The Group has established policies for the
handling and disseminatfion of inside information.
Such policy is set out inside the staff manual and
all staff is required to comply. In addition, each
personnel are granted a specific level of access
to the price sensitive and inside information. The
Directors, senior management and employees
are informed with the latest regulatory updates.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, the company secretary of
the Company, is a full time employee of the
Company. During the year, the company
secretary has duly complied with the relevant
professional fraining requirement under Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company is aware of its responsibility fo look
affer the interests of its Shareholders. Pursuant
to the Company’s Bye-laws 70 and section 74
of Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended)
(the “Act”), the Board, on the requisition of
Shareholders of the Company holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, can convene a
special general meeting ("SGM”) to address
specific issues of the Company within 21 days
from the date of deposit of written notice to the
registered office of the Company. If the Board
fails to proceed to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the said
date.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Contfinued)

The written requisition must state the purposes
of the meeting together with proposals to be
put forward at such meeting, signed by the
Shareholder(s) concerned and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of those Shareholders. Besides, the
written requisition must be valid in pursuant fo
section 79 and 80 of the Act. The requisition will
be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon their confirmation that the requisition
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary
will ask the Board of the Company to convene
the SGM affer the deposit of such requisition
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with
the statutory requirements to all the registered
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged by
the Company to attend the Company’s general
meeting.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company after each shareholder meeting.

Shareholders are provided with contact details
of the Company, such as telephone number,
fax number, postal address and the Company’s
welbsite address in order to enable them to make
any query that they may have with respect to
the Company. Shareholders may make enquiries
to the Board by writing to the Company at the
Company’s head office in Hong Kong at Suite
1502, 15/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong. In additfion,
Shareholders can contact the share registrar of
the Company, if they have any enquires about
their shareholding issues.
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LAFERRSE

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy
(the "Dividend Policy”) which does not have
any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. In
considering dividend payment, the Board will
take info account factors such as depending
on results of operations, working capital,
financial position, future prospects, and capital
requirements, as well as any other factors which
the Directors of the Company may consider
relevant from time to time. The Board will review
the Dividend Policy from time to time and
the Dividend Policy does not constitute any
commitment or obligation of the Company to
declare dividends.

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Board gives high priority to balanced, clear
and fransparent communications which allow
shareholders and investors to understand the
Group’s prospects and the market environment
in which it operates. The Company engages with
shareholders and other investors through various
channels of communication to help ensure that
their views and concerns are understood and
addressed in a constructive way.

The Company’s constitutional documents have
been posted on the Company’s website at
www.culturecom.com.hk. During the year,
there had been no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B RBED RS

GRRY CHENG CPA LIMITED

7‘ Certified Public Accountants
A,

To the Shareholders of
Culturecom Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial
statements of Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “"Group”) set out on pages
74 to 278, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements give a frue and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs™) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the "Code”), and we
have fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B X BEN T

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
BRENEHE

We identified the NRV assessment of premium
wine as a key audit matter due fto their
significance to the consolidated statement
of the financial position as a whole and the
significant judgment and estimations involved
in the estimation of NRV of the Group’s
premium wines.
BMEEEERE2 SR FEMAGRNA —HER
EiEE RERAFEAERUGEUBMR R RER
BEXR URAMGEET SEEEEEFEEZT2RF
BERYPRERHERAEE -

BREEH

ERETSESREMANERHEMS - R
MBEFAPENGESUBRREHEENSTE -
ELEHRAERMEAREGSMBHRERRRL T
ARRRETRE RMIFTSHELEREHR
EBENER -

[

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BHERRNNEERAEENSEE

Our procedures in relation to the NRV assessment
of the inventories included:
EMEBEIMFENTERFENEFEEUATRIE:

J Discussing with the management’s process
for evaluating the product-by-product
regular NRV assessment view and
challenging the judgment exercised in
determining the allowances of inventories
as at the end of reporting period, including
their key controls and policies on estimating
the inventories allowances;
HEREN®AEREANEREEEH TSR F
BEFEEFER  REREERETHARAFERE
RATAZHE BREAFTFERBR ZBREZES
R ;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Key audit matter

BEESTER

As set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management carries
out inventory review on a product-by-product
basis at the end of the reporting period.
As further disclosed in Note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements, the carrying
amount of premium wine was approximately
HK$34,905,000. The management performed
the inventory review including the estimation
of the respective NRV which was determined
as the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

BMFEE B RRMTANE  EEERBREHBAR
RENERETFEEE BUGRESMBRRMT
22 —FWE - BEHENIREEA 534,905,000
BT EEEFEFEELS BEEREEEKRBE
WA EBERFELHEEMENMETRAEENS T
SR FEMET -

The estimation of the respective NRV takes into
account a number of factors including prices
of actual sales during and/or subsequent
to the reporting period and independent
market information in relation to each of the
inventories held by the Group.
BEASRFENGHADEFRZEREZ  BERS
HER RREENERHEEERREE BE5£EF
EREEENBIYMSEER -

B RBED RS

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BEHERRNMUEEBRREENSE

Assessing the reasonableness of the
estimation of the NRV of inventories
performed by management by:

FEBRUT XA EREEHFENSR FEM
M a TR

1. Evaluating management’s identification
of any inventories requiring specific
write-downs due to damage or other
quality issues with reference to the
information obtained during our
inventory count; and
SERMEFELRTESNEN R
EEEHREBREFHMEERNEMEER
ETEEMBNFE TR ; &

2. Performing independent market
research to evaluate the market
information used by management to
estimate the latest selling prices of the
wines.

ETBYUMSAE  UFEEERE ARG
BESHEEMERNMSEER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B XBEh RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible
for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual
report but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2021 were audited by
another auditor who expressed an unmodified
opinion on those statements on 25 June 2021.

HibfE 8

BELARESFTHHMGEEAE HMEREHE
wam&&wmgg ﬁT@%@é%ﬁﬁ%
REMOZBENRES o

EMEGESVBHRRNZRLTREAMBES -
EMTATHZEHMERRREALXNER

o

FEREMNESSMBERERERNVES  BANEE
EHEEMER  FUHBREP  TEEMEER
BHEGAMBBRRIRMEETBRIA TR
MERFEEREBAELFEFEERHRR
MEER  c EREFAEATH I  WREMR
AHMEEFEERERRL  RMFTERS
ZEBE -HEEHE G BMRIEEMRS -

Hit £\

BE-Z--—F=ZA=+—BLEEZHEH
BRMERAS —ZHMET  ZREMR =T =—
FRAZTHERZEBRRERTBRENER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible
for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
infernal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern, and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no redlistic alternative but to
do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

B RBED RS

EERAEERGSMB®RR
AERENERE

BRARESALERBET BSOS HMN
EEMBREZAREB(RAFRA)MWBEE
REBEEMPENRSMBHRER LHER
REFEUBBERNEEFIFEARKFRE
RMEHWERERFIAAFNABIEFESE -

ERBREMBERRE  ESRETME EEKE
FEEENRED UEBRABRATHRERLEE
KEBBANSE URERAFEKERETE
®-BRIESAENK BEKEFRIFLEE
HREHMERNERTR -

REEREEEE BESEENNBHREBERE-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B XBEh RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures
responsive tfo those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
tfo provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

zﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁéﬂﬁﬁiﬁ%%%%
=

EMWER REGSUVBRREBRELF
EHRRRFHERMER N E RERRMEF
SERAR  LER(EREDQTER) B0MKNR
EEMET FAEBR)HAEERMERNE
HERE - BRI BPWREFSTRER
AR AL FRARE 2 ATEEFE A
ATAEEAEEREZEAEE - SERE
EEKENRE  BEFRERBERRB(EBETE
ADETHES X - EXERRAFTERL
BEXIR - SRR A LA ERFF SR EEFR 5188 - R
FEAHMEMERERERERATELERSY
BHREREAEMBEIBRRAFEEOEERE
AR R AT R IEE KX -

ERBEEBENENETETNBRESD  HM
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the
directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

B RBED RS

THREFETHEBNRNIES  URAEE
MESREF BENILFEY SE£EBEAIM
EHNARMERER -

HEESMRASTRENREERER
SRHEFTAEERENSEM -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B XBEh RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure
and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with
governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in intfernal control that we identify
during our audit.

AEFEVBRRNERIIHIN - &8
AT BREEE URKSHBERRE
BRERBRRZMEE -

s B EEERNERIAXBIBNMHKEE
EHNAE EBENETRR UHEKESY
BHRRBERZR -RMEEEEEHETH
HEEEMAT HKMAAFHERAE
2EEE-

BREMEBERIN RMEREEERTTEANSE
FTEE - REZH  EXFFRRSE  BERM
RSP HAMEZNEMERRRE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance
with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those
charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting
in this independent auditor’s report is Cheng Faat
Ting Gary.

Gary Cheng CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Dr. CHENG Faat Ting Gary

Practising Certificate Number: P03255

Hong Kong
28 June 2022

B RBED RS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelRaRREttZERaER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HILEFE

2022 2021
—E-_F —_E-—fF
NOTES HK$°000 HKS’000
Mo st FET FExT

Continuing operations BECEXEK
Revenue A 5 62,365 206,605
Cost of sales HHE R AR (40,607) (167.819)
Gross profit EF 21,758 38,786
Other income HA U A 6 437 1,763
Other gains or losses HibW ==k &8 7 7,282 1,054
Impairment loss under expected FEHEEFE(REAG

credit loss ("ECL") model, EFBENDERETZHRE

net of reversal EEE  HIREE 787 (1,268)
Other impairment losses HipEEE 9 (2,769) (18,693)
Selling expenses HEEH (13,051) (30,734)
Administrative expenses THEHR (33,164) (43,138)
Other expenses HiEH 11 (19,523) (16,334)
Finance costs e R 8 (1,071) (2,455)
Share of loss of an associate i —REE QR EE (260) (23)
Loss before tax MRELAIE 1B 11 (39,574) (71,042)
Income tax credit FEHiER 12 369 1,121
Loss for the year from continuing REBELELEKZ

operations FEEFRE (39,205) (69,921)
Discontinued operations MIEREER
Loss for the year from discontinued HREKRIEEEE >

operations FEBE 34 - 374
Loss for the year FEBSE (39,205) (70,295)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelRaRkREttZERkaR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BE-Z_—_F=A=+—HLEFE
2022 2021
—EB=-= —EB-—F
NOTES HK$’000 HKS’000
e st FET FHET
Other comprehensive income Hih2mEks (%)
(expense)
Item that will not be reclassified to HEZFESE#H 7 EF
profit or loss: EmZEE
Exchange differences on translation HINAEE#MBEZ 27
from functional currency B CERESE
to presentation currency 9,833 14,865
Items that may be reclassified HBEQJEEN 7 HZE
subsequently to profit or loss: BEwmzEE
Exchange differences arising on BEBHEBZER
translation of foreign operations =3 (6,408) (7,648)
Reclassification of cumulative HE—BBIIEKES
translation reserve upon disposal RtELREEEN
of a foreign operation pal ] - 125
(6,408) (7.523)
Other comprehensive income for FEHMEEKE
the year 3,425 7,342
Total comprehensive expense for FEXHBXALRE
the year (35,780) (62,953)
Loss for the year attributable to RABEBEAEEFE
owners of the Company: BB
- from continuing operations - REFELSEEK (28,943) (56,889)
- from discontinued operations - RERIEEEETR - (302)
(28,943) (67.191)
Loss for the year attributable to FIERESELERE
non-controlling interests: Fi= I
- from continuing operations - REBELSEER (10,262) (13,032)
- from discontinued operations - RERIERE £ - (72)
(10,262) (13,104)
(39,205) (70,295)
F3R 2021-2022 X{EEEEEERAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelRaRREttZERaER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HILEFE

2022 2021
—E-_F —_E-—fF
NOTES HK$’000 HKS’000
Mo st FET FHET
Total comprehensive expense EhEEHEMAXEE:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KAREB A (24,025) (51,7006)
Non-controlling interests e RE (11,755) (11,247)
(35,780) (62,953)
Total comprehensive expense RATEBEAENEEZE
attributable to owners of the B 48%E .
Company:
- from continuing operations - REFELSEER (24,025) (51,537)
- from discontinued operations - RBRIEREEK - (169)
(24,025) (51,706)
Loss per share BREE 14
From continuing and discontinued HREZFERRKRIEEEEK
operations
Basic (HK cents) B (BAL) (1.8) 4.1)
From continuing operations REFEREEK
Basic (HK cents) B (BAL) (1.8) (4.1)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
HEeMBRAR

AT 31 MARCH 2022
R-ZB-Z-F=A=+—H

2022 2021
—EB__F —EB-—4F
NOTES HK$°000 HKS$000
{hEss FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment MERZE 16 163 473
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 172 2,260
Goodwill mE 18 - 1,396
Interests in an associate R—EBEELATZER 19 935 1,195
Intangible assets BEEE 20 2,057 5,366
Rental deposits Hemse 24 - 1,333
Financial assets at fair value BAFEEFABRE
through profit or loss ("FVTPL") (RAFEEFAER
K)zemEE 21 8,032 1,802
11,359 13,825
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 78 22 35,630 35,630
Trade receivables EWE SR 23 18,718 62,841
Other receivables, deposits and HMBEWERER - ek
prepayments FE{T B 24 4,902 15,849
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFEETFTABRE
ZEMEE 21 338 1,220
Pledged bank deposits EIRHRITER 25 - 35,935
Restricted bank deposit ZREEITER 26 5,639 5,324
Bank balances and cash RITEEFERES 25 129,527 75,094
194,654 231,893
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables ETESRM 27 2,362 14,519
Other payables and accrued HMEMSRER
charges EtEAR 27 11,676 16,051
Contract liabilities EHEE 28 185 1,057
Lease liabilities HEEE 29 601 4,394
Bank borrowings RITER 30 - 35,495
Tax payable FEAT B E 283 =
15,107 71,516

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ReMBRAR

AT 31 MARCH 2022

R—®-——#zA=+-8

2022 2021

—E_—_—F —_ET_——5F

NOTES HK$°000 HKS$’000

R =T THET FET

Net current assets REBEERE 179,547 160,377

Total assets less current liabilities HEERABAS 190,906 174,202
Non-current liabilities FRBEME

Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAE 31 12 663

Lease liabilities HEAE 29 - 965

12 1,628

Net assets EEFE 190,894 172,574
Capital and reserves EXR#E

Share capital [N 32 16,687 13,907

Share premium and reserves R EERFE 166,153 151,383

Equity attributable to owners of the ZANRAF#EE AELER

Company 182,840 165,290

Non-controlling interests IR ER 8,054 7.284

Total equity 4R 190,894 172,574

The consolidated financial statements on pages
74 to 278 were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 28 June 2022 and
are signed on its behalf by:

KWAN KIN CHUNG

Director

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeHBDER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BE-Z-_—_F=-A=+—HLEE
Attribufable to owners of the Company
LYEE TN 1]
Copital Non-
Share Share  Contribufion redemption Translation Other  Accumulafed controling Total
copital premium surplus Teserve reserve resenve losses Sub-total interests equity
B b EdRR  EARERE EXGR EiE 2itER Nt FEREs s
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000
T i T T T T T T T T
(Note )
(Kita)
AtT April 2020 HZEZSEMA-A 13907 202,811 171,61 o (4.564) 4218 (1.990,420) 20869 14,850 25719
Loss for the year EEEE (57,197) 67,191) (13104) (10295)
Other comprehensiveincome ~ Ef2E4E
Eichange differences on BEEREEEEIIEH
fronslation fiom functional LEHER
currency fo presentafion
currency 13,008 13,008 1,857 14,865
Eichange differences arising BEENREZ
on translation of foreign EizE
operations (7,648) (7.648) (7.648)
Reclossication of cumulafive &E EENsHARE
onslation resenve upon ELBEENIE
disposal of a foreign operafion 125 12 12
Totol comprehensive income ~ EE2ENE (F%) 28
(expense) for the year 5,486 - (67,191) (61,706) (11,247) (62983)
Disposal of subsiciries (Note 3¢) ~ HEKBAT (B334) - (3879) 3879) 3681 %)
At 31 Morch 2021 HZEI-EZfZ1-R 13,907 2005611 17,61 o 9l 4218 (2061484 165,290 1284 172,574
Loss for the year FEER (28,943) (28943) (10.262) (39.209)
Other comprehensive income £ 2E4E
Exchange differences on ENEEE b
franslation fiom functiongl LEREE
currency fo presentation
currency 11,326 11,32 (1.499) 9,833
Eichange differences aing~~~ BEEHER2
onfrandlation of forelgn EiZE
operations (6.408) (6.408) (6.408)
Total comprehensive income ~ EERENE (F%) 48
(expense) for the yeor 4918 - (28,943) (24,025) (11,755) (35,760)
Issue of shares (Nofe b) BRA (o) 2780 3,920 41,700 41,700
Tronsaction cost affibutableto  EfRBELRERE
Issue of shores - (125) (125) (125)
Deemed disposal of parfiol RiEtE-B E
interests In o subsiciary (Note ¢) 2 BH 1 (Kkc 12,525 12,525
At 31 March 2022 HZEZZEZA=1-R 16,687 2,064,406 17,61 4o 5859 4218 2080427 182,840 8,054 190,894

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF

79



80

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeEQBIDER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HILEFE

Notes:

(@

©)

©

Conftribution surplus represents the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of the acquired
subsidiaries and the nominal amount of the share capital
of Culturecom Holdings Limited (the “Company”) issued
as consideration for the acquisition as at the date of the
group reorganisation in prior years.

The Company issued additional 278,000,000 new shares
at HK$0.15 per share on 6 May 2021. The consideration
received in excess of the par value of HKS$0.01 per share
is recognised in share premium.

On 15 December 2021, the Group entfered into an
capital increase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose 19.9% equity interests of Beijing Star
Engine Information Technology Co. Ltd. ("Beijing Star”)
at a consideration of approximately RMB11,180,000.
Accordingly, the Group’s effective interests in Beijing Star
has been reduced from 55% to 44.055%. The carrying
amount of the partial interests in Beijing Star deemed
disposed by the Group of HK$12,525,000 was credited to
equity as non-conftrolling interests during the year ended
31 March 2022.

B &

(@

()

©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeBeaiER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
HEZZE-—_F=ZA=Z=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-—C—F —E——5F
NOTE HK$’000 HKS$"000
Fff &F FERT FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Loss for the year FEBE (39,205) (70,295)
Adjustments for: FTYEBEELFARE
Amortisation of intangible assets BREEEHE 1,861 2,108
Depreciation of property and MERBEBITE
equipment 138 511
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {ERAEEEITE 2,087 6,000
Gain on early termination of REALEEZ WS
leases (932) (907)
(Gain) loss on fair value change BRAFEEFABREE
of financial assets at FVTPL 2EMEEZRF
BEZH (kx) EE (6,446) 150
Loss on disposal of financial assets  HE&ER QA FEBE A
at FVTPL BRkxkzEmEEZ
R 137 -
Loss on disposal of property and HEMERZEZ
equipment BB 151 13
Impairment losses recognised in RTHEEERZ
respect of: RERE :
- Goodwill -2 1,452 11,401
- Intangible assets -EBEEE 1,309 3,757
- Property and equipment - MEREE 8 309
- Right-of-use assets -FRAEEE - 3,226
Impairment loss on under ECL EHEEFBEERTZ
model, net of reversal WEEE - HIBREE (787) 1,268
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBATZEE - 206
Share of loss of an associate i —BEHE A REE 260 23
Income tax credit FrERIER (369) 1,121
Interest income F) B2 A (191) (309)
Dividend income B E U A (98) =
Interest expenses X BB % 1,071 2,455
FIR 2021-2022 XLBEEEEERAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeBeiER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

2022 2021
—E_-_—F —EB-—F
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
Fff &F FET FET

Operating cash flows before EEEEEFHAIZ

movements in working capital REBRERE (39,554) (41,205)
Decrease in inventories FERD - 14
Decrease (increase) in trade WK E SRR

receivables (&) 46,578 (38,124)
Decrease in other receivables, HEWRIE  ZE Rk

deposit and prepayments FEARER D 12,873 9,480
Decrease (increase) in investments HEEH 2 REFHD

held for trading (38 ) 1,099 (1,620)
(Decrease) increase in trade EBRE SRR CRD)

payables 0 (12,545) 8,283
Decrease in other payables and HtEARIER

accrued charges FESHE AR (4,756) (272)
Decrease in contract liabilities BHEBERD (903) 327)
Cash generated from (used in) EEMBFTA)ZRE

operations 2,792 (63,771)
Income tax refunded Frig BB M - 1,262
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) S EBEETA)Z

OPERATING ACTIVITIES HEFE 2,792 (62,509)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeBeaiER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
HEZZE-—_F=ZA=Z=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E_-_—F —EB-—5F
NOTE HK$’000 HKS$000
B =E FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREXEK
Withdrawal (placement) of RE(FA) BIRFRT
pledged bank deposits T 35,935 (12,674)
Placement of restricted bank FAZRFIRITFR
deposits - (56.324)
Change of financial assets at FVTPL & A FEEFTABE R
ZERMEEZE (139) (837)
Purchase of property and BEMERSEHE
equipment (10) (316)
Proceeds from disposal of property HEMERZREZ
and equipment Fri8 I8 34 5
Payment for rental deposits YTREERS - (1,556)
Addition of intangible assets NEBTEE - (3.073)
Proceeds from partial disposal of e — K E A 56
interests in a sulbsidiary DREE Z FTBEkI1E 12,525 -
Net cash inflow on disposal of HEMBARZ
subsidiaries RERANFE 34 - 283
Interest received 2 R E 191 309
Dividend income B B A 98 -
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) BREEXKRE (FTA) 2
INVESTING ACTIVITIES HEFEE 48,634 (23,183)

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF

83



84

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeBeiER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

2022 2021
—E-_—fF —E-—£
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
Fff &F FET FET

FINANCING ACTIVITIES =
Interest paid 2RFE (1,071) (2,455)
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRMD 2B NIE 41,575 -
New bank borrowings raised FriERITER 7,290 97,438
Repayment of bank borrowings BE|BITER (43,739) (72,219)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEEESE (3,768) (6,153)
Repayment to independent third BEFBIE=H

parties - (14,546)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING MEXEKREZ

ACTIVITIES HEFE 287 2,065
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) INCASH ReRBEESZEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B O A>) F 58 51,713 (83,627)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FNRER

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR REEEY 75,094 154,000
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXRSFH o FE

RATE CHANGES 2,720 4,721
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRRER

END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BEEEY

BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH LRITEBERBESES 129,527 75,094
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Culturecom Holding Limited (the
"Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda with
limited liability and its shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The address of the Company’s registered
office is Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its
principal place of business is Suite 1502, 15/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding
company. The principal activities of itfs
principal subsidiaries (fogether with the
Company, the “"Group”) are set out in Note
39. The Group’s principal places of business
are in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC").

In prior years, the Group had its online and
social business carried out by Polluguin
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Polluquin
Group”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group. The operation for online
and social business was disposed on 17
September 2020. Accordingly, the results
of the Polluquin Group’s operation for
the period ended 16 September 2020
have been separately presented as a
discontinued operation in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME
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RBAFE AEEEBLAEEZ2H2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Details of the above discontinued operations
are set out in Note 34,

The Company’s functional currency is
Renminbi ("RMB”). For the convenience
of the financial statements’ users, the
consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“"HKS"),
as the Company’s shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied
the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA™) for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual periods beginning on 1 April
2021 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendment fo Covid-19-Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, Reform - Phase 2
HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16

Amendment
to HKFRS 16

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Except as described below, the application
of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments

to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16, Interest rate benchmark
reform - Phase 2

The amendments provide targeted
reliefs from (i) accounting for changes
in the basis for determining contractual
cash flows of financial assets, financial
liabilities and lease liabilities as
modifications; and (ii) discontinuing
hedge accounting when an infterest
rate benchmark is replaced by an
alternative benchmark rate as a result
of the reform of interbank offered rates
("IBOR reform”).

The amendments do not have an
impact on these financial statements as
the Group does not have contracts that
are indexed to benchmark interest rates
which are subject to the IBOR reform.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE_T__F=-A=+t—HILFE

2. EREEIERMBREER
(BEREMBREER] (&)

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

REAFERBEHER Z2EBITER
MEwEER (&)

2.2 Application of Amendment to HKFRS 16, 22 BEREEBHBHEEERFEI6H 2019

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

The Group has applied the Amendment
to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions for the first fime. The Group
has elected not to apply the practical
expedient to all qualifying Covid-19-
related rent concessions granted to the
Group. Accordingly, the application of
the amendment has had no material
impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group in the
current and prior years.

The application of the amendments
in the current year had no impact on
the consolidated financial statements
of the Group but may impact future
periods should the Group make any
acquisition.

BREEREHZHEEE

BREMBBMBREEAFE 65 H
20195 E BB B 2 & BR 2
Ao AKBECEESRRTAKEE
FIERERE019BRFEEFREBZ
HEEERBUTEES - Bt
ERZETHASERRNFERBME
FEZHBRRERALESKAEE -

RAFERBZFEITHAEE 27
EUMBBERIELE  HHAKEEE
TR - RIS S8 R R BE AR
S/ o

oE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZT-__F=-A=t—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and
the related
Amendments?
Amendments Reference to the
to HKFRS 3 Conceptual Framework'
Amendments Sale or Contribution of
to HKFRS 10 Assets between an
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate

or Joint Venture®
Amendments Classification of
to HKAS 1 Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related
amendments fo Hong
Kong Interpretation
(2020)°
Amendments Disclosure of Accounting
to HKAS 1 and  Policies’
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments Definition of Accounting

to HKAS 8 Estimates?
Amendments Deferred Tax related to
to HKAS 12 Assets and Liabilities

arising from a Single
Transaction?
Amendments Property, Plant and
to HKAS 16 Equipment - Proceeds
before Intended Use'
Amendments Onerous Contracts - Cost

to HKAS 37 of Fulfilling a Contract'
Amendments Annual Improvements to
to HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018-2020"

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the Directors anticipate
that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments:

. update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations so that it refers to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework”) instead of
Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2010
issued in October 2010);

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-Z-_—_F=ZA=t+—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework (Continued)

J add a requirement that, for transactions
and other events within the scope of
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the
Conceptual Framework to identify the
liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination; and

. add an explicit statement that
an acquirer does not recognize
contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The Group will apply the amendments
prospectively to business combinations for
which the date of acquisition is on or after
the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 April 2022.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022

FE R AAE 5] & 78 B 75 ¥R 15 2E A
(TEEMBREEL]) (&)

CHEMESRERZHTERY
s EREBET (&)

BEBUBHEERFIRZIETH B 2ES
25/ (&)

o BIM-ERE BB EALEI
REE AAREERUAREERET B
(BRI BHRERBEES) —2ESE
QIRAEBERN R ZRAMENT
S WEFEREBSERSEITR
FEE (BARMBEHRERBEES) —
REFE215 (MIEBRAEZR) - BUER
HREBEHPIREZEER K

s BN—EHEHNEH RAWBLT T
BAREREHPRBZIREE -

AEEKHBERAMA T -__FNA—
A zE&MArcElFEHNBEBMREE AR
ZBRZEBEHEVEAZSE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of
right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

. specify that the classification of
liabilities as current or non-current
should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting
period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

() the classification should not
be affected by management
infentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the
right exists if the conditions are met
at the end of the reporting period,
even if the lender does not test
compliance until a later date; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BEZ

2.
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E-—E=ZA=t—HLEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (Continued)

. clarify that if a liability has terms
that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by
the fransfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect its
classification as current or non-current
only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
was revised as a consequence of the
Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in
conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities
as at 31 March 2022 and the related terms
and conditions stipulated in the agreements
between the Group and the relevant
lenders, the application of the amendments
will not result in reclassification of the
Group’s liabilities.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances
of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general-purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that
accounting policy information maybe
material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or
conditions, even if the amounts are
immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is
itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material
accounting policy information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

3

2.
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ETE_FZA=Z+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies (Continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements (the “Practice
Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step
materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information
about an accounting policy is material
to its financial statements. Guidance
and examples are added to the Practice
Statement.

The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on
the financial position or performance of
the Group but may affect the disclosures of
the Group’s significant accounting policies.
The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting
estimates as “monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may
require items in financial statements
to be measured in a way that involves
measurement uncertainty - that is, the
accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that
cannot be observed directly and must
instead be estimated. In such a case, an
entity develops an accounting estimate
to achieve the objective set out by the
accounting policy. Developing accounting
estimates involves the use of judgements or
assumptions based on the latest available,
reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in
accounting estimates in HKAS 8 is retained
with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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ETE_FZA=Z+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements make
amendments to the following standards.

HKFRS @ Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the
purpose of assessing whether modification of
terms of original financial liability constitutes
substantial modification under the “10 per
cent” test, a borrower included only fees
paid or received between the borrower and
the lender, including fees paid or received
by either the borrower or the lender on the
other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16 removes from the
example the illustration of reimbursement
relating to leasehold improvements by the
lessor in order to remove any potential
confusion.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of
the recognition exemption of deferred
tax liabilities and deferred tax assefs in
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 so that it
no longer applies to transactions that, on
initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements, for leasing tfransactions
in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant
assets and liabilities as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to relevant assets and
liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
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ETE_FZA=Z+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction (Continued)

Upon the application of the amendments,
the Group will recognise a deferred tax
asset (to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference
can be ufilised) and a deferred tax liability
for all deductible and taxable temporary
differences associated with the right-of-use
assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1
April 2023, with early application permitted.
As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts
of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
which are subject to the amendments
amounted to HK$172,000 and HK$601,000,
respectively. The Group is still in the
process of assessing the full impact of the
application of the amendments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBRZGRHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTBUER

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of 3.1 KEMBRRZEREE

consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA.
For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material
if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited ("Listing Rules”) and
by disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance ("CO").

The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of

consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset
or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset
or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics intfo account
when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment
fransactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing fransactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value
("NRV™) in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of
consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting
purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised info Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the
inputfs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other
than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-Z-_—_F=ZA=t+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and entities conftrolled
by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Conftrol is achieved when the
Company:

J has power over the investee;

J is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with
the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to
affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not
it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBRZGRHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREBUR (E)
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses confrol of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control unfil
the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are affributed
tfo the owners of the Company and
to the non-conftrolling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is atfributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-conftrolling
intferests even if this results in the
non-conftrolling interests having a deficit
balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are
made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intfragroup assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated
in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
are presented separately from the
Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their
holders fo a proportionate share of net
assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon
liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEVBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests
in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
fransactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s relevant components of
equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according fto
the Group’s and the non-conftrolling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount
by which the non-confrolling interests
are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.
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ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a
subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary and non-conftrolling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A
gain or loss is recognized in profit or
loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained
inferest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to
that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e.reclassified to profit or
loss or fransferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 or,
when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVBBERZEREERE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTBEK ()

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)
Business combinations EHEV
Optional concentration test BEME A E R
The Group can elect to apply an AEETNRERBENRZEERERR
optional concentration test, on a BEMERENS  ZARAFHAAK
transaction-by-transaction basis, that Bre—HEIBREERDUFERKE
permits a simplified assessment of TELFTH -MANBEEEZB/ K
whether an acquired set of activities B AFEEEERITRE—IERIEE
and assets is not a business. The N—AHBELTRAEE BFEESF
concentration test is met if substantially EAHE ZHMZHAEETERES
all of the fair value of the gross assets RBRSLEEBER EBELEHEEERE
acquired is concentrated in a single ENEEEYEEECHE -NEE
identifiable asset or group of similar SHEANR BZATBREEWHE
identifiable assets. The gross assets EAWHF—HER  BEBEEE DT
under assessment exclude cash i o

and cash equivalents, deferred tax
assets, and goodwill resulting from
the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If
the concentration test is met, the set
of activities and assets is determined
not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Operational concentration test
(Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are
accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition
exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset
and a liability in the Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements (replaced by the
Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in October 2010).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Operational concentration test
(Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identfifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that;

. deferred tax assets or liabilities,
and assets or liabilities related to
employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income
Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments
related to share-based
payment arrangements of
the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of
the Group entered inftfo fo
replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date
(see the accounting policy below);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Operational concentration test
(Continued)

o assets (or disposal groups) that
are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that
standard; and

. lease liabilities are recognised and
measured at the present value
of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16 as if the
acquired leases were new leases
at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which the lease
term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date. Right-of-use assets
are recognised and measured at
the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms
of the lease when compared with
market ferms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVBBERZEREERE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTBEK ()

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EXREFHEK (E)
(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued) EEESO(E)
Operational concentration test HEMEFEDH (B)
(Continued)
Goodwill is measured as the excess BMERURMERRE FERER
of the sum of the consideration RERBAFPMESE  RIKEBA U
transferred, the amount of any FEERWEFERZ AFEE (UH)
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, ZEM S BRUFFWEBZTEBNEER
and the fair value of the acquirer’s FEREzEENRNBEHFEE
previously held equity interests in the B 2EZBAE MEBEME
acquiree (if any) over the net amount iz oS EEREEAEEGEZ
of the identifiable assets acquired and FHEERERCKE FERkEZR
the liabilities assumed as at acquisition BWERFPFALESERIER UTE
date. If, affer re-assessment, the net ERWBIEEZ2ATLER (NE) 2
amount of the identifiable assets WA AZHEARBRERABERAR
acquired and liabilities assumed BRBWE -
exceeds the sum of the consideration
fransferred, the amount of any
non-conftrolling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interests in the acquiree
(if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.
Non-controlling interests that are EBREBHMEREZEZEREARE
present ownership interests and entitle ABREBREOSSEERNBARE
their holders to a proportionate share EFEZERER NS KRFEE
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets BRESESWNES IERINEEFE
in the event of liquidation are initially WERRSRELLHISIZ A FEBETE -
measured at the non-controlling FEREERFEBERZMIELREE-

interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets or at fair value.
The choice of measurement basis is
made on a fransaction-by-transaction
basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-Z-_—_F=ZA=t+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
business is carried at cost as established
at the date of acquisition of the
business (see the accounting policy
above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units ("CGUs")
(or group of CGUs) that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an
operating segment,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEVBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit ("CGU") (or
group of CGUs) to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period,
the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is ftested
for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the ofther assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of CGUs).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising
on the acquisition of an associate is
described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which
the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the
investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities
of the associates are incorporated in
these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting.
The financial statements of associates
used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for
like fransactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate
is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of
the associate. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s inferests in that associate, the
Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only tfo the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEVBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

An investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity method
fromm the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition
of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is
objective evidence that the interests
in an associate may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not
allocated to any assefs, including
gooduwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEVBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate,
it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interests in the investee
with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. The
difference between the carrying
amount of the associate and the fair
value of any retained interest and any
proceeds from disposing of the relevant
interests in the associate is included
in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate. In
addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal of the relevant associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with its
associate of the Group, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is
fransferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a
good or service (or a bundle of goods
or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBRZGRHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Revenue from conftracts with customers
(Continued)

Except for granting a licence that is
distinct from other promised goods or
services, control is tfransferred over time
and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

J the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group
performs;

o the Group’s performance creates
or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group
performs; or

J the Group’s performance does
not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a
point in fime when the customer obtains
control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

For granting of a licence that is distinct
from other promised goods or services,
the nature of the Group’s promise
in granting a licence is a promise to
provide a right fo access the Group’s
intellectual property (CIP”) if all of the
following criteria are met:

o the contract requires, or the
customer reasonably expects, that
the Group will undertake activities
that significantly affect the IP to
which the customer has rights;

J the rights granted by the licence
directly expose the customer to
any positive or negative effects
of the Group’s activities identified
above; and

U those activities do not result in the
tfransfer of a good or a service to
the customer as those activities
occur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEVBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Revenue from conftracts with customers
(Continued)

If the criteria above are met, the Group
accounts for the promise to grant a
licence as a performance obligation
satisfied over time. Otherwise, the
Group considers the grant of licence as
providing the customers the right to use
the Group’s IP and the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time
at which the licence is granted.

A contract asset represents the Group’s
right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services that the Group has
tfransferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS
9. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A conftract liability represents the
Group’s obligation to fransfer goods
or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from
the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A confract asset and a contract liability
relating to the same contfract are
accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than
one performance obligations, the
Group allocates the fransaction price
to each performance obligation on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the
distinct good or service underlying each
performance obligation is determined
at contract inception. It represents the
price at which the Group would sell a
promised good or service separately
to a customer. If a stand-alone selling
price is not directly observable, the
Group estimates it using appropriate
tfechniques such that the transaction
price ultimately allocated to any
performance obligation reflects the
amount of consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised
goods or services to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from conftracts with customers
(Continued)

Over fime revenue recognitions:
measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of direct measurements
of the value of the goods or services
fransferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining goods
or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZT-__F=-A=t—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable
consideration, the Group estimates the
amount of consideration to which it will
be entitled using the most likely amount,
which better predicts the amount of
consideration to which the Group will
be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable
consideration is included in the
fransaction price only to the extent
that it is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period,
the Group updates the estimated
fransaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an
estimate of variable consideration is
constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of
the reporting period and the changes
in circumstances during the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEVBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHWA (&)
(Continued)
Variable consideration (Continued) A CE (&)
Notwithstanding the above criteria, BEBELAEE KEEER (SF)
the Group shall recognise revenue for THERERE  DEREABUHEE
a sales-based or usage-based royalty By FARAREZ T ERIAR
promised in exchange for a licence ERERERIRES

of IP only when (or as) the later of the
following events occurs:

« the subsequent sale or usage e HEHEHRNUEAEER R
occurs; and

« the performance obligation to e HWABMBEUMEHERERAES
which some or all of the sales- BEERHITEBCE R ZENE
based or usage-based royalty has FEEK (RO EK) °

been allocated has been satisfied
(or partially satisfied).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in
providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or fo arrange for
those goods or services to be provided
by the ofther party (i.e. the Group is an
agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls
the specified good or service before
that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision
of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the
Group does not confrol the specified
good or service provided by another
party before that good or service is
fransferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for arranging for
the specified goods or services to be
provided by the other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REVBBERZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTBEK ()
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers EESHWA (&)

(Continued)

Contract costs =y 2N

Costs to fulfil a contract =R 312 %N

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a AEBRHEBIBEtTSHERERTE

contract in its digital marketing business. EEAREK - AEEEETIEREE

The Group first assesses whether these RARBEEMERERNSERERAR

costs qualify for recognition as an asset —HEE RAUESENEUTEE

in terms of other relevant standards, RAMZERELABREE

failing which it recognises an asset for

these costs only if they meet all of the

following criteria:

(o) the costs relate directly to a (o) BEEHEAEEEMNERENZE
contract or to an anticipated HRFERESHOEE 2R
contract that the Group can
specifically identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance (b)) BEERREAXREBESERARKRAE
resources of the Group that will be BT (RFERT)BNEENE
used in satisfying (or in continuing REERA &
to satisfy) performance obligations
in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be (c) FEHAEWEMRA o
recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently MEtERIANEEEREREREFE

amortised to profit or loss on a BREEEHBZERTRE -2

systematic basis that is consistent AR EEEERPEE FBEEESR

with the transfer to the customer of EATRERE

the goods or services to which the
assets relate. The asset is subject to
impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to
conftrol the use of an identified asset
for a period of tfime in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered info or modified
on or after the date of initial application
or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022

REVBBRRCERREERE
REFTEXK (8)

3.2 EXREFEEE)

HE
HEZZE#
HENRBEMAEMSTE-—RERH

WEFIEHNEEZERE  BIZE
HEHERESHEE -

RREXERAPR 2RI LHIEK
FHEBEHEEZSNME A F
EREFEVBRELENFIORZE
ERNVEHEREHMIWERD (]
ERABRAME) FEZENEEAHE
ERVEHE BRIZEVZHBIAR
MUHRHREE  BRZANET
TEHME -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEVBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to
components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease
component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components. The Group
also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from
lease component, and instead account
for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on shorft-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

J the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;
and

J any initial direct costs incurred by
the Group.

Right-of-use assefs are measured
at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of
its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use
assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBRZGRHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are
accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assefts.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease,
the Group recognises and measures the
lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value
of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the infterest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable; and

J payments of penalties for
tferminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising
an option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease
liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a
separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the
scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the
leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances
of the partficular confract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBRZGRHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not
accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the
remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When
the modified contfract contains a lease
component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in
the modified contract to each lease
component (including the related
non-lease components) on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements
of each individual group entity,
fransactions in currencies other than
the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the fransactions.
At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in tferms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s operations are franslated
infto the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HKS) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of
fransactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling inferests
as appropriate).

Foreign operation is a subsidiary or an
associate of the Company, of which the
functional currency is different from the
functional currency of the Company,
either before or after the change of
functional currency of the Company
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ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation
(that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire
interests in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an
interests in an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained
interests becomes a financial asset),
the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
resulting from franslation to functional
currency of the Company attributable
to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial
disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences
is re-aftributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of
associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence),
the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022

3.2 EXREFEEE)

ShE ()

HEBMNEBR (MEEAEENE
IEHc2HES HEHEFIREK
EETHBNEBHMNE QB AVEH
B REESRBIEBNBEE DT
Mo D MREEZRBEME
E) RZEBRBREALQANEER
WMELEZARNBRERE ARMGEMRE
RERCELZHSEN I EEES -

o B HE-—BNEAR AL
AEHFAREEREZHZMBLR 2E
FEMS BRI EZRAELE
BMOEMTAFERES  MAEFR
BRI ERFAEEMEILEE
(Mo HEMEQNTDBLREHAR
SEMAEEALEN)  BRUEH DG
ZEGEAEZRDNEH D BERS °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBRZGRHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences relating fo the
retranslation of the Group’s net assets
in RMB to the Group’s presentation
currency (i.e. HKS) are recognised
directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in franslation
reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the translation reserve
are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly aftributable
to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready
for their infended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until
such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their infended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains
outstanding after the related asset
is ready for its infended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool
for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

All other borrowing costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised
until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the
conditions aftaching to them and the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised
in profit or loss on a systematic basis
over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related
costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate.

Government grants related to income
that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivables. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEVBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) and
the state-managed retirement benefit
plans are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are
recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered
the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost
of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits
accruing to employees (such as wages
and salaries), affer deducting any
amount already paid
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment
tfransactions

Share options granted to employees
and others providing similar services

Equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar
services are measured at the fair value
of the equity instfruments at the grant
date.

The fair value of the equity-settled
share-based payments determined
at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share options reserve). At
the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting condifions. The
impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the
share options reserve. For share options
that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

Share options granted to employees
and others providing similar services
(Continued)

When share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be tfransferred to
share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the
sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on
taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from “loss before tax”
because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on
temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred assets
and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in
business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in
subsidiaries and interests in an
associate, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred ftax
assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the ftax
consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred
tax for leasing fransactions in which
the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEVBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease
liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the leasing fransaction
as a whole. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use
assets over the lease payments for
the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and
when they relate to income taxes levied
to the same taxation entity by the same
tfaxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are
recognised in profit or loss. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included
in the accounting for the business
combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment held for use
in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administration
purpose are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as fo
write off the cost of assets less their
residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the
asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of
property and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEVBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Intangible assets
Infangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful
lives that are acquired separately are
carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.
Infangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are
carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is
recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset
arising from development activities (or
from the development phase of an
infernal project) is recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or
sale;

. the intention to complete the
intangible asset and use or sell it;

. the ability to use or sell the
intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will
generate probable future
economic benefits;

J the availability of adequate
technical, financial and other
resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEVBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure
(Continued)

J the ability to measure reliably
the expenditure attributable to
the intfangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for
internally-generated intfangible asset
is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset
first meets the recognition criteria listed
above. Where no internally-generated
intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition,
infernally-generated intangible assets
are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same
basis as intangible assetfs that are
acquired separately.

HEEE (#)
ANEBELBEZEE — R (F

s REARERUSEBITEELEE
FEAEBISKBVRE D ©

BRAMEENBILEEMALEIAZ
THEREVEEBRNS XM
CHEABERBEMEE ZAXAES
Heo-mBEANNELEELEENY TR
woRBEXHSREELEHBERS
hHER o

NERAZER ABELENELEE
DEBABRRBABER B RERSE
(%)  TREFENWEZELEE
M)z BEERE o

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF

151



152

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are recognised separately
from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition,
infangible assets acquired in a business
combination with finite useful lives are
reported at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis
as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Infangible assets acquired in
a business combination with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment
losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic
benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBRZGRHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Impairment on property and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the
Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its property and equipment, right-
of-use assets and infangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property
and equipment, right-of-use assefts
and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible
tfo estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to
which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-Z-_—_F=ZA=t+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022

(Continued)

Impairment on property and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

In testing a CGU for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the
relevant CGU when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined
for the CGU or group of CGUs to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBRZGRHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Impairment on property and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset
(or a CGU) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis to a
CGU, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of CGUs, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of CGUs, with
the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first fo reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group
of CGUs. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated fo
the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Impairment on property and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of
cost and NRV. Costs of inventories are
determined on a weighted average
method. NRV represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less costs
necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities
are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contfractual
provisions of the instruments. All
regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the
tfime frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers ("HKFRS 157).
Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attriobutable
to the acquisition of financial assets at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective infterest rate,
fransaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured
at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is
to collect confractual cash flows;
and

J the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal
and inferest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE—Z2-—4=A=1-HIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEVBRRZGREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Confinued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets that meet the
following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income ("FVTOCI”):

J the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective
is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows;
and

J the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are
subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may
irevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is not
held for tfrading.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

J it has been acquired principally for
the purpose of selling in the near
term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of
a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group
manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not
designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting
mismartch.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022

REVBBRRCERREERE
REFTEXK (8)

3.2 EXREFEEE)

EHMTA (&)
EHEE (&)
TRMEE2OERREANE (A

MEUATER IEMEERFEE

=5 -

s WEZEHREEZBEMEIERHE
EHRAHE S %

s RUOSHEIAK ZEREEBN
REESHEEZERHMBIEHMT
BEfez—%Mon BEEAKIME
BRERERNEN %

s RERMEERRWEEZNET
AERAERERHFIA -

Beoh o AREE AR A E i i E —
HEMEE REMEEARLTE
Bt \EBZRFE HEXEHEESR
HERBERAREAFEEFAH
thrEBBEFEZRE  MARSE
B 15 E WO BR = K 0R R 2 & TR EE E
oo



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBRZGRHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Confinued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using
the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Intferest income is
calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired,
inferest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial insfrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, inferest income is
recognised by applying the effective
inferest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from
the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assetfs that do not meet
the criteria for being measured aft
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “other gains or
losses” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBRZGRHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REsHBER (&)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EREFTBUER (&)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) TEITAE)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE ()
Impairment of financial assets cREERE

The Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on
financial assets (including frade
receivables, other receivables, deposits,
pledged bank deposits, restricted bank
deposit and bank balances) which
are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events
over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

REBHRREEBPBRSEERE9
RATREZEHEE (BREERE
SR -HMERRE - -BEE
HIRITER  XRBBITERRRT
B RBEANEEEREXNETH
Bt FHREEFRSERSERSE
AHESH URREERER B DR E
ARz EE o

FHRPFEFREEABEIARY
ERFHARERBAIRENSMHM
EYNEHMFEESE -HR - 12@A
HHEEFBE ((12ARRHEERS
B) AEFEM AR N E B &R12E
ARBEERNSHAMENET T FH
AHEEFE FHEDRELAEEB
TEEFBRERET IRBEEWER
FREREZE  —REEKARE RS
B HA A9 & AT AR S DA R R 3R AR 5 TERI AY
AR ETRE -

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF

163



164

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime
ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on
these assets are assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Confinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit
risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and
forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or
effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RENBBRZ2EREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTHEEK (8)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EXREFHEK(E)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) LTHT A (E)
Financial assets (Continued) THREE (18
Impairment of financial assets cREERE (&)
(Continued)
() Significant increase in credit risk O FEERKRKXELFA(E)

(Continued)

In particular, the following AER EFHEERBRESX

information is taken into account BIGIE > BZEEUTER :

when assessing whether credit risk

has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected e SEMIAMII(ME)R
significant deterioration in the REEEFRHRERNTE
financial instrument’s external HEEEL
(if available) or internal credit
rating;

e significant deterioration in e HBHISEERKRIESEEE
external market indicators of Bl MEKANGEERE
credit risk, e.g. a significant REBENEHERL KIEG
increase in the credit spread, m;

the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Confinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

e existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

. an actual or expected
significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;
and

. an actual or expected
significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic,
or technological environment
of the debtor that results in
a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of
the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate
to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Confinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay
its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking info account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the
Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(iiiy Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events of
default that have a detfrimental
impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about
the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty
of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as
a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower,
for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the
borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable
that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Confinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial
asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of frade receivables,
when the amounts are over
three years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of
ECL

The measurement of ECL is a
function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of
the probability of default and
loss given default is based on
historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Confinued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of
ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the
Group takes intfo consideration
the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

J Past due status;

. Nature, size and industry of
debtors; and

. External credit ratings where
available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management tfo ensure the
constituents of each group
continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of
ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated
based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case
inferest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade
receivables and other receivables
where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial
asset only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset at
amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instfruments are
classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity
insfrument.,

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interests in the
assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue
cosfs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and
other payables and bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial
liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the accounting
policies, which are described in Note 3, the
Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumpftions
concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

4.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

NRV assessment for inventories

At the end of the reporting period, the
management carries out inventory review
on a product-by-product basis. The Group
performed the inventory review including
estimation of the respective NRV which was
determined as the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
The Group estimates the NRV for inventories
by taken into account a number of factors
including prices of actual sales during and/
or subsequent to the reporting period and
independent market information in relation
to each of the inventories held by the
Group. The amount of allowance would be
changed as a result of changes in current
market conditions subsequently.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of
the Group’s inventories was HK$35,630,000
net of allowance of HKS$nil (2021:
HK$35,630,000, net of allowance of HKSnil).

4.
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A TRERZZETEZRR (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

A 35 3R R B i

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BEZ

4.

T -HFZ-A=1T-HLEE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired
requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated, which
is the higher of the value in use or fair
value less costs of disposal. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from
the CGU (or a group of CGUs) and a suitable
discount rate, growth rates, budgeted sales
and gross margin and their related cash
inflow and outflow, in order to calculate
the present value. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual assets, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the assets belongs, including allocation
of corporate assets when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, otherwise recoverable amount
is determined at the smallest group of
CGUs, for which the relevant corporate
assets have been allocated. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future
cash flows or upward revision of discount
rate, a material impairment loss or further
impairment loss may arise.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4. AT RERZZEERIR (E)
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Estimated impairment of goodwill EmEzAsHEE (&)
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount R-ZBE--F=A=+—H BEzZKHE
of goodwill is HKSnil (2021: HKS$1,396,000) ERTET(ZZE=—%F 11,396,000/ T)
(net of accumulated impairment loss of (M BrR R R{EE822,797,0008 T (= F
HK$22,797,000 (2021: HKS$21,401,000)). Details —— 4% :21,401,000&T)) - BERAFTER
of the recoverable amount calculation are WE & EFBENH 18K E -

disclosed in Note 18.

Provision of ECL for trade ERESZERRZ2EHEESER
receivables ]

Trade receivables are assessed for ECL EWESGRADERNFEEREERSE -
individually. The provision of ECL is sensitive EHEEEEBREBEHAHEBRAMA -
to changes in estimate. The information FRESEEFERAEERKES R
about the ECL and the Group’s trade ZERAMEI7OIRE ©

receivables are disclosed in Note 37b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-Z--F=ZA=1+—-HLFE
5. REVENUE

Continuing operations

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers

5 kA

FECEEL
() EFEFEHUAZHH

Year ended 31 March 2022
BE-Z-_E-B=t-HILEE

Publishing Retailing
and IPs Digital and
licensing marketing wholesales Total
AR A HE
ERRE gk E TEAME @zt
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TEn TEn TEn TEn
Timing of revenue recognition: BARAZES
At a point in time REEY
- Comic books sales -BEEREE 8,582 - - 8,582
- Royalty income from IPs licensing - REXNRERRE
IR A 3,470 - - 3,470
- New media advertising revenue - SRBEEHA - 48,805 - 48,805
Over time RERR
- Social media marketing -HRBERTERE - 1,508 - 1,508
Total @it 12,052 50,313 - 62,365
Principal FEA 12,052 50,313 - 62,365
Agent 145 - - - -
Total o 12,052 50,313 - 62,365
Geographical markets: HWEHS
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (E¥MEH) 12,052 - - 12,052
The People’s Republic of China PEAREANE
(the “PRC") ([E ) - 50,313 - 50,313
Total o 12,052 50,313 - 62,365
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE_T__F=-A=+t—HILFE

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA (&)
Continuing operations (Continued) FELSEER (8)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from () FEFEHYUAZZH (&)

contracts with customers (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2021
BE-EZ--£-P=1+-HILEE

Retailing
Publishing and Digital and
IPs licensing marketing wholesales Total
AR R A Bt
EERE miskE TEAME at
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$"000
TEn TEn TEn Thn
Timing of revenue recognifion: BB ZEE
At a point in time RERE
- Comic books sales -BEERRE 4,433 - - 4,433
- Royalty income from Pslicensing - REXNHRERRE
ZIREWA 3,774 - - 3,774
- New media advertising revenue -FREESHA - 187,929 - 187,929
- Salles of wine - BEHE - - 4 4
Over time REBR
- Social media marketing -HRBETGER - 10,465 - 10,465
Total o 8,207 198,394 4 206,605
Principal IEA 8,207 197,890 4 206,101
Agent RE - 504 - 504
Total @ 8,207 198,394 4 206,605
Geographical markets: WEmE:
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (EXMEH) 8,207 - 4 8,211
The PRC HE - 198,394 - 198,394
Total o 8,207 198,394 4 206,605
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA (&)
Continuing operations (Continued) FELSEER (8)
(i) Performance obligations for contracts (i) EFEHZEBHEF
with customers
Publishing and IPs licensing HIRR A S EERE
The revenue from publishing and IPs HRERAEBEEREZBRABERI
licensing includes comic book sales to BMSHESSEERABERRRE -

the wholesale market and IPs licensing.

For comic book sales, revenue is REEEEEEMS WARERE
recognised at a point in time when FIEERESEEEHERNERER
control of the goods has transferred (MERERNEMEEEEHE) 2
according fo respective agreed terms BFREEER NXNE  ftEEE D
of delivery, i.e. the goods have been HHARHEEREBERBETR2RERE
delivered to the wholesaler’s specific WEERBEAEBEZESHIRRAO0
location. Following delivery, the BFARBERAEEER ARXFE > —
wholesaler has full discretion over the RIEEHA60R -

manner of distribution and price to sell
the goods and has the right to return
unsold goods within 60 days under the
Group’s standard contract terms. The
normal credit term is 60 days upon

delivery.

For licensing business, the Group grants AEEEEmMS AKEQEFED
its IPs fo customers. Without any promise HANHBEME NI EEMEAEINLH
to deliver other goods or services, HERLBEEZ2BERT  FEEFTRE
the customer can benefit from the EREFES REREHRABEZ
license that are readily available and BHEME-

the license is considered as a distinct
performance obligation.
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5. REVENUE (Continued)
Continuing operations (Confinued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts

with customers (Continued)
Publishing and IPs licensing (Continued)

The performance obligation provides
the customers with a right to use the
Group’s IPs as they exist at the point in
time at which the license is granted.
Given there is no explicit or implied
obligation for the Group to undertake
activities during the license period to
change the form or functionality of the
IPs, or support or maintain the value of
the IPs, revenue is recognised at a point
in fime.

The Group generally collects 1) the full
amount of contracted royalty income
before or when the IPs are provided
to customers; or 2) sales-based royalty
income that are aftributable to a
license of the IPs when the subsequent
sales occurs. For sales-based royalty,
customers agree the sales volume with
the Group each month and seftle the
royalty with a credit term of 60 days.
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WA (&)

FEREXK ()

(i) BEFEXNZBHEMR (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BE-Z-_—_F=A=+—HLEFE

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. LA (5&)
Continuing operations (Continued) FELSEER (8)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts (i) BEFEXZEBHEF (&)

with customers (Continued)
Digital marketing
As a principal

Revenue from digital marketing is
primarily derived from the marketing
services provided to the customer
through internet channel including
social media and internet website.
The marketing services include 1)
design and coordination of new
media advertising; 2) IP digitalisation
for production and 3) social media
marketing with content development.

For new media advertising, since the
Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when
the control of services or goods is
fransferred to the customer, being
when the services are rendered and
control of goods are fransferred to
the customers. Certain confracts with
customers contain multiple distinct
performance obligations to be
performed by the Group. The Group
uses its best estimate of selling prices by
expected cost plus a margin approach
of these service obligations as the basis
for the allocation of the fransaction
price.
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5. REVENUE (Continued)
Continuing operations (Confinued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts

with customers (Continued)
Digital marketing (Continued)
As a principal (Continued)

For social media marketing, revenue
is recognised over time when the
customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group
performs, i.e. the broadcast of the
advertisement.,

The Group normally grants credit period
of 30 to 120 days to customers and
requires certain customers to provide
upfront deposits. When the Group
receives a deposit before production
commences, this will give rise to
contract liabilities which represent the
Group’s obligation to fransfer goods
or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from
the customer. Conversely, contract
asset is recognised over the period
in which the social media marketing
services are performed representing the
Group’s right to consideration for the
services performed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified
milestones. The contract assetfs are
fransferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional, i.e
upon completion of all performance
obligations within a contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

5. REVENUE (Continued)
Continuing operations (Confinued)

(i)

(iii)

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022

Performance obligations for contracts
with customers (Continued)

Digital marketing (Continued)
As an agent

For certain new media advertising
revenue stream, the Group mainly
assists customers, i.e. advertising
companies, in sourcing digital
marketing products on online platforms,
such as mobile applications or social
media platforms, in the capacity of an
agent rather than as the principal in a
fransaction, revenue recognised is the
net amount of commission made by the
Group on a monthly basis. The credit
terms granted by the vendors may or
may not be consistent with the credit
period of 30 to 60 days granted by the
Group to the customers.

Retailing and wholesales

Revenue from retailing and wholesales
is primarily derived from sales of wine.
Revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the goods are delivered and titles
have passed. The normal credit term is
60 days upon delivery.

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

All goods or services provided by the
Group are for contracts with original
expected duration of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
fransaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

6. OTHER INCOME 6. HW A
Continuing operations BFERSEEK
For the year ended 31 March 2022, other RBE-ZE_—_F=A=t+—HLEFE"
income mainly included bank interest Hitg A ZBFER TR E U A191,000%
income of HK$191,000 (2021: HK$309,000) JT(ZZEZ—4 : 309,000 7T) R &EBHAT
and government grants of HKS$nil (2021: FRMEZRBEIFET2019ERFESH
HKS$1,311,000) in respect of Covid-19- HERM 2B AHEEBET (ZE_—F
related subsidies under Employment Support 1,311,000 7T) °
Scheme provided by the Hong Kong
government.
7. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES 7. HibW = EE
Continuing operations BERSEEK
2022 2021
—_E__—fF —_E-—F
HK$°000 HKS$"000
FHERT FExT
Gain (loss) on fair value change of RATFEEFABSZRZ
financial assets at FVTPL TREEZATEES
Bz W= (F5i8)
- held for trading -BIFEE 64 (207)
- others - Hith 6,245 250
Loss on disposal of property and HENMERREZESE
equipment (151) (13)
Gain on early termination of leases REKLBAEZ2 WS 931 907
Net foreign exchange gain 0E 5 W & F KR 193 117
7,282 1,054
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MKEH
Continuing operations BFERSEER
2022 2021
—_E-_—fF —_E-—%
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Interest on bank borrowings RITIERZ TR 931 1,234
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBEZFR 140 313
Interest on advances from BYE=ZRFENRZ
independent third parties F &2 - 908
1,071 2,455
9. OTHER IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 9. HitBEEIE
Continuing operations BERSEER
2022 2021
—E_——F —_E-—%F
HK$’000 HKS$"000
FHER FET
Impairment loss recognised in MTIHEREEHERZ
respect of WEE B
- goodwill (Note 18) - B (MaE18) (1,452) (11,401)
- intangible assets (Note 20) - BEEE (F20) (1,309) (3.757)
- property and equipment (Note 16) - MERZE (HTE16) (8) (309)
- right-of-use assets (Note 17) -ERAEEE (fHE17) - (3.226)
(2,769) (18,693)
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported tfo the executive
directors, being the Group’s chief operating
decision maker ("CODM?"), for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.
This is also the basis upon which the Group
is organised and specifically focuses
on the Group’'s operating divisions. No
operating segments identified by the CODM
have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s operating and
reportable segments from continuing
operations under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments are as follows:

- Publishing and IPs licensing: publication
of comic books and royalty income
from licensing intellectual properties
C'IP") of comics.

- Digital marketing: providing digital
marketing and communication, IP
digitalisation and agency of IP services
in the PRC.

= Retailing and wholesales: retailing of
wine.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, Polluguin
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Polluquin
Group”) was disposed and its operation in
online and social business is presented as
a discontinued operation. Details of the
discontinued operation is set out in Note 34.

10.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 7 #BE R (&)

(Continued)
Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
revenue and results from continuing
operations by operating and reportable
segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Continuing operations

DR AR E &

UITRAEE 2R ARBFELE 2XER
KRERHEDEAIEZDH -

BE-E-_—_F-/F=+—-HULFE

FEEEET

Publishing and Digital Retailing and
IPs licensing marketing wholesales  Consolidated
iR A B
ERRE mia kR SEAHE Ga
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn
Revenue WA

External sales HPEE 12,052 50,313 - 62,365
Segment resuls PHEE 798 (24,959) (420) (24,581)
Unallocated expenses ROBEX (20,200)
Unallocated income AABRKA 112
Other gains and losses EtHERER 6,547
Impairment loss on goodwil BEZHERE (1,452)

Loss before tax from continuing SELEEH o RHAEE
operations (39,574)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

10. 7 &P E# (5E)

(Continued)
Segment revenue and results DEM AR EE ()
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 Br —_FE-—fF=- =+ —-—HIFE
Continuing operations FEAEER
Publishing and Digital Retailing and
IPs licensing marketing wholesales  Consolidated
AR R A HEL
ERRE k23 TEAME Ga
HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$"000
AR AR TER TER
Revenue WA
External sales HPEE 8,207 198,394 4 206,605
Segment results PHEE (1,398) (37,622 421 (39,447
Unallocated expenses AOEEX (20.399)
Unallocated income AARBA 809
Other gains and losses EtlERER 197
Impairment oss on goodwil BELHEFR (11,401
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets  # BEEE 2 HEFE
(unallocated portion) (K2 EHH) (801)
Loss before tax from continuing BELEXKBHAER
operations (71,042)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 7 MEH (i

(Continued)

Segment revenue and results
(Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies as described in note
to the consolidated financial statements.
Segment results represent the loss before
tax incurred by each segment without
the allocation of certain other income,
gain on disposal of subsidiaries, gain on
deregistration of a subsidiary, gain (loss)
on fair value change of financial assets
at FVTPL, share of loss of an associate,
impairment losses on goodwill and
right-of-use assets (unallocated portion)
and unallocated corporate expenses. This
is the measure reported tfo the CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

As the Group’s assets and liabilities are only
reviewed by the CODM as a whole and
hence no analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by operating segments is disclosed.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022

2R R F A& (E)

RESWB2ETHKRERE M BRKRWE
Ptz "EBEEFTHEMEE - 2 EBEEE
EDMAEEZKRBABE YEDSREE
HETHMBEA HEMNBLIRA 2WE B
HEM-—BHWELR zWE BAFEE
SABERRZEMEEZAVFEEED 2
Wi (BB  BE-—BBREQXDZEE
BEKEREEE ZRERE CRoERE1)
URARDEEEMT - ABEBLEER
REBREUMEEFR D R KRB 2 -

HRAEBEEREBFARRERE
BERERREERN MUERELAEEE
ERBBREEIHE D 204 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2022

Continuing operations

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
HEZZE-—_F=ZA=Z=+—HILFE

10. 7 #EH (F)
Hib s BEHR

BE—_E-_—_F=-F=+—HIFE

Publishing and Digital  Retailing and
IPs licensing marketing ~ wholesales  Segment fotal  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
HRR A HE
ERRE nEEE  TEEHE APE AAE &a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TiEn TER TR TR TER TER
Amounts included in measure of B2 HERFEEZ
segment profit o loss: 8
Amortisation of intangible BREEER
assets - 1,861 - 1,861 - 1,861
Bank interest income BOFEHA (39) (138) - (177) (14) (191)
Depreciation of property and ~~ WIERFEZHE
equipment ] 76 - 77 61 138
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEEZTE
assets - 1,030 - 1,030 1,057 2,087
Impairment loss under ECL BHEERBRET
model, net LHEFEFE 141 (1,017) 2 (874) 87 (787)
Impairment oss on property NERREZHE
ond equipment FB - 8 - 8 - 8
Impairment loss on goodwil BEZHERR - - - - 1,452 1,452
Impairment loss on infangible ~ EFBEZHEEE
assels - 1,309 - 1,309 - 1,309
Amounts regularly providedfo R T ELERRE
the CODM RitzeE
Addition to non-curent assets ~ FEXRBEE 6 - 6 4 10
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Other segment information
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

10.

7 EPEF ()
Hitt 2 5B & # ()

BEr—_E-—fF=ZH=+—HIFE

Continuing operations FFEEEER
Publishing
and IPs Digital  Retailing and
licensing marketing wholesales  Segment fotal  Unallocated — Consolidated
iR R A #EL
EERE mEEE  TEERE pxir 5l OB Ga
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
ThR ThR TiEn TER THR ThR
Amounts included in measure of 3 BAHBHMAEZ
segment profit or loss: 8
Amortisation of intangible EBERNER
assefts - 2,108 - 2,108 - 2,108
Bank inferest income BHENA ©7) (15) - 222) ®7) (309
Depreciation of property and I RREZITE
equipment 126 203 - 329 182 511
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEEZNE
assefts 676 3477 - 4,153 1,847 6,000
Impairment oss under ECL ROEEFERET
model, net LHERE 8 (730) 1,998 - 1,268 - 1,268
Impairment oss on property MERREZAE
ond equipment BB 219 %0 - 309 = 309
Impairment loss on right-of-use ~ EREEE ZBfE
assefts Fi 1,003 1,372 - 2,425 801 3,226
Impairment loss on goodwil HEZHERR - - - - 11,401 1,401
Impairment loss on infangible ~ EFEE ZREEE
assefs - 3,757 - 3,757 - 3,757
Amounts regularly provided fo  EHFTEREREE
the CODM Bty o8
Addition to non-current assets  REFREBEE 1,785 7,384 - 9,169 3433 12,602
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Geographic information

The Group’s continuing operations are
located in the PRC, including Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from
external customers is presented based on
the location of goods physically delivered
to or location of services provided to

10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

D EBE R ()
& & B

AEEZRFBECERBURTE (BEE
B) e

FRAKERXRBNFEFZBAZERTS
REERERXF 2R EEF REHER
B2 MEBHEFRBDEEZE
BLEREEZFREBE -

the customers and information about its
non-current assets is based on geographical
location of the assefts.

Revenue from external
customers from

continuing operations Non-current assets

REFELSEEK
IHEBEF ZUWA EREBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—_=E_— B —F —ZZE2-C —_E-—5F
HK$’000 HKS$000 HK$’000 HKS$000
T FET T TET
Hong Kong BHB
(place of domicile) (EZEFTEH) 12,052 8,211 2,655 4,023
The PRC i 50,313 198,394 672 6,667
62,365 206,605 3,327 10,690
Note: Non-current assets excluded those relating to ek S ARBDEETERHESRIAE(BERATFER

financial instruments including financial assets at
FVTPL and rental deposits.

FFABRSRCEREERESRES) BREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the

10. 7 &P E# (5&)

FHTEFEFZEHR

HEFERBEMASEEAHFEESHEI0%

corresponding years contributing over 10% ZEFZWBAWMT :
of total sales of the Group are as follows:

2022 2021
—E=-= B —5F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A EFEH 15,580 128,108
Customer B! 2FZ' 7,670 N/A FiE 2

Revenue from digital marketing segment

2

The corresponding revenue did not contribute

over 10% of the Group’s total revenue in the

respective year

Revenue from major products and

services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s

! WARB BT ISHEED

z HERALRRERFERREEAZARAER

BEZR10%

FEEmMRRBWRA

FEEZTEERERBRBEEZWADMN

revenue from its major products and o
services:

2022 2021
—_=E=E__ —E-—5F
HK$°000 HKS"000
FET FET
Comic books BEEEE 8,582 4,433
Premium wine BEEE - 4
Royalty income hi A YT A 3,470 3,774
Digital marketing HBLhiGHERE 50,313 198,394
62,365 206,605
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE_ZT__F-A=t+-HILFE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX 11. BR¥ A& 18

Continuing operations BFERSEEK
2022 2021
—E-—C—F —E-—5F
HK$°000 HK$000
FERT FET
Loss before tax has been arrived at R AT & 18 2 Bk
after charging: THRIE:
Staff costs =5
Directors’ emoluments EEME 3,349 5,432
Other staff costs: Hh& TR :
- Retirement benefit scheme - BARERGEIHX
contributions 1,345 1,391
- Salaries and other benefits -HFEeREMER 28,789 47,633
33,483 54,456
Auditor’s remuneration AT 2
- Audit services - BT RT 1,450 1,950
- Non-audit services - B RHK = 550
Cost of inventories recognised as BRABAZIZHFERK
expenses 4,302 2,519
Costs to fulfil the contracts with ERBEFENZHEA
customers (including staff costs of (B1E 8 I A 4734,000
HK$734,000 (2021: HKS$1,559,000)) BLT(ZEZ—%F:
1,559,000 7T)) 36,305 165,300
Depreciation of property and MERZREBZITE
equipment 138 511
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZTE 2,087 6,000
Amortisation of intangible assets BREE#E GTATH
(included in administrative expenses) EH) 1,861 2,108
Legal, consultancy and other AR BARHEMEE
professional fees (included in other ERGIARMER)
expenses) (Note) (B &E) 9,284 6,881
Research cost B 5% B A
(included in other expenses) (FFAHMER) 10,239 9,453

Note: The amounts represent fees paid to lawyers
and consultants providing legal services and
professional advices on business operations and

presented under “other expenses”.

iz : BEE

AREXNTREREERBELEZRBR
EXZRCEMRBERZER  X2IRN[EA
BRJET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT

Continuing operations

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of
Bermuda, the Company is not subject fo any
income ftax in Bermuda for both years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits for both years.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million
of assessable profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
contfinue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
No provision for taxation in Hong Kong Profits
Tax was made as there is no assessable
profits for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BE-_Z-_—_F=A=+—HLEFE
12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 12. RSB R (48)
Continuing operations (Continued) FELSEEK ()
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is REMAZREEEE 2HENREERE
calculated at the rates prevailing in the EEZEABERTEHE -
relevant jurisdictions.
2022 2021
—E-—C—F —E-—5F
HK$°000 HKS$"000
FERT FExT
Current tax B HA % 18
- Hong Kong Profits Tax - BEFEB (282) -
Deferred tax EAET IR
- Deferred tax credit - EERIEEK R 651 1,121
Income tax credit FreHiER 369 1,121
Details of deferred tax are set out in Note EBRELEBIEFBEHRMEES -
31.

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZT-__F=-A=t—HLFE

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)
Continuing operations (Continued) BFEKE

The income tax credit for the year can be
reconciled to the loss before tax per the

consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income as follows:

12. FREHER ()
1 (&)

FAFGHESTRGSEEREtMEE
W25 2R P B BRI AT RS R E RR AN T

2022 2021
—E_-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS’000
THET FHExT
Loss before tax PRI AIES 1B 39,574 71,042
Tax at the domestic income tax RE A P15 M R25%
rate of 25% (Note) BEzBE (M) 9,894 17,761
Tax effect of income not taxable BEYE T 3
in determining taxable profit WAZHBEE 4,976 334
Tax effect of expenses not deductible T EEZRFERN T Al HH
in determining taxable profit B BEEE (6,440) (5.529)
Tax effect of share of loss of an AL — F'EJ BERNTEEZ
associate B 43) @
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  REHRH EFIB 2 i
A (6,433) (9.718)
Utilisation of tax losses previously AR ARERRAFE
not recognised 18 113 182
Effect of different tax rates of REMBIEEERE 2
subsidiaries operating in other Bt A TZT\HH—FZ
jurisdictions 4 (1,250) (1,661)
Tax effect of deductible temporary RER Z—HIII HE R EEE
differences not recognised ZHBEEE (623) (244)
Income tax at concessionary rate REBBEFEZMEH 165 -
Tax concessions HIEER 10 -
Total income tax credit MR B 369 1,121
Note: The domestic tax rate (which is PRC Enterprise M EERASBABOEBMEALIERZEA

Income Tax rate) in the jurisdiction where the

operation of Group is substantially based is used.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year ended 31 March 2022, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of

reporting period (2021: Nil).

14. LOSS PER SHARE
From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company

is based on the following data:

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE
13. R E

REBE-ZE-_—_F=A=+—HLEEL
BRAFIEBRARE  BEREHRER
EEZRNEARE(ZE=—F : #&) o

14. EREE
REBEKSYEER
AAEBEEABLEEREABEDRET

JIBEE

2022 2021
—EB__F —EB-—fF
HK$’000 HKS$"000
FERT FET
Loss for the year attributable to owners AR ESREAEE 2
of the Company for the purposes of RATER AEM
calculating basic loss per share FEEE (28,943) (57.191)
Less: S
Loss for the year from discontfinued RERIEREXEKZ
operations FEEE - (302)
Loss for the purpose of calculating RARFTEREFELE
basic loss per share from continuing (B 2EBRELREBEZ
operations BB (28,943) (56,889)
2022 2021
—Eg2=-= —E-—F
000 ‘000
TR TR
Weighted average number of shares for ARG ESREREEZ
the purposes of basic loss per share DO - 35 iR & 1,641,999 1,390,657
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

14. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

From continuing and discontinued
operations

The calculation of the basic loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company
is based on the following data:

14. 3REE (&)
REFACERBRRLEEER
%

ARBFEREANBREBRENBRZAED
RIBUT EE -

2022 2021
—E_-— —E-—F
HK$°000 HKS$’000
FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to owners FARSTESREREIE 2
of the Company for the purpose of KARER ABELRE
calculating basic loss per share BB (28,943) (57,191)

The denominators used are the same as
those detailed above for basic loss per share
from continuing operations.

From discontinued operations

For the year ended 31 March 2021, basic loss
per share for the discontinued operations is
HKO0.02 cent per share, based on the loss for
the year from the discontinued operations of
HK$302,000 and the denominators used are
the same as those detailed above for basic
loss per share.

No diluted loss per share has been
presented as there were no potftential
ordinary shares in issue for both years.

Rz B8R EXHEREFELCEERK
ZEBREABEFLEMR -

RERILEEEER

REBZ-_ZE-_—F=ZA=+t—HLEFE"
RIEKEXRB2BRELXABERER0.02
Bl DERKARLEEEXR2FERS
18302,000/8 7T & Fr 5% A o0 & B2 E SO R At
REREABEFLE 2MERBRIBHE -

HAMEFEILEENESRTEESR
R BEEZINERBEEE -

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules
and the CO, is as follows:

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
HEZZE-—_F=ZA=Z=+—HILFE

15. 5%  THAIZRSEREEA
BEzME

(o) EERTRARBZHE

REEREHRAR 2B RGIKE 2
FEESRTHREARZHMESNT:

Refirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
HER RAEA
ik RF% HE L5 g
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
ThEx TEn TEn TEn
2022 —E-CE
Executive Directors (Note i) YT ES ()
Huang Mingguo (Note ii) EAE (M) 3 447 5 483
Kwan Kin Chung BfeR 120 556 18 694
Yuen Kin rEE 120 816 18 954
Chow Lai Wah Livia ElE 120 360 18 498
Independent Non-Executive Directors By ¥HTES
(Note i) (M &)
Fan Chun Woh Andrew LhE 240 - - 20
Wong Kwan Kit EEA 240 - - 240
Mung Yat Lk S| 20 - - 20
Total ok 1,111 2,179 59 3,349
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 15. £ - THHEBRSREEA
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S Evie (&)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EERTHEARZH < ()
emoluments (Continued)
Refirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
5k BIER
fe Bt HE 51 R
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER Thn AR AR

2021 ~B--%

Execufive Directors (Note i) #TES (W)

Huang Mingguo (Note ii) EAE (M) 120 2,256 18 2,394

Kwan Kin Chung BRE 120 672 18 810

Yuen Kin R 120 976 14 1,110

Chow Lai Wah Livia BEE 120 360 18 498

Independent Non-Executive Directors BYF#TEZE

(Note i) ( iy i)

Fan Chun Wah Andrew #E 200 - - 20

Wong Kwan Kit N 190 - - 190

Mung Yot Lik ES)| 190 - - 190

Total B% 1,100 4,264 08 5432

Note i: The executive directors’ emoluments Mt EXFASITESCHMEIREEEE
shown above were for their services in EEARARAEESHE ZREZHME -
connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

Noteii: The independent non-executive Miztii: EXPRSIBILHERITES2HMEIRME
directors’ emoluments shown above ZEEARAESHRERE M E -
were for their services as directors of
the Company.

Note ii: ~ Mr. Huang Minguo resigned as the izt BAE LS BEARDAHMITESRT
executive director and the chief BEH B=Z=—FtA-HBER -
executive officer with effect from 2 July
2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

During both years, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors as a
discretionary bonus or an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which
a director waived or agreed fo waive
any remuneration during both years.

(b) Employees’ emolument

Of the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group, one
(2021: three) was director and chief
executive officer of the Company

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

15. 2% THEIREREEA

BEzME (&)
(o) EERITHAR M (&)

REMEFEDRE AEELEGLE
EXNHEERHBRAIBERS
PNy 1PN S DAY =3
ZHE -

BEARESHRAFEREMEF
ERBEAME 225 -

(b) BEZME

rEBLERSHFALTF-—B(ZF
ZTF ZR)BFRAESRTH
BE BHEZHMEE RN LX)
TE - HBFNR (ZEZ—F  WH)

whose emoluments are included in ArTzHMEFREDT:
the disclosure in Note 15(a) above.
Emoluments of the remaining four (2021:
two) individual are disclosed as follows:
2022 2021
—E—_—fF —E-—F
HK$°000 HKS$"000
FHET FET
Salaries and other benefits HeRkHEMAE 2,809 1,220
Retirement benefit scheme BRAE R st B R
contributions 453 816
3,262 2,036
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 15. 58 THHEIRGREEA

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emolument
(Continued)

The number of the highest paid
employees who are not the directors of
the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

B2M= (&)
(b) BEZB < (%)

FHWERUTHEBRSFARNTES

NESHFHNEEHEBEWNT :
Number
A#
2022 2021

—_ B —E-—5F

Nil to HKS1,000,000 Z£%1,000,000% 7T 4 1
HK$1,000,001 to HKS$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T &
1,500,000 7T = 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 16. MERZE
Vehicles,
Leasehold fumiture and
improvements equipment Total
HEN% REBAR
k8 ET ] g
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEn TEn
cost BA
A1 April 2020 RZEZEENA-A 1,385 12,482 13,867
Additions RE 131 185 316
Disposals HE - (90) (90)
Disposal of @ subsidiary HE-BHELAT (646) (5,253) (5,899)
Exchange realignment Expz 30 £ 72
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ-E=f=1-H 900 7,366 8,206
Additions RE - 10 10
Disposals HE (343) (260) (603)
Written-off ik 79 (4,024) (4103)
Exchange realignment Expz 9 i 2
At 31 March 2022 RIE-ZE=Zf=1-H 487 3,103 3,590
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT FERWE
A1 April 2020 RZE-SERMA-A 1,092 11,782 12,874
Provided for the year TEERE 203 308 511
Impairment loss recognised in profit o loss RERBRZHERR 72 237 309
Elimination on disposals HERHE - (72) (72)
Eliminated on disposals of a subsidiory HE - BN B Lk (646) (5.253) (5,899)
Exchange realignment Expz 13 57 70
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ-E=f=1-H 734 7,059 7,193
Provided for the year AEERE 47 9 138
Impairment loss recognised in profit o loss REGRRAZABER - 8 8
Eliminated on disposals it E R 8 219) (199) ®8)
Written-off i 79 (4,024) (4.103)
Exchange realignment Expz 4 5 9
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZE=f=1-R 487 2,940 3,427
CARRYING VALUES FHfE
At 31 March 2022 RZE-Z%-A=1-H - 163 163
Af 31 March 2021 RZE--£=f=1-H 166 307 473
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost
over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

Leasehold Shorter of the lease
improvements term or 10%
Vehicles, furniture 15% to 20%
and equipment

As at 31 March 2022, property and
equipment with an aggregate cost of
HK$2,294,000 (2021: HKS$6,356,000) were fully
depreciated buft in use.

Impairment assessment for
property and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Due fto the continuous decline in financial
performance of publishing and IPs licensing
business and certain digital marketing
business in PRC (collectively, the “Relevant
CGUs"), the Directors concluded there was
indication for impairment and conducted
impairment assessment on recoverable
amounts of the Relevant CGUs which
included property and equipment and
right-of-use assets (including corporate
assets allocated). The recoverable
amounts of the Relevant CGUs have
been determined based on value in use
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group
as at 31 March 2022,
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16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Impairment assessment for
property and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Based on the result of the assessment, the
Directors determined that the recoverable
amounts of the Relevant CGUs are lower
than the carrying amounts. The impairment
amount has been allocated to each
category of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets such that the carrying
amount of each category of asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value
less cost of disposal, its value in use and
zero. Based on the value in use calculation
and the allocation, an impairment of
HKS$8,000 (2021: HKS$309,000) and HKSNIl
(2021: HK$3,045,000) respectively, has been
recognised against the carrying amount of
property and equipment and right-of-use
assets.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

HERHE (E)

MERZBEARERAEEEZR
B (&)

BRIGER ESHNENBERSELE
UzAREERERAREE - BRESH
ETREZRENERRBUREREEE -
EEEEECREAEFTSHNBREERAH
NFPEERAEERS HEMAEE AR
T(ZEDNEBSE) REEHEENE
R Eial SHMWERREURER
BEEZREEER D BIS000ET (=ZF
——F:309.0008T) REBT (ZF=—
£ 1 3,045,000/ 7T) ZHE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FHEEE
Leased
buildings
HERZTF
HKS$"000
FHET
As at 31 March 2022 R=ZB=-—%=ZA=1+—H
Carrying values BREE 172
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—F=R=+—H
Carrying values BREE 2,260
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE_Z__F=A=1t—-HLHEE
Depreciation charge MEXH 2,087
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE_Z_-F=A=tT—-HLHEE
Depreciation charge EXH 6.000
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss R xR 2 B EE S 3,226
2022 2021
—E_-_F —EB-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHREERRE2AX 1,392 460
Total cash outflow for leases HERESRLEEHE 5,299 6,926
Additions to right-of-use assets nNEFAREE 2,325 9,592
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17. RIGHT-OF-US ASSETS (Contfinued)

For both years, the Group leases various
offices for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of two to three
years. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Company applies the definition
of a contract and deftermines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term
lease for warehouse. As at 31 March 2022,
the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to
the portfolio of short-term leases to which
the short-term lease expense as disclosed
above.

No impairment loss has been recognised
during the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021:
impairment loss of HK$3,226,000) . Details of
impairment assessment are set out in Notes
16 and 18.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HKS601,000
are recognised with related right-of-use
assets of HK$172,000 (2021: lease liabilities
of HKS$5,359,000 and related right-of-use
assets of HK$2,260,000) as at 31 March 2022.
The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants. Leased assets may not be used
as security for borrowing purposes.

17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

EHAREE (&

REMEFE AEERHEEREZRE
WMAZE PRI HESHNEEHEBNAM
E-F -BEHAARFEFIITHEHRER
ER ARARAERAEHNZESR  URRE
BRZERBE -

AEBEHMRAES VEHHEHE R
T ZHE=ZRA=+—-RH - EHEEAsHE L
XA EEHEER X cEREEASHE
Lo

RBE-ZZE--F=ZA=1T-HLEFER
THEEERIZBREBE (ZE=—F  §E
/& 183,226,000 JT) ° A {8 &7 1 & 15 & R
MIsE16%18 ©

HERBINZHE

i R-ZZF-Z_F=A=1+—-HE®
#HEERE1,0008 T R HEEREE
E172,0008 t (=2 =-—F HE&ME
5,359,0007% 7T K 4 B 1 /A 48 & & 2,260,000
BT o AFHE R EMEMIEM RS -
HEEETATREREAEERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT 18. & R REFM
ASSESSMENT
Total
HmE
HKS$"000
THET
COST 24N
At 1 April 2020 R-—E-ZFEMA—A 21,067
Exchange realignment R 1,730
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—-%=A=+—H 22,797
Exchange realignment R 918
At 31 March 2022 RZE-_—_F#=F=+—H 23,715
IMPAIRMENT B
At 1 April 2020 R-—E-ZFEMA—AH 8,941
Impairment loss recognised in the year FAEERZBEEE 11,401
Exchange realignment (R 1,059
At 31 March 2021 RZE-_—F=F=+—H 21,401
Impairment loss recognised in the year FRERAZBERSIE 1,452
Exchange realignment R 862
At 31 March 2022 RZEBE-_—_#=HA=+—H 23,715
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE-_—_F#=HF=+—H =
At 31 March 2021 R-ZTE-_—H=A=+—H 1,396
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18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

ASSESSMENT (Confinued)

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill has been allocated to two
individual CGUs, each comprising a
subsidiary, namely Egmen Technology
Limited* (kR B HFFBKEBR 2 8) ("Egmen”)
and Hyperchannel Info Tech., Ltd* (1t R EE
WEEBERREARADT) CHyperchannel Info”),
both subsidiaries are in digital marketing
segment. An individual CGU is considered to
be impaired when its recoverable amount
declines below ifs carrying amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated
to these units are as follows:

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

& KR E R ()

RBEANERMS BECIEEMEES
ReE4EN SEH—BHNEBARER
MERZHFFAMZBAR2ATEZHFM K
TREEHEEENZAERAA (EES
Fl) o omzmERBQRYBHE LTS
EEIB -BEREELEMRNETRE
SHERLEENARAERERAERE -
TREEEAEAEERAFEERLE
BA (UBEERE) -

2022 2021

B CH —EZ—F

HK$°000 HK$"000

FHET T

Egmen &M _ -
Hyperchannel Info EERK _ 1,396
= 1,396

In addition to goodwill above, property
and equipment, infangible assets and
right-of-use assets (including allocation of
corporate assets) that generate cash flows
together with the related goodwill are also
included in the respective CGU for the
purpose of impairment assessment.

* English name is for identification purpose only

BREMBEEIN ELERERBZUWERR
B BEEEREAEEE (BELXEE
2B ERMEBEBETIREEN AT ASR
ZREEEEMN -

* R BB EMRRB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

ASSESSMENT (Continued)
Egmen

The basis of the recoverable amounts of
the above CGUs and their major underlying
assumptions are summarised below:

The recoverable amount of this CGU has
been determined based on a value in
use calculation. During the year ended
31 March 2021, that calculation uses cash
flow projection based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a
five-year period, and the pre-tax discount
rate of 23.72%, applied by an independent
professional valuer, Valor Appraisal &
Advisory Limited (the “Valuer”)). The cash
flow of this CGU beyond the five-year period
is extrapolated using a 2% growth rate. This
growth rate is based on the relevant industry
growth forecasts. Other key assumptions
for the value in use calculation related
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
include budgeted sales, gross margin and
related cash inflow and outflow patterns.
The estimation is based on the unit’s
past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, due
to the inability to improve the financial
performance of Egmen, further deterioration
resulted from prior year. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, the Directors
performed impairment testing and have
consequently determined full impairment
on goodwill related to Egmen and further
impairment amounting to HKS$181,000 has
been allocated pro rata to right-of-use
assets fo the extent the carrying amount of
the asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal, its value
in use and zero.
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18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

ASSESSMENT (Continued)
Hyperchannel Info

The recoverable amount of this CGU has
been determined based on value in use
calculation. During the year ended 31
March 2022, due to significant decline in
revenue and losses suffered, the Directors
performed impairment assessment and have
consequently determined full impairment on
goodwill related to Hyperchannel Info.

Based on the assessment, the management
of the Group estimates this CGU would
not generate net cash inflow in the future,
thus the recoverable amount of this CGU
was determined to be Nil. As a result,
an impairment loss of approximately
HK$1,452,000 and HK$8,000 related to
Hyperchannel Info have been recognised
on goodwill and property and equipment
respectively during the year ended 31
March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
value in use calculation uses cash flow
projection based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a
five-year period, and the pre-tax discount
rate of 20.88%, applied by the Valuer. The
cash flow of this CGU beyond the five-year
period is extrapolated using a 2% growth
rate. Other key assumptions for the value
in use calculation related to the estimation
of cash inflows/outflows include budgeted
sales, gross margin and related cash inflow
and outflow patterns. The estimation is
based on the unit’'s past performance and
management’s expectations for the market
development. Management believes that
any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of this CGU to
exceed the aggregate recoverable amount
of this CGU.

18.
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HEZZE-—_F=ZA=Z=+—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

A 35 3R R B i

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BEZ

18.
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T -HFZ-A=1T-HLEE

GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
ASSESSMENT (Continued)

Hyperchannel Info (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there
is decline in the financial performance of
Hyperchannel Info. The Directors performed
impairment testing and have consequently
determined impairment of goodwill
related to Hyperchannel Info amounting
to HKS$1,200,000. No impairment on other
assets of Hyperchannel Info was considered
necessary.

If discount rate increased to 23.3%
individually with all other parameters remain
constant, the recoverable amount would be
reduced by approximately HKS$1,130,000 and
further impairment of goodwill with the same
amount will be made.

The impairment loss has been included in
profit or loss in the “other impairment losses”
line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

19. R—BBHEQR 2 ER

2022 2021
—E_—_—F —_E_—5F
HK$°000 HKS$’000
FET T

Cost of investment in an unlisted RIELTmEZEQF
associate BEKAR 1,476 1,476
Share of post-acquisition losses FE(L BB & 518 (541) (281)
935 1,195

Partficulars of the Group’s associate as at 31
March 2022 are as follows:

R-B-—F=A=+-AXEEBEL
AZEAERMT :

Proportion of nominal

Form of Place of value of issued share
business incorporation/ Class of capital held by the
Name of associate  structure operation shares held Group Principal activity
HERBEEZERT
BENTER EBEBER  EMRL/EERY HBEROER RAEERSL  ETEER
2022 2021
“E--F —E--F
Culturecom Media  Incorporated  Hong Kong Ordinary 18% 18% Production of digital
& Entertainment content and
Limited ("CMEL") entertainment
(Note) services
VIBRERER &t B 3L Bi# LER HBRBBIER
AR AR ([CMEL)) IR 4 AR 7%
(Ktzt)

Note: The Group has the power to appoint two out of
the five directors of CMEL. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group has significant influence over
CMEL and it is therefore classified as an associate
of the Group.

The Directors consider the associate is
immaterial and no financial information is
set out accordingly.

M AEEAREACMELARESETWME - &
ERA AEBRCMELEBEATE D BRIt
WO BRAREEBE QT -

EEZRD ZABWEQRANTRE  HAE
HERIHBMBEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20 ML EE
Customer
contracts
and related
Club customer
memberships relationship Software Total
EFEHE
effe® HEEFBAE g# ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER T T T
(Note ) (Note b) (Note b)
(Kizta) (MzEb) (Mztb)
cost KA
At 1 April 2020 RZE-ZEFEMA-H 1,385 4,808 2,077 8,270
Additions hE - - 3,073 3,073
Exchange realignment EXFE - 459 517 976
At 31 March 2021 RZE--%=F=+-H 1,385 5,267 5,667 12,319
Exchange realignment ExFZ - 129 217 346
At 31 March 2022 W-B--EZA=t-A 1,385 5,39 5,884 12,605
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND R & &K HE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2020 RZE-ZEFMA-H - 577 239 816
Charge for the year FERk - 725 1,383 2,108
Impairment loss recognised forthe  RAEERZ 2 HEEE
year (Note ¢) (M3Ec) - 3,757 - 3,757
Exchange realignment Ex@E - 208 64 272
At 31 March 2021 RZE--%#=F=+-H - 5,267 1,686 6,953
Charge for the year ERME - - 1,861 1,861
Impairment loss recognised for the  AEERR 2 HEFE
year (Note d) (k) - - 1,309 1,309
Exchange realignment ERFZ - 129 356 485
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZ#=F=+-H - 5,396 5,212 10,608
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2022 RZE-ZZ#=F=+-H 1,385 - 672 2,067
At 31 March 2021 RZE--%#=F=+-H 1,385 - 3,981 5,366
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRME

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Note a:

Note b:

Note c:

Note d:

Club memberships are life corporate club
memberships in recreational clubs. As the
club memberships are considered by the
Directors as having an indefinite useful life,
the memberships are not amortised until
their useful lives are determined to be finite.
After considering the prices quoted in the
second-hand market, no impairment of
the club memberships is made during both
years.

The carrying amount of customer contracts
and related customer relationship and
software is amortised on a straight-line
method over its remaining useful life, i.e. 5
years.

Customer contracts and related customer
relationship relate to two customers in the
digital marketing segment. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, actual sales and gross
margin generated from these two customers
were significantly lower than the expected
sales and gross margin previously forecasted
by the Group. With the impairment indicators
identified, the Directors conducted a review
of the recoverable amounts of the relevant
assets. The Directors have consequently
determined an impairment of intangible
assets of HK$3,757,000 related to customer
contracts and related customer relationships
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, due
to the decline in revenue and losses of
Egmen in the digital marketing segment,
the Directors determined an impairment of
intangible assets of HK$1,309,000 related to
Egmen’s software for the current year.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

20. B EE (5&)

MizEa :

MizEb -

MizEc :

MisEd -

EFERERAEREMZAEARENE
E-HREEERESREAARERT
EREH HEEEZACRERERE
BRAT TSR - KEB-_FWSHBR2
BiRER URAREMEFTEHSEE
ETRE -

EFANEEREFERREMF ZIREE
BESEUER G ERFH (B5F) &
o

BEFEHNENBREFPFERREHBLT
SHREINZMETFER REBEE-Z
ZT-HZA=+t-BLEE ZMEEF
FELECERHERENZRERNEAE
B 2AREEREFR - AR E
BRRENS  ESFHEBEE 2 TWRE
TH - ESHREREMBE-Z-—F=
A=t -HLEERRETFSNIRME
BEFERAER BN EERES 757,000
BT e

RBE=-ZE-_—F=ZA=+—HILLFE"
HRESFMAZMATREER EFEH
AEESZHMACEHEEEFLEERE
1,309,000 TT °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

21. RAVPEEFABSRZEH

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2022 2021
—E__—fF —E-—5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Listed equity shares, at fair value: FHRARSG  BAFEEE:
Hong Kong &8 1,295 2,726
Overseas VSN 7,075 296
8,370 3,022
Analysed as: palt i
- Non-current - ERE 8,032 1,802
- Current - ME 338 1,220
8,370 3,022

As at 31 March 2022, the Group held a
portfolio of listed investments of HK$338,000
(2021: HKS$1,220,000) for tfrading and are
classified as current. In addition, the
investments in the listed equity shares of
HK$8,032,000 (2021: HKS1,802,000) are held
for long-term strategic purposes and are
classified as non-current.

At the end of the reporting period, the
fair values of the listed equity shares are
determined based on the quoted market
bid prices available on the relevant stock
exchanges.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

22. INVENTORIES 22. 78
2022 2021
—E=E=-= —_E-—fF
HK$’000 HKS"000
FER FET
Premium wines (Note) BB LE (M) 34,905 34,905
Others Hih 725 725
35,630 35,630

Note: Premium wines with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$34,905,000 (2021: HK$34,905,000)
were held by the Group as at 31 March 2022.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
markets the premium wines in more distribution
channels including online platform and wine
dealer.

No allowance of inventories was made
during both years.

At the end of both reporting periods,
premium wines held by the Group were with
NRV higher than the carrying amount.

W R-ZB-ZZFE=ZA=+—-0B  A&EEEXEEETE
B #934,905,0005% Tt (=& = — £ : 34,905,000
BT)2EEEE RBE-ZE=-=-=7
St-HLEEE AEEEESOHREBERY
BERE SESLTPERBELSHES-

RMEFESRRD  LEELHFERME -

REERENA A ERFEE2EEE
ETSRFESRREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23.EWE F R

2022 2021

—E_—F —_E_—5F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FE T

Trade receivables EWE SR 22,478 66,924
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEEERE (3,760) (4.083)
18,718 62,841

The following is the aged analysis of frade
receivables net of allowance for credit losses
presented based on the date of billing.

UTAERERPE2I 2HNBREEBER

BZRKE SRR ZRE DT -

2022 2021

—_E__—F —E-—%F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

0 - 60 days 0-60H 15,590 57,691
61 - 90 days 61 - 90H 1,788 666
91 - 180 days 91 - 180H 1,137 4,025
Over 180 days HBi1B180H 203 459
18,718 62,841
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23.

24.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Confinued)

As at 31 March 2022, included in the
Group’s frade receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate gross amount of
HKS$4,232,000 (2021: HK$3,464,000) which are
past due and also past due over 90 days as
at the reporting date, of which HK$3,577,000
(2021: HKS$3,245,000) are considered
credit impaired. Included in the past due
balances, allowance for credit losses of
HKS$3,577,000 (2021: HK$3,245,000) has been
provided as of 31 March 2022,

Details of impairment assessment are set out
in Note 37b.

23.

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

FEWE Z R (&)

R-ZEBE-_—_F=A=+—H >  8FERLE
EEWE ZIRARGEHBHEEESL232,000
BT (ZZEZ —F 3,464,000/ t) 2 &
WERR  ENFBERHEEE YRS
BO0H » M H /3,577,000 T (Z &= —
F:3,2450008 ) BRAEERE B
B4 823,577,000 T (== —F :
3,245,000 ) 2 EEBER =T ==
=R=1+—HE/ERBE-

HEFEFRERNMEESD -

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 24. B ERENIE - IRERTFEMNT
AND PREPAYMENTS 15
2022 2021
- S —_E-—fF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T FET
Other receivables Hit g8 462 8,700
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (102) (642)
360 8,058
Deposits and prepayments (Note) RERBARE () 4,566 9,124
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEBEEEE (24) -
4,542 9,124
Total other receivables, deposits and HtEWRIE « RERFER
prepayments RIEHER 4,902 17,182
Less: amount will be settled or utilised &l : SR —FRNEERE F
within one year ZFRIE (4,902) (15,849)
Amounts that will be utilised for more R —S&BH2HRE
than one year - 1,333

Note: As at 31 March 2022, the amount mainly
comprised of prepayments of approximately
HK$1,435,000 (2021: HK$5,614,000) made to media
suppliers under digital marketing business.

Details of impairment assessment are set out
in Note 37b.

Mz R=ZZF-Z—F=ZA=+—HB ZHEFEEHE
AEBTSEREE 2 REHEREL A
FRRIEXI1,435,000/# 5T (ZF=—4% : 5,614,000
BT °

BB R fh 2 F R E N M FE370 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

25.

26.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carrying interest at market
rate ranges from of 0.001% to 0.1% (2021:
from 0.001% to 0.1%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2022, the pledged bank
deposits were released upon the settlement
of bank borrowings and the cessation of
relevant bank facilities.

As at 31 March 2021, pledged deposits carry
fixed interest rate of 0.6% and are pledged
to a bank to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group.

Details of impairment assessment are set out
in Note 37b.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSIT/
CONTINGENT LIABILITY

A subsidiary of the Group, Hyperchannel
Info, is a defendant in a legal action
involving the alleged failure of Hyperchannel
Info to provide services in accordance with
the ferms of confract. The customer filed a
lawsuit in People’s Court of Nanshan District
of Shenzhen (the “Court”) during the year
ended 31 March 2021 against Hyperchannel
Info to terminate the signed contfract
and demand repayment amounting to
RMB4,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HKS$5,539,000). The customer has also
requested the Court to restrict Hyperchannel
Info’s bank balance amounted to
RMB4,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HKS$5,539,000). In accordance with the order
of seal up, distrain and freeze properties
issued by the Court, the restricted bank
deposit expiry date extended to 13 July 2022
and therefore such deposit is classified as
current asset accordingly.

25. EEABITER RITEFR
BE

RITHEF RS F R XN F0.001%%0.1%
(ZFEZ=—F : 7 F0.001% £0.1%) 5t & °

R-—_ZE__F=F=+—8 BEHRT
FRERBRITEREIRBEBARITEELR
IERERY -

R-BE-_—-—F=A=+—0 CBEKWER
EEERZ0O%TE SERF—BRT
AUBERFAEB 2RITEE -

ARG 2 F REN M3 -

26. SIRHISBITER IAREE

AEEMBLAAEERESE —FTHIEBE
ERZAEBRBESVGRREERE 2 EE
RAZHEE ZEBEFREZE-Z-_—F=
A=+ HALFEEEFRIYTHELUEARE
ROZERD HEERAEIBEFD UK
LHEZREETZEHN TEREBZEARY
4,500,0007t (48 & 1 #5,539,00058 7T) ° %
BEETEEREGRHESRE ZRITE
# A R #4,500,0007T (18 & R #5,539,000
BIT) cMBARBEAZER M RE
MEBHNE HRIRHRITFERZEH
HEERZ2-Z-__F+tA+=0" Eit
DEREIBARBEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSIT/

27.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY
(Continued)

Hyperchannel Info is in the process of
defending the action and based on legal
advice obtained, the Directors are of the
view that no material losses will arise in
respect of the legal claim at the date of
these consolidated financial statements
as it is not probable that the contingent
liability of RMB4,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$5,539,000) will materialise.

TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES

The following is an aged analysis of trade
payables presented based on the invoice
dates at the end of the reporting period.

26. %

27.

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BE-Z--—F=ZA=+—HLFE
EEEKERLRDETRE  MBREMR

MEB2iRER EBRRNZEFEY
BREBMIENBEEELEFAELEREN
EXEE  mMIAEREARY45000005T
(F8 & M 495,539,00058 7T) % & 3 2 A gE 14
PN

BNEZ R HiENRIR

KETER

UITARBENEREBEZAH2I 2B
NE SRR ZRE D -

2022 2021

—E=-= B —5F

HK$’000 HKS"000

FERT FET

0 - 60 days 0 - 60H 1,673 13,487
61 - 90 days 61 - 90H 219 225
Over 90 days B BO0H 470 807
2,362 14,519

The average credit period on purchases of
goods ranges from 15 to 90 days. The Group
has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are settled
within the credit timeframe.

Other payables and accrued charges
mainly represent accrued operating
expenses and accrued salaries.

BEEmzFHFEEHN FISE0A - &
SECHEN KRR EERE  UBRERM
FERNRERGEERBERATULEE -

HttBENFREREAERAETRERTEE
X RESFHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZT-__F=-A=t—HLFE

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

28. EHWEE

2022 2021
—EB__F —EB-—F
HK$°000 HKS"000
FERT FHET

Advances from customers: BFBX:
Digital marketing HIBtHSZHERE 185 1,057
As at 1 April 2020, contract liabilities R-ZE_Z=EFWNA—-—H GHE8EA

amounted to HKS$1,384,000.

The following table shows how much of
the revenue recognised in the current year

1,384,000/ JT °

HWEEREBEZEE -

relates fo contract liabilities at the beginning

TRIFEKFERIZBRARTRENES

of the year.
2022 2021
—E-H§ e —F
HK$°000 HKS$"000
THET FET
Revenue recognised that was included BEEHNWATTAREDN 2
in the contract liability balance at the &AM EBELEE :
beginning of the year:
Digital marketing Bt mIZHEE 1,057 1,384
Typical payment terms which impact on the HECRREVEBESHE BB FRKRK

amount of contfract liabilities recognised are

set out in Note 5.

BRI EES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29.HEEE
2022 2021
—E_—_—F —_E_—5F
HK$°000 HKS$’000
FET FET
Lease liabilities payable: HESBRTIHEER
Within one year —FR 601 4,394
Within a period of more than one year WZR—F{EFRZ
but not more than two years R FEEE - 965
601 5,359
Less: Amount due for settlement with B RARBEERET
12 months shown under current 1218 B A B #4515
liabilities (601) (4,394)
Amounts that will be utilised for more #SR—S#BH2XRE
than one year - 965

The weighted average incremental
borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities
ranged from 4.37% to 5.00% (2021: 4.37% to
5.00%) per annum.

All lease obligations are denominated in the
functional currencies of the relevant group
enftities.

AREEREZMEFHEEEERN RN
FBFAITRES00% (=B = —F 1 4.37%
£5.00%) -

EHEESEIUNEBEEERE 2 IREER
HIIME -

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF

227



228

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

30. BANK BORROWINGS

30. R1T 1A K

2022 2021
—EB__F —EB-—F
HK$’000 HKS"000
FHER FHET
Carrying amount of bank borrowings  ER T HREZE 2 R1T
that is: BERAREE
- repayable on demand and - AEEREEZER
repayable within one year AR—FREER - 11,831
- repayable on demand due to -REREREH
breach of loan covenants MAREREEZE - 23,664
- 35,495

As at 31 March 2021, bank borrowings
carried fixed interest rate which was
determined at loan prime rate plus 0.5175%
per annum upon drawdown of the bank
borrowings and were secured by pledged
bank deposits. During the year ended 31
March 2021, the effective interest rates on
the bank borrowings are ranged from 4.37%
to 4.87%.

As at 31 March 2021, in respect of bank
borrowings with carrying amount of
HK$23,664,000 secured by the pledged
bank deposits, two subsidiaries of the
Group breached the corresponding bank
covenants, which are primarily related to
maintain the net tangible assets of the
related subsidiaries at the agreed level.
On discovery of the breach, the Directors
informed the bank and commenced a
renegotiation of the terms of the loans
with the banker. The bank borrowing of
HKS$23,664,000 which breached the loan
covenant as at 31 March 2021 is fully repaid
during the current year.
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RZBEZ—-F=ZA=+—H  HBITEHR
REOBITERFZ2EREEEFEANEM
05175%2 B ERMEst E BB EKFERIT
BEREAER HREBZE=-Z=-_—%=H
=+—HLEFE RITERZBEBEIEN
FA4.37%Z4.87% °

R-ZEB-Z-—F=ZA=+—H H}EHEAR
23,664,00078 7T 3t LA & K # 4R 17 17 ;K AF K
HZRTERMS  AREWENELQH
ENMEEBRITRE ZFRITRHTEA
BERNBAR 2B EEREERTRG
EXKFEB -BRFBEEREHR ES
EBHERT YEBRTHKEFTEBAZE
ERZHER -R=F=-_—F=A=1+—H"
E R B R 5% 2 R 1T & 723,664,00078 T
ERAFETHEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on
temporary differences under the liability
method using the applicable tax rates
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates. Movements of deferred tax
liabilities of the Group during both years are

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE_T__F=-A=+t—HILFE

31 EREREARE

EERBEDUNERZ=HRELE /ja'?zizzlﬁ’é
BEEMEREERZBITERRRTE
REBEZE L'?FRIEEEE/‘WﬂEiF“WZE

BT :

as follows:
Accelerated Intangible
tax  assets arisen
depreciation on acquisition Total
piig:3 WEEE2
REARE B EE HE
HKS$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TAET TAET
At 1 April 2020 R-E-ZEWNA—H 685 1,057 1,742
Credit to profit or loss for FAFEERER
the year (22) (1,099) (1,121)
Exchange realignment fE R - 42 42
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ-F=ZA=+—H 663 - 663
Credit to profit or loss for FAFEERER
the year (651) - (651)
Exchange realignment fE R - - _
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE-Z§=ZA=+-—H 12 - 12

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

A 35 3R R B i

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BEZ

31.

T -HFZ-A=1T-HLEE

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
(Continued)

At 31 March 2022, the Group estimated
unused tax losses of approximately
HKS$514,924,000 (2021: HKS$481,516,000)
available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses of HK$4,000, HK$689,000,
HK$11,720,000, HKS$22,356,000 and
HKS$27,933,000 that will expire in 2022, 2023,
2024, 2025 and 2026, respectively (2021;
HKS4,000, HK$689,000, HKS$11,720,000 and
HKS$22,344,000 will expire in 2022, 2023, 2024
and 2025, respectively). Other losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had
deductible temporary differences of
HK$543,000 (2021: HK$4,274,000) mainly
arising from impairment losses on property
and equipment, right-of-use assets and
tfrade receivables. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of such
deductible temporary differences as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.
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EEBBERE (&)

R-ZEZ-—F=ZA=+—H ' AKEETA
AUEERFORRN 2 G RB AR EES
BN A514,924,0008 T (ZFE = — F :
481,516,000/ 7t) ° 7 £ 5 78 8 R 2
*U/)mi ! .Etiﬁ?ﬁ:i:%ﬁﬁﬁga Lﬁﬁ
HEE - GFAKRBRBEAEREAS EIJE":
E--F -ZFT-=F -ZT-NF.
zﬁiﬁ_g_ﬂiﬁﬁzéﬂad,ooo
& JT ~ 689,000% 7T + 11,720,000 T -
22,356,000 T % 27,933,000 T (==&
T-F BN F_F.-ZF==
£ ZZRZOER-ZZZHFER24,000
& T~ 689,000 T ~ 11,720,000 7T K&
22,344,000 7T) - Hftb SR T ERAEE o

MN-ZZBEZZF=ZA=+—HB AEBET
0088 B = §8543,00008 T (=2 = —F
4,274,000 T) T EREWERZE -
FRAEEERERESZRAFTEE ZRE
EE HRTATESEERFEFNMHEZ
SUMBAEREEFERA NUEERZEY

MAERERBERELERIREE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. A
Number of Share
shares capital
R&EE S
‘000 HKS$"000
T Bz FET

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREECOIBTZEER

Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2020, at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-ZFFMA—H -
and 31 March 2022 —_E-—-F=A=+—HK
—EH=ZA=+—H 200,000,000 2,000,000
Number of shares Share capital
BRHBEE N
2022 2021 2022 2021
—=_C —E-_-F ZEBE-_-_E —TB--F
'000 ‘000 HK$°000 HKS"000
TR TR TERT FTAET
Issued and fully paid: BRITRAR
At the beginning of the REHD
year 1,390,657 1,390,657 13,907 13,907
Issue of new shares on R-ZE-—-FHAKH
6 May 2021 BATH R 278,000 - 2,780 -
At the end of the year RER 1,668,657 1,390,657 16,687 13,907
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZT-__F=-A=t—HLFE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 33. IR AEST &

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on
12 August 2013, the Company adopted a
share option scheme (the “2013 Scheme”).
The life of the 2013 Scheme is effective for
10 years from the date of adoption until 11
August 2023. There is no options granted
under the 2013 Scheme during the year
ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021.

Major terms for the 2013 Scheme are
summarised as follows:

() The purpose is to provide incentives to:

. award the participants who have
made confributions fo the Group
and/or any entity in which the
Group holds any equity inferest
("Invested Entity”); and

. recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the
Group.

(i) The participants include any employee,
director, supplier, agent, consultant,
adviser strategist, contractor,
subcontractor, expert or customer of
the Group and/or Invested Entity.
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BRBR ADQTARMNBERESS (=
FED —E—=FFE8z2EN
HAE+FE BHRHBHE EE-_FT=-=
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E BMERE_T=FHEARLERE-

TE-CZFECEERRBADT ¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

(i) The maximum number of shares of the

Company in respect of which share
options might be granted under the
2013 Scheme must not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of approval
of the 2013 Scheme, however this limit
might be refreshed by shareholders
in a general meeting. However, total
maximum number of shares of the
Company which might be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding share options
granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2013 Scheme and any other share
option scheme must not exceed 30% of
the shares of the Company in issue from
tfime to time.

(iv) The maximum number of shares of

%

the Company in respect of which
share options might be granted to a
participant, when aggregated with
shares issued and issuable (including
exercised and outstanding share
options and the options cancelled)
under any share option granted tfo
the same participant under the 2013
Scheme or any other share option
scheme within any 12 months period,
must not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

There was no requirement for a grantee
tfo hold the share option for a certain
period before exercising the share
option save as deftermined by fthe
board of directors and provided in the
offer of grant of share option.

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
HEZZE-—_F=ZA=Z=+—HILFE

33. BRHESTE (&

(i) RE-Z-—=F8TEREHzBR
BOURB2ARAROHEE  KRZF
SEBALNANR-ZF-—=F3EHE
B2 #®ITRAI0% - A ZR
BAHRRABRRASLEN - RE
—ER-=FFEAREMEMBREST
EIFRHERRTEZRBERITER
RERTERTEERT ZAQXARND
RY BEZLAEEBALATKDEH
1TIR 2 :230% °

(v) TaZ2R2ERHEBRETIBZAR
DNEAROEHE BEMTZEAHE
RREBE-Z-—=FERNEAEME
REFEOZESRERH ZEME
RE(BEETERRITEBRER
CEEzBRE MERTR A FH
TZROBE RETEEBARQF
TREBITROZ1%-

V) RESSEERRRHBREZZN
BEI AR ANBAERITERERER
EEEHEASEBRE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 33. IR g &l (&

(Continued)

(vi) The exercise period should be any
period fixed by the board of directors
upon grant of the share option but
in any event the share option period
should not go beyond 10 years from the
date of offer for grant.

(vi) The acceptance of a share option, if
accepted, must be made within 28
days from the date of grant with a
non-refundable payment of HKS1 from
the grantee to the Company.

(vii) The exercise price of a share option
must be the highest of:

e the closing price of a share of the
Company on the date of grant
which must be a business day;

J the average closing price of a
share of the Company for the
5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

o the nominal value of a share of the
Company.

(ix) All the share options are vested on the
grant date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRME

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
Continuing operations

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE_T__F=-A=+t—HILFE

4. HEKHE X
REREXK

2022 2021
—ECfF —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$000
FERT FET
Gain on deregistration of HiHTMm—ERBARZ
a subsidiary Y &5 - -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR 2 W - -
Discontinuing operations RIEREXETR
2022 2021
—E__—F —EB-—F
HK$’000 HKS$"000
FERT FEx
Loss for the year FEEE - (168)
Loss on disposal HESHEZEE = (206)
= (374)
2021 —E-—F
Discontinued operation RIFEEERE
Disposal of Polluquin Group H EPolluquinf &

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group entered intfo a sales and purchase
agreement with an independent third party
to dispose of its entire equity interests in
Polluguin Group that carried out all of the
Group’s online and social business for a
total cash consideration of HKS154,000. The
purpose of the disposal is fo streamline its
operations. The disposal was completed
on 17 September 2020, on which date the
Group lost control of Polluquin Group. The
Group’s online and social business operation
is treated as discontinued operation.

REBEE-_ZEZ-_—F=A=+—HLFE"
AEBE-FBVE=ATL—HEEH
EOUBEBSKREIS4000ETHEER
Polluguinf & 2z & B % # (Polluquin£E &
REAEBEFESRLERERER) - 5E
HESEHEXABLEEE SR -_Z_F
FARATLEtHEHER MAKEREBXE
PollugunE B 2 HIfE - XEBZHR LR
HREBLEFRRARIELKEXLKRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES M. HEHMB AR (&)
(Continued)
2021 (Continued) —E2-—F (&)
Discontinued operation (Continued) RIFBE R (E)
Disposal of Polluquin Group (Continued) M EPolluquinZE [F (4

The Group’s share of net liabilities of
Polluquin Group at the date of disposal and
the effect of disposal were as follows:

AEBEREEBBHESPolluqunEB 28
BFERLESE 2 FEHINOT :

16 September

2020
—ECEHF
HA+<H
HKS’000
FET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over ERLAEEGFRZEER
which control was lost: BBz
Other receivables H i & W 718 1,021
Bank balances and cash RTEFRES 271
Trade payables, other payables and ENEZERMR HttENARIER
accrued charges FEstE A (865)
Net assets disposed of HECEEFE 427
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBATZERE !
Consideration RE 154
Net assets disposed of HECZEEFE (427)
Non-controlling interests FERER 192
Reclassification of cumulative HEZGRTEL#E
translation reserve upon disposal to BN BEERR
profit or loss (125)
Loss on disposall HESEZEE (206)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESBEELEZRESREFE:
Cash consideration received EWEERE 154
Less: bank balances and B HEZRTEERES
cash disposed of 277)
(117)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-E-_—_#=A=+—HILEE

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES M. HEHB LT ()
(Continued)
2021 (Continued) —E-—F ()
Discontinued operation (Continued) ARILEE X ()
Disposal of Polluguin Group (Continued) H EPolluquin£ [F (4&)
The loss from the discontinued operation is KEARALEEEBR 2 BERBIEINOT - 58
set out below. The comparative figures in BEaRkHEM2HEHKERAZLEREFEE
the consolidated statement of profit or loss o LEHFEINBEEREREBABRILEER
and other comprehensive income have —E ¥ X
been restated to re-present the online and
social business as a discontinued operation.
Period ended
16 September
2020
BE-Z-ZF
LA+ RH
1EHAE
HKS$000
FET
Loss for the period HRE B (168)
Loss on disposal of Polluguin Group HEPolluquinE B 2 E5 18 (206)
(374)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZT-__F=-A=t—HLFE

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

2021 (Continued)
Discontinued operation (Continued)
Disposal of Polluquin Group (Continued)

The results of the operation for the
period from 1 April 2020 to 16 September

34. HEKM B2 7 (&)

—E-—F (&)

RIEBEET (F)

1 EPolluquinZ [ (#)

+/\E,HHFﬁZi“‘**¥£ (Eff)\ﬁr/\iaﬁﬁ&

2020, which have been included in the Hih2EKERA)WOT :
consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, were as
follows:
Period ended
16 September
2020
@I— 7 —_ 7 E'E
hAB+H
LFHA
HK$’000
FET
Revenue N 63
Other income H AU A 1
Selling expenses HEEH -
Administrative expenses THEAR (232)
Loss for the period from discontinued REARILEREET 2 HBEE
operation (168)
Loss for the period from discontinued R ﬁ RIEREXEK 2 HE
operation includes the following: BREFRUTER
Auditor’s remuneration % B4 B 7 A -
Other staff costs: HME TR :
- Salaries and other benefits -FeRHEMEBEF =
During the year ended 31 March 2021, RBE-_ZE-_-5=ZA=+—HLEFE"

Polluguin Group conftributed HK$123,000 to
the Group’s net operating cash flows.

PolluqunE B ERMAEBREXKRER
E2)FEE)F¥E123,0008 Tt °
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the
conftrol of trustees.

The Group’'s and the employees’
conftributions to the MPF Scheme are each
set at 5% of the employees’ salaries up to a
maximum of HK$1,500 effective from 1 June
2014 per employee per month. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme are fully
and immediately vested to the employees
once they are paid.

Certain employees of the Group are
members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Group is required to
confribute approximately 15% of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefit. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

Total cost charged to profit or loss of
HK$3,383,000 (2021: HK$1,459,000) represents
the contributions payable to these schemes
by the Group during the year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

35. R E R T &

AEERAFBEEERTREESHEBES
8- ZEECEEHRAEARFZES
BE EAREZEEIHER

H-Z-NEAA-BR AEERES
MEESHEFEZHASTERRESE
EHT25% mEAEBASEEE.500%
e —BEXAHIA  AAKEGRBRES
SFEMFH 2R A RDEEBREZSE

g o

AEEzETRERTEBRFER AR
EERABEANFERNE - AKEBEARFE
PR 7S #915%6) 3R 1k f8 R 5T BI4E AR L
REBARAREHES -HREBRABEFEM
= ARBEzE-SEAFHEEMRR -

B &= PR 2 A4 58 53,383,00058 T
(ZZ=—% 11,459,000 ) EAKEEF
M L E 5T &I F 2 K e
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ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure
that entities in the Group will be able
tfo continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders
through the opftimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists
of net debt, which mainly includes bank
borrowings disclosed in Note 30 and lease
liabilities disclosed in Note 29, net cash and
cash equivalents, net of equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, share premium and
reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review,
the Directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt
or the redemption of existing debt.

36. EXERERE
FEBEREER  UBEAEEETE

BRENEERSECEEELLE AR
EREBLERRERET BHARRTEK
ZEAREFR o

AEBzEARARBHRERFHEAK I8
BERTER (RMFHRE) REEAE
(RIE20KE) - RERBEEEBYFE
BADBERABGEREDS (HERITRAES
BRADEER FEEAK)

ESEBY¥FERETARB R -ERRE
Hh EETREEAAAREZTRELRM
BrRAR BRESCZESZ A5EKE
BXNRE -BITHROKRKROGEE - A
RBBTHEBINBLOREEH FTHHEE
BREARRERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

37.€mIT A
a ERmIBEZESR

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a. Categories of financial

instruments
2022 2021
—_E-—F —_E-—5F
HK$’000 HKS$ 000
FExT FTBT

Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised IREHER AT ECEREE

cost 155,893 188,661
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFEEFABRE

LERMEE 8,370 3,022
Financial liabilities tHmas
Financial liabilities at BBERATEZ
amortised cost =R 14,470 52,734

Financial risk management
objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments
include trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits, financial
assets at FVTPL, pledged bank deposits,
restricted bank deposit, bank balances
and cash, trade and other payables,
bank borrowings and lease liabilities.
Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk
(currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The Directors
manage and monitor these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective
manner,

b. MHERERBZERBX

AEBZIESRTIACGREERES
R HMERRERRZRES - EAF
BESFABERZEHEE CEA
RITER ZRFBITER -RTE
FREE BYESZERAREMEN
RE-RITEIREERE-ZES
MTAEZHBREWETHE - BZ
EEeMITAMEZARERET SRR
(B RER MNEEERRAEBESR
)  FERBRABESRAR BEH
AL RLE bt 5 LB 2 BUR B T X o
EEEERERLERRE  UBRK
R R it SR EUE B HE e o

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

There has been no significant change
to the Group’s exposure to market risks
or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risks.

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company
have foreign currency bank balances
which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. They are mainly
denominated in United States dollars
("USD") and HKS. The Group is mainly
exposed fo foreign exchange rate
risk arising from transactions that are
denominated in USD and HKS relative to
RMB.

The Group currently does not have
a foreign exchange hedging policy.
However, the Directors monitor foreign
exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

b.

37.€®mIH (&)

MEREEEBRERBX (&)

%5 m &

AEEEH 2T ERBNEERTE
BT XALEEREE -

5

i

EEm R
RRBFD B R RBINERITETF -
7$$EE&'€9I"¢’€HF@ cHFEBIE
T(TERD)RBRAFE AEBEXTE
AUETRBAFEZRZ MER A
ARBHEBEZIINEERRR -

7N 55 [ 3R B 37 45 S BB $Y P R © AR
ESERIIERR  YEREFTER
ZREHERINERR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s
HKS and USD denominated monetary
assets (including frade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances and cash) and
monetary liabilities at the reporting date
are as follows:

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

37. ¢/ T H (&)

b.

BHEREEBRERBEE)

TS mEE (E
B (E)

AEERBEEHLUB TR ETFTE
ZEREE (BERBEZRIARA
b BURRIR - EEFRITERARR
THERERRES)REBREZREE
LU

Assets

BE
2022 2021
—E-_—fF —_E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FiET
HKS$ BT 54,273 39.316
usb Ep 32,434 35,184

Liabilities

afE
2022 2021
—_E-—_—fF —_E-—F
HK$’000 HK$"000
FERT TExT
HKS$ BT 6,674 1,546

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF
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ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% (2021: 5%) increase
and decrease in the entity’s respective
functional currency against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% (2021: 5%)
represents the Directors’ assessment
of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% (2021:
5%) change in foreign currency rates.
A positive number below indicates
an increase in loss for the year where
RMB strengthen against the relevant
foreign currencies. For a 5% (2021. 5%)
weakening of RMB against the relevant
currencies, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the loss for the
year, and the positive balances below
would be negative.

37.€®mI A (F

BHEREEBRERBEE)

5 m e (&)
B (&)
BRED

TERFAJIFAEERREERTBZY
RREBLERIEAEREEN% (=
EZ—F5%) 2HRBE-% (=F
Z-F 5% EESHIIBERTRE
BEEZH MG -BBREIMEBEN
I EZHERFRERIERR X
RBEHRUNEERSHN (ZF
Z—F %) EHEXAE - THIE
BRTARBLBEBINEAERER
ZFEEBEEM- d ARE XA
WRESH (ZEZ—F:5%) &
HEEBRERBERARNZE
T EREREREE -

Impact on loss for the year

HEAFEPRzVE
2022 2021
—E-_—fF —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$"000
FERT FExT
HKS$ BT 1,785 1.474
usb EY 1,216 1,319




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In the opinion of the Directors, the
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect
the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-
rate pledged bank deposits (Note 25),
refundable rental deposits (Note 24),
bank borrowings (Note 30) and lease
liabilities (Note 29). The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances (Note 25). The Directors have
considered the Group’s exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances (Note
25) to be limited because the current
market interest rate on general deposits
are relatively low and stable.

ReMGRRME
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BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

37. ¢/ T H (&)

b MEEKREERFEREE(E)

5 m e (&)
B (E)
BRBED T (&)

EERA HREINEFTRRES
ZHNERE - RE R FRERI R

BREF R 2 [7 B o
F = 2 B

AEBHRERCEFRITER (M
25) - AREIAEZRE (EE24) - 8
TR (MEE30) R EE & & (FEE29)
HEAXFEENZAR RNEETH
FRBTET (MEL) BRRERE
NERE ESRAAEEFEEZ
BRFERTHET (W25 2HER
ENZREBRAR RFEREANAEHE—
RER2TENREAHBRERRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Inferest income from financial assets

b.

37.&®IT A (&)

BHEREEBRERBEE)

TEmEE (E
T & [m B ()

TREEFNEWANZRBHERATE

that are measured at amortised cost is M
as follows:
2022 2021
—E__—fF —_E-—5F
HK$’000 HKS$’000
FHBxT FET
Financial assets at BBERATEZ
amortised cost ERMEE 191 309

Interest expense from financial liabilities
at amortised cost is as follows:

BHBERAGTEZERAEZFEH

TWT

2022 2021
—EB_-__—F —E-—5F
HK$’000 HK$000
FERT FET
Financial liabilities at REHENATEZ
amortised cost SHmas 1,071 2,455
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price
risk through its investment in listed
equity securities which are classified as
financial assets at FVIPL. The Directors
manage this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different
risk and return profiles and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the
need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have
been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date.

If the equity prices had been 15%
higher/lower (2021: 15%), post-tax
loss would decrease/increase by
HKS$1,256,000 (2021: HK$453,000). This is
mainly due tfo the changes in fair value
of the financial assets at FVTPL.

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

37. ¢/ T H (&)

b MEEKREERFEREE(E)

5 m e (&)
Rt B 1% /7 b

AEBES ETRAZBSREMESE
ZRAERERREAR  H2BHER
FEEFABERZEHEE -ESF
EREFAETEAARBRREKRZRE
e EEUER AEREFTER
5 i T e oz L B o

BREDN

UTHRBESHDRERS A 2R
FEZERRABEE -

THRAERERLEH TEKISS (=
T —F:15%) KR EBEEEHD
/8 101,256,000 5t (Z B = —F :
453,000/ T)  TEHRRKRLAFEE
FFTAEGRRCZEMEEZATFEES
By TRk o
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ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the
Group’s counterparties default on
their contractual obligations resulting
in financial losses to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables, deposits, pledged
bank deposits, restricted bank deposit
and bank balances. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment
assessment for financial assets under
ECL model. Information about the
Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and
the related impairment assessment, if
applicable, are summarised as below:

Trade receivables arising from confracts
with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
Group has a credit control policy in
place under which credit evaluations
of customers are performed on all
customers requiring credit. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

b.

37.€®mI A (F

BHEREEBRERBEE)

15 B /7 Bz K 6l 1B 77 1%

FERRBEAEEZRZHFIEIY
EEASHAKEXIMBLBERZ
Bk - AEEEG2FERRER
RERWE SRR H & WS -
B CHEARTER RGBT
FRRETERF AKBELESBE
AEARREMEERLETE  UE
NHESHEEREZEERR -

AEBREREEFEEXT 2ER
EEETHENL BRAKEREE
RERER HER&SEERRKEEE
AR EF (G (WEA) 2 BRI T

EFENELZERE SR

REEREEERR  AEECHE
FERFRRX AEESBELHEHME
FEREZEFETEFFEAMM
AEBEBTHMEZRF BRRBE
WEEREE RUAMS EBRA
FEEZEERRBE KERD °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group
had concentration of credit risk as
28% (2021: 55%) of the total trade
receivables was due from one
customer from digital marketing
segment. In order fo minimise the
credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated staff responsible
for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure follow-up action
is taken fo recover overdue debts and
performed annual review on customers’
and borrowers’ credit quality.

In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade balances individually.
Impairment of approximately
HK$501,000 (2021: HKS$2,421,000) and a
reversal of HK$867,000 (2021 reversal
of HKS$1,400,000) is recognised during
the year. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this
note.
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37. ¢/ T H (&)

b MEEKREERFEREE(E)

= B /m bz R a B 7715 (&)

EFENELZERE SR (E)

A—E-_—FE=ZA=+—RH &A&EH
ZEERBEEHRBER  H28%(=F
——F 55%) 2 EWE B IRMARER
—BEB LT BERIB2EP RS -
AEENEGERR AEEEEE
EERAEEEHTEARE EH
EMREMEERF  BREERD
BHEE THEFRERAZEE
BEZETFERS -

o REFUEREESFEREAR
BB B 5 A eRETRE G - FAME
o E#501,0008 T (=T = — % :
2,421,0007% 7T) K £ [@867,000% 7T
(=== — % : ##131,400,000/% T) °
EEWBFBERAMET -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Ofther receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits,
the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model balances
individually or on a collective basis.
Except for other debtors, which
mainly composed of rental deposits,
assessed individually, the ECL of
the remaining other receivables
are assessed collectively based on
shared credit risk characteristics. The
Directors believe that there are no
significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. The Group assessed
the ECL for other receivables and
deposits and recognised HK$227,000
(2021: HKS$625,000) and a reversal of
HK$648,000 (2021: HK$378,000) for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

37.&®IT A (&)

BHEREEBRERBEE)

1= B /@ Bz R a E 771 ()

At ERFHBREE

HiEWRHREBERZRESAE  REBU
BHEEEEEX R B4R
EREEETHEFG - BREME
WER (EFECEENFH2HEE
)M HepHMERREZERE
EFEBEERARGCERBRSMHER
ETHH - EERA BOHEBERU
R ZEREZEERKITESE KT
m BAEERI2EAFEHREEEE
RERERE AEEFTHHEMER
NERERESZHEBEEEREE REB8ZE
—E__F=ZA=1+—-HILFERR
227,000/ 7t (=& = — £ : 625,000
B IT) RE@648,0008 T (=2 = —
£ : 378,000 7T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Bank balances, pledged bank deposits
and restricted bank deposit

Credit risk on bank balances, pledged
bank deposits and restricted bank
deposit is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for bank
balances, pledged bank deposits and
restricted bank deposit by reference
to information relating to probability
of default and loss given default of
the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances,
pledged bank deposits and restricted
bank deposit is considered to be
insignificant.
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37. ¢/ T H (&)

b MEEKREERFEREE(E)

= B /m bz R a B 7715 (&)

RITHF  CHEFRITEFEHRZRS
RITIFH

HRRXZHFIIREERFREBT
EEEFRSELAESE ZRIT  #R
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TERZEERBRAR - AEER I
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following
categories:

Internal credit

37.&®IT A (&)

b MEEKREERBFEREE(E)

1= B /@ Bz R a E 771 ()

AEBzABEERBRIREBELT

=0l

rafing Descripfion Trade receivables Other financial assets

AR5 &R it e E 5 R HiteMEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL (not 12m ECL
default. credit-impaired)

BER REHFEORBIE - FHREBEERE 12EAEBEERE

(BEEHE)

Medium risk The counterparty has a medium risk of  Lifetime ECL (not 12m ECL
default, credit-impaired)

R REUFENEBRATE - FHRENEERE 12BARHEERE

(BEERE)

Doubtful There have been significant increases  Lifetime ECL (not Lifetime ECL (not
in credit risk since initial recognition credit-impaired) credit-impaired)
through information developed
infernally or external resources

®E& BEBANFESERNTNBERYSER EFHREBEEFSE FHEBEERR
WX EERRE KIEEM (BEERE) (BEEHE)

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired (credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)

BE FREBETEELREERNE FHRENEERR FHEHEEEE

(BEERE) (BEERE)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

sH EREETERANHBENREARE SHECHEH EX[RE b

I EE R R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

37. ¢/ T H (&)

b MEEKREERFEREE(E)

= B /m bz R a B 7715 (&)

TRAMIHAEEEHEERNE 2
FERR HEAETHBEESEF

assets, which are subject to ECL & :
assessment:
Gross
carrying amount
RaAE
External Internal
Note credit rating credit rafing 12-month or lifefime ECL 2022 2021
Wi APEEFR AREEFR 2ERAERRBEEHE b it 2 “EI-f
HK$'000 HK$°000
THT TER
Financial assets at amortised costs
REERATECERERE
Trade receivables (Note a) 23 NJA Low risk Lifetime ECL (not 18,840 63,679
credit-impaired)
WS 5 & (Hita) @R R EHRBEERE (BREHE)
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL (not 3,637 3,245
credit-impaired)
78R B& FHRBEEHE (BREHE)
Other receivables and deposifs 24 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 1,063 1,865
(Note b) (individually assessed)
HittEWER &S (W) 78R LB 128 A B EEH B (BRI
N/A Low risk 12m ECL 19 8,242
(collectively assessed)
TER B 2B R EEEE (KRBT
Bank balances, pledged bank 25,26 Aa3-A3 N/A 12m ECL 132,791 115,436
deposits and restricted bank TER 1A REEERR
deposits (Note c) Aa3-A3 N/A 12m ECL 1,903 869
RGERF CERRTERRIRA TER 2B EHREERR
RTER (WiEc)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

Bz _—_—

FZA=1+—HILFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Noftes:

a.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022

For trade receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the ECL on
these items by an individual basis. As part
of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies infernal credit rating for its
customers.

As at 31 March 2022, impairment
allowance of approximately HK$121,000
and HK$3,639,000 (2021: HK$838,000
and HKS$3,245,000) were made on not
credit-impaired debtors and credit- impaired
debtors, respectively.

The Group assessed the loss allowance
for other receivables on 12 ECL basis.
in determining the ECL, The Group has
taken info account the historical past
due experience and forward-looking
macroeconomic information as appropriate.
There had been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. As at 31
March 2022, the balances of approximately
HK$2,110,000 (2021: HK$9,465,000) are not
past due and the infternal credit rating is
considered as low risk.

The Group assessed the ECL of certain other
receivables collectively based on average
loss rates which are estimated with reference
to credit report issued by international
credit agency and are adjusted for
forward-looking macroeconomic information
that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.

As at 31 March 2022, impairment allowance
of HK$126,000 (2021: HK$642,000) were made
on these other debtors based on collective
basis.

The Group did not provide any 12m ECL on
bank balances, pledged bank deposits and
restricted bank deposit as the amount is
insignificant.

37.&®IT A (&)

BHEREEBRERBEE)

1= B /@ Bz R a E 771 ()

MREWEZRRME  AEEEAEEY
I E LR EOR 2 B FIRRERAY
FEBEFEHERBE AEEEBEA
BRELEBEZERE 2HMEAEFE -
ERAEEFERBER -5 A&
EHHEEFEAANBEETR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRME

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

37. ¢/ T H (&)

b MEEKREERFEREE(E)

= B /m bz R a B 7715 (&)

The following table shows the TRETRBEELCLFEINEREZ K
movement in lifetime ECL that has been ORI 2FHRMEEFE 22T -
recognised for tfrade receivables under
the simplified approach.
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
FHES FHES
FEER FEEE
(BEERE) (BEERE) st
HKS$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000
TR TER TER
At 1 April 2020 N—Z-ZEMA—B 565 3,293 3,858
Impairment losses reversed B & EREEE (565) (835) (1,400)
Written-offs i 88 - (815) (815)
New financial assets FRECEREE
originated 933 1,488 2,421
Transfer to credit-impaired BEZEERE 95) 95 -
Exchange realignment fE =% - 19 19
At 31 March 2021 RZE-Z—F
=A=+—-H 838 3,245 4,083
Impairment losses reversed B & [ E & 12 (784) (83) (867)
Written-offs 81 85 - (18) (18)
New financial assets HMRECeREE
originated 122 379 501
Transfer to credit-impaired E&E = &RE (76) 76 -
Exchange realignment fE =& 21 40 61
At 31 March 2022 R-—Z2-—%=A8
== 121 3,639 3,760

F3R 2021-2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group writes off trade receivables
when there is information indicating
that the debftor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when
the debtor has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings or in the
case of frade receivables, when the
amounts are over three years past
due. In respect of the credit-impaired
debtor with gross carrying amount of
HK$455,000 (2021: HKS$1,583,000) and
impairment loss of HK$455,000 (2021
HK$1,583,000) was recognised for the
year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
considered the debtor is in significant
financial difficulty and has taken legal
action against the debtor to recover
the amount due. During the year ended
31 March 2022, the Group write-off
the credit-impaired debtors provided
in prior year with the carrying amount
of HKS$18,000 (2021:HK$815,000) due to
there is no realistic prospect to recover
the amount.

During the year ended 31 March 2022,
the Group reversed the impairment
losses amount of HK$83,000(2021:
HK$835,000) on one credit-impaired
debtor provided in prior year due to
legal action taken and part of the
amount was recovered during the year.

37.€®mI A (F

b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following table shows the
reconciliation of loss that has been
recognised for 12m ECL on other
receivabples:

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

37. ¢/ T H (&)

b MEEKREERFEREE(E)

= B /m bz R a B 7715 (&)

TRETEHEINEAFHREESE
Y5 15 B EL At R WU TR IV BR

12m ECL
1218 B 7 84
FEER
HKS$ 000
FET
At T April 2020 R-ZZE-ZFFMA—H 395
New financial assets originated FRECEMEE 625
Impairment losses reversed B EREEIR (378)
At 31 March 2021 RZEBE-Z—-F=A=+—H 642
New financial assets originated FRECEMEE 227
Impairment losses reversed B EREEIE (648)
Written-offs i 88 (113)
Exchange realignment [N 18
At 31 March 2022 RZE-_Z—_H#=A=+—H 126
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk,
the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents by
the Directors to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The Directors regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and bank balances and adequate
funding from its shareholders to meet
with its liquidity requirements.

Bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause, including the
bank borrowings that are repayable
on demand due to breach of loan
covenants as disclosed in Note 30,
are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the possibility of the bank
choosing to exercise its rights.

The following table details the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its
financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment term. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table
includes principal cash flows.

37.€®mI A (F

b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 37.€®m T A (&)
(Continued)
b. Financial risk management b. MEEREERERBK (&)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBEZRE (&)
Repayable In the
Weighted ~ on demand second fo Total
average or within fith year  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year inclusive cash flows amount
RERS H-ZIFR AER
MELHYRE R-FhEE (BREEME) HRERELE REE
% HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TET TER TER
2022 —E-_CE
Trade and other EREZRAREM
payables B8 - 13,819 - 13,819 13,819
Lease liabilities HEEE 5% 607 - 607 601
Total A 14,426 - 14,426 14,420
2021 “E--F
Trade and other EREZERREM
payables B8 - 17,239 - 17,239 17,239
Bank borrowings RATER 4.45% 36,064 - 36,064 35,495
Lease liabilities HEEE 4.73% 4,541 974 5,515 5,359
Total ek 57,844 974 58,818 58,093
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, bank borrowings
with carrying amount of HKS$23,664,000
that are repayable on demand due to
breach of loan covenants are included
in the “repayable on demand or within
one year” time band in the above
maturity analysis. For the remaining
bank borrowings with carrying amount
of HK$11,831,000 as at 31 March 2021,
taking into account the Group’s
financial position, the Directors do not
believe that it is probable that the bank
will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The
Directors believe that the undiscounted
amount of HK$24,717,000 of such bank
borrowings will be repaid within one
year after the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements.

Fair values

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

The level in the fair value hierarchy
within which the financial asset
is categorised in its entirety is
based on the lowest level of input
that is significant tfo the fair value
measurement.

37.€®mI A (F

b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

C.

Fair values (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis (Continued)

The following table illustrates the fair
value measurement hierarchy of the
Group’s financial instruments:

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

37. ¢/ T H (&)

c. ¥ EEGE)

BEEMBEELU L FEETEZLE
BHEz@EEZ N FEEGE)

TRHUAFEEMSMT A2 A FEH
EER

Valuation
technique(s)

Financial assets Fair value Fair value hierarchy and key input(s)
EEIEREAR
CREE AVEE AFEEER BARE
2022 2021
—E-CE —E--&
HK$°000 HKS$'000
TET TERT
Listed equity securities 8,370 3,022 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
classified as financial assets an active market
at FVTPL
PEARATFEEFABER 8,370 3,022 E14 EERMSMBZEAE
ZEMEEZ LHRAES

The fair value of other financial assets
and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring
basis are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded aft
amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their
fair value.

WHBEEHEEUQNFEEFEZ
HttezMEERERMEBEZLAFEE
EREBEADEEEXARRYERESR
BOHMERE -

EERANEEMBRERNRBER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS . FHEALRS

a. Compensation of key
management personnel

The key management of the Group
comprises all Directors, details of their
emoluments are disclosed in Note
15. The emoluments of the Directors
are decided by the remuneration
committee of the Company having
regard to individual’s performance, the
Group’s performance and profitability,
remuneration benchmark in the industry
and prevailing market condition.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRME

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

(Continued)

b.

Related party transactions

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements,

. FHEEALRS ()

b. EREALRS

BRRGREVBBRAEMBIAREE
o RER REERLUTEREA

the Group entfered into the following TEIURS :
fransactions with a related party during
the year:
Related party Nature of transaction 2022 2021
BEEAT RXEMHE —EBF —EZ-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT FET
CMEL Royalty income 49 500
FR AU A
CMEL Intferest expense on lease
liability (Note) 20 37
HEaBE2FEMX (M)
CMEL Lease payments (Note) 540 540
ME K (FEE)
Note: Culturecom Limited, a subsidiary of the MiaE - b EEERAR (KARZHMBAR) -
Company, leased an office premise from BAQTHEEATCMELIEERAEYWE -
CMEL, an associate of the Company, with HEIRF o

the lease term of two years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BE-—F-=

5 ——

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY
General information of

a.

subsidiaries

FZA=1+—HILFE

Particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 are as

9. XRFZEENRE LT

a MBRrAz—KREHR

ZANNSTDS

—F — —

—_ =

EWBLR 2HAERMNT ¢

follows:
Issued and Proporfion of nominal
Place of incorporation  fully paid volue of issued share
or registration/ share capital/ capital indirectly held
Name of subsidiaries operation tegistered capital by the Company Principal activities
iRaugEn/ BRfRERRE/ RALABRREL
il PEET SR BiECS BRARAEERA  IERE
2022 il
ZECCE CEC-E
% %
Citicomics Limifed (i) Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 10 70" Publishing and IPs licensing
ERLLERAA () Eh EBR2ER HRRAREREE
Culturecom Centre Limited (i) Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Provision of management services fo
THEEROERAR (i) ¥ EBRET group companies
RUCERHRFEENT
Culturecom Enterprises Limited (i) Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Provision of management services fo
X EEREERDE () Bk EBRET group companies
RUCERRTEENT
Cutturecom Limifed (i) Hong Kong Oralinary 95 95 Investment holding ond publishing
X BEERAR (i) g HK$283,774,837 and IPs icensings
EER REERURHRRARERER
WITIABITET
Culturecom Investments Limifed (i) Hong Kong Orcinary HKS2 100 100 Investent holding and securities frading
WERREARAR () B EBR2ER REERRESEE
Culturecom Media Limited (i) Hong Kong Orcinary HKS2 100 100 Provision of multimedia services
TERRERAA () B ERR2EL RUSRERH
Culturekid ishop (HK) Limited (i) Hong Kong Orcinary HKS2 100 100 Trading of wine
VEBERERE(BR)BRAT () B ERR2EL RERE
Winway HK. Investments Limited (i) Hong Kong Orcinary HKS2 100 100 Investment holding ond securites
KEERRERRAA () Bk EBRER frading
REERREAEE

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021-2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

a.

FOR

ReMGRRME

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

9. KRRz EEM B (&)

General information of a MEBARIZ—KRER (&)
subsidiaries (Contfinued)
Issued and Proporfion of nominal
Place of incorporation  fully paid volue of issued share
or registration/ share capital/ capital indirectly held
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital by the Company Principal activiies
RiNER BRRARRE/ RADAEEREL
i) PR EE4R ifas ERRAMELH  TERE
00 2021
“E-CE CEC-E
% %
Ucan.com Group Limited (i) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
B3 EBRI000ET REBR
THE ONE Cornics Publishing Limited (i) Hong Kong Qrainory 81 81 Publishing and IPs ficensing
HKS1,618900
-RELRARAA () Ei LBk tREARERRE
1,618,900 1
Eqmen (i) PRC Registered 5 55 Digital markefing business
RMBE33,000
CE() e AMERARY HELMARERR
8330007
Befing Skyvior (i) PRC Registered 55 55 Digital markefing business
FREE (i) e RMB10,000,000 S TRREER
ifERARE
10,000,0007
Hyperchonnel Info (i) PRC Registered 55 55 Digital markefing business
EEHE () e RMB10,000,000 S TARRER
ifERARE
10,000,0007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

a. General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

9. KRRz EEMBAE (&)

a MEBRrAZz—KREHGE)

Issued and Proporfion of nominal
Ploce of incorporation ~ fully paid volue of issued share
or registration/ share capital/ capital indirectly held
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
iRaugEn/ BRRAREL/ RALAEEREL
] PR EE4R ifax ERRAMELH  IERE
02 021
“E-CE CEC-E
% %
FRRBLE L BRARLA() PRC Registered 5 5 Digital marketing business
HE RMB1,000,000 SB[ TRRRER
ifERARE
1,0000007
T8 (5%8) RELE (BREA) () PRC Registered 100 100 Digital morkefing business
HE RMB50,000,000 B EERER
ifERARE
50,000,0007
B (58) HEARAF(), () PRC Registered 100 100 Digital morkefing business
HE RMB100,000,000 B EERER
ifERARE
100,000,0007
FREN2EENERRAA(N) PRC Registered 80 N/A  Digital markefing business
HE RMBA,993,758 TER HBLTEREEH
ifErARE
49937587
ENRENERRAA(W) PRC Registered 100 N/A  Digital markefing business
HE RMB7,000,000 TER HECHEREER
ifERARE
7,000,007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

a.

General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

0) Subsidiaries are wholly foreign-owned
enterprises established in the PRC.

(i  These subsidiaries are limited liability
companies incorporated in Hong Kong/
established in the PRC.

(i)  This subsidiary is a limited partnership
established in the PRC.

(iv) These subsidiaries are established in the PRC
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt
securities outstanding during the year or
at the end of the year.

At the end of the reporting period,
the Company has other subsidiaries
that are not material to the Group. A
majority of these subsidiaries operates
in Hong Kong and British Virgin Islands
("BVI™). The principal activities of these
subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Principal activities

Principal places of business

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

9. KRRz EEM B (&)

a MEBRAz-—KREH(E)
O EEWEADARFERIZAEBEL
o

(i ZEWBRIAREBEMALRPEH
B 2BRAT

(i) ZMBARARPEKLZEREBESE -

vy, ZSEHBLAARBE-ZT=-_F=A
=St-HLEFERFEARANERY

FEMBRARMERFARFLER
TEZEMERES -

RBEPR  ARXAEAFRHAEE
MEBERZHMKBERF - LEH
BLARARZHREBERBRABELES
(REREZHESDEE - LEHBEL
Bl EBEBBMUNT

Number of subsidiaries

FEXEK FTEEXME MEXBEE
2022 2021
—E=-= B
Investment holding BVI, Hong Kong 18 20
REEZER RERELES  BE
Dormant/Inactive companies BVI, Hong Kong, PRC 6 4
THEEX REEZHES &8 HE

The Directors are of the opinion that
a complete list of the particulars of
all subsidiaries would be of excessive
length and therefore the above list
contains only the subsidiaries which
principally affect the results or assets or
liabilities of the Group.

EERBBIN2HMEBLARA 2FAE
HBRERBEBRITE Bt EREH
NEBRHEAKRE 2 XARNEESR
B2HBAR -

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF

267



268

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BE-—T-_—

zE—=——

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

FZA=1+—HILFE

COMPANY (Continued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned

subsidiaries that have material

non-controlling interests

9. KRRz EEMBAE (&)

b. BEEAFEZERERZIZENW

The table below shows details of
non-wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Group that have material
non-conftrolling interests:

BT

TRIINAKEFRZEWE L AR
BEARFERERZFHE

Place of
incorporation Proportion of ownership
and principal interests and vofing Loss allocated Accumulated
place of  rights held by non-controlling fo non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiaries business interests interests interests
ARATHER FEREERRZ
il PEES TEERNE  HARRERRERZE? IMEFERRRZER ZitFEREE
2022 201 2022 201 2022 2021
“ECCE ZEC-E “ECCE ZEC- “ECCE ZEC-
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Thn Thn Tén TEn
Eqmen 550 PRC 45% 45% (1,063) (26306) 16,337 16,778
HE
Hyperchanne! Info EEfL PRC 45% 45% (1,757) 4512) (7,780) (4949
HE
Incividually immaterial BREERER,
subsiciaries with BR*EANELE

non-conroling inferests
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRME

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

9. KRRz EEM B (&)

b. BEEAFEZEREZZIZTENW

subsidiaries that have material BATFE(E)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)
Eqgmen 2 &P
2022 2021
—_E__—fF —_E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current assets MEEE 36,386 36,885
Non-current assets (included IRBEE(BEHE)
goodwill) - 1,743
Current liabilities REEE 82 1,344
Non-current liabilities FRBEE - -
Equity attributable to owners of AARERABLER
the Company 19,967 20,506
Non-controlling interests of Egmen 5% P9z iR ER 16,337 16,778

F3R 2021-2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned

9. XRFZEENRE LT

(&)

b. BEEAFEZERERZIZENW

subsidiaries that have material BARFE (&)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)
Egmen (Continued) ZEFT (&)
2022 2021
—_E__—fF —_E-—F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET

Revenue N 2,292 14,921
Expenses (=53 (4,655) (32,185)
Loss for the year FEBIE (2,363) (17,264)
Loss aftributable to owners of the  ANATEE AELERE

Company (1,300) (14,626)
Loss attributable to the SEMZEERER

non-controlling interests of EQmen  fE{hE1E (1,063) (2,638)
Loss for the year FEBIE (2,363) (17,264)
Other comprehensive income RARERE ARG HEM

attributable to owners e g

of the Company 761 1,619
Other comprehensive income SEMAZHEEREREMNL

attributable to non-controlling Hth 2 HEUk &=

interests of EQmen 622 1,324
Other comprehensive income FEHMEE KRS

for the year 1,383 2,943
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 0. FXAQFZ2EEMRBELE ()

COMPANY (Continued)
b. Details of non-wholly owned

b. BEEAFEZEREZZIZTENW

subsidiaries that have material B RS (&)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)
Egmen (Continued) &P (&
2022 2021
—E_—_F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET

Total comprehensive expense AAREEAELZE

attributable to owners (L

of the Company (539) (13.007)
Total comprehensive expense BEMZEERER BN

attributable to non-controlling SHAZHEE

interests of Egmen (441) (1.314)
Total comprehensive expense FEXHMAXAE

for the year (980) (14,321)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from REEXEBEEZEHER

operating activities (M) F5 1,895 (6,.839)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from MEXBRELECZEESR

financing activities (W) F58 1,042 (11,824)
Net cash inflow (outflow) HWERACRE) F5 2,937 (18,663)

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned

9. KRRz EEMBAE (&)

b. BEEAFEZERERZIZENW

subsidiaries that have material BARFE (&)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)
Hyperchannel Info B = 4%
2022 2021
—_E-__—fF —_E-—%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET

Current assets REBEE 7,166 64,253
Non-current assets (included IRNBEE(BEEBSR)

goodwill) - 4,329
Current liabilities mEEE 24,454 78,185
Non-current liabilities FRBERE - -
Equity attributable to owners of AAREEAELER

the Company (9,508) (4,654)
Non-controlling interests of EEREEERER

Hyperchannel Info (7,780) (4,949)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022

BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

9. KRRz EEM B (&)

b. BEEAFEZEREZZIZTENW

subsidiaries that have material BARFE (&)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)
Hyperchannel Info (Continued) EEH % (E)
2022 2021
—E_—_—F —E-—5F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FE T

Revenue A 24,659 148,782
Expenses X (28,563) (160,011)
Loss for the year FEEE (3,904) (11,229)
Loss attributable to owners of the  ARAT#EAE AEILEIE

Company (2,147) 6. 717)
Loss attributable to the EERAGzEERER

non-controlling interests of LR B

Hyperchannel Info (1,757) 4.,512)
Loss for the year FEEIE (3,904) (11,229
Other comprehensive (expense) RANTHER AEREAM

income attributable to owners of 2@ (B x%) gz

the Company (1,326) 106
Other comprehensive (expense) EER& 2 ERER

income afttributable to EEEMAZE (FBX)

non-controlling interest of W &

Hyperchannel Info (1,085) 86
Other comprehensive (expense) FEHMEE X)) KE

income for the year (2,411) 192

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF

273



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 9. KRB 2EEMEB QT ()

COMPANY (Continued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEAREEZERERZIIEZTEN
subsidiaries that have material BARFE (&)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Hyperchannel Info (Continued) EERZ (E)
2022 2021
—E_—_—F —E-—5F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Total comprehensive expense RATHEEAEGEZE
attributable to owners of the B X 458
Company (3,576) 6.611)
Total comprehensive expense EEREZEERER
attributable to non-controlling B2 EAXZ AR
interests of Hyperchannel Info (1,998) (4,426)
Total comprehensive expense for FEZHEBBA B
the year (5,574) (11,037)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from REEBREEZRE
operating activities RACRE) F5 31,553 (46,120)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from MEXFEEZES
financing activities ORE) RAFHE (42,031) 59,211
Net cash (outflow) inflow RERE) RAFRE (10,478) 13,091
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRME

40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the
Group’s liabilities arising from financing

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE_T__F=-A=+t—HILFE

0. REXBELERE2HIR

TRAFLAEEREXBELEEG2ED
BREAERIRSEH REXBELE

activities, including both cash and non-cash BEARERERIARRERELRAEE
changes. Liabilities arising from financing ZEERERERPIEANEXKRS
activities are those for which cash flows mEZEE-
were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
Advances
from an
Lease Bank independent
liabilities  borrowings  third party Total
—EBY
HERE RITER  HF=HER BE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TERT TET TET
At 1 April 2020 R-ZBE-_ZFEWA—A 2,806 8,749 14,546 26,101
Financing cash flows MERERE (6,466) 23,985 (15,454) 2,065
Non-cash changes FREEH
Finance costs BKER 313 1,234 908 2,455
New leases entered HEEE 9,213 - - 9,213
Early termination of leases REAILHSE (975) - - (975)
Exchange realignment B R 468 1,527 - 1,995
At 31 March 2021 RZBEZ-—F
=HB=+—H 5,359 35,495 - 40,854
Financing cash flows MERERE (3,907) (37,380) = (41,287)
Non-cash changes FEEEH
Finance costs BKER 140 931 - 1,071
New leases entered HEHE 2,298 - - 2,298
Early termination of leases 2R &ILHAE (3,349) - - (3,349)
Exchange realignment ERAE 60 954 - 1,014
At 31 March 2022 R-E-_—F
=A=1+—H 601 - - 601

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

41.

42.

MAJOR NON-CASH
TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there
was NO Major non-cash fransaction.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group entered into new lease agreements
for offices for 2 to 3 years. On lease
commencement, the Group recognised
right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities of HK$9,213,000.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 28 May 2021, the Company and 4 vendors
in the PRC ("Vendors”) entered into an
agreement for potential sales and purchase
of 100% equity interests ("Sale Capital”) of
a company established in the PRC which is
principally engaged in development and
sales of artificial intelligence hardware and
soffware. The Vendors have agreed to sell
the Sale Capital for a total consideration
of HKS$63,000,000, which shall be settled
by procuring the Company to issue and
allot 191,000,000 shares. As additional
time is required to fulfil the conditions in
the agreement, the transaction is not
yet completed as at the date of these
consolidated financial statements. Details
of the above fransaction is set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 2 June
2021, 26 August 2021, 29 October 2021, 29
December 2021, 28 February 2022, 29 April
2022 and 27 June 2022, respectively.

On 27 April 2022, the Company granted a
total of 14,000,000 share options with an
exercise price of HKS0.72 per share option.
8,000,000 share options were granted to
Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason, Chairman and
non-executive director of the Group, and
6,000,000 share options were granted to a
consultant of the Group, respectively. These
14,000,000 share options granted represents
approximately 0.84% of the total number of
shares in issue on the same date. For further
details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 27 April 2022.

41.

42.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BHE-ZE--_F=ZA=Z=+—HILEFE

43. INFORMATION ABOUT FINANCIAL 43. E@EA LA M B R 2 EH
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

a.

Statement of financial position a. KARMBRIAREFEE
and reserves of the Company
2022 2021
—_E__—F —E——%F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RMBAR Z &= 32,500 131,761
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries L NI 10,599 25,353
Other receivables H {th fE U ;18 299 -
Bank balances RIT&ER 69,631 10,448
80,529 35,801
Current liability REBAE
Other payables and accrued H At FE A FIE & ST
charges =g 665 628
Net current assets REBEEFE 79,864 35,173
Net assets EERE 112,364 166,934
Capital and reserves EAXE#E
Share capital (Note 32) B A (Bt EE32) 16,687 13,907
Share premium and reserves B aER#E
(Note 43b) GEZKY) 95,677 153,027
Total equity R 112,364 166,934

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022
BE-ZE-__F=A=Z=+—HLFE

43. INFORMATION ABOUT FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

43. AR R A MBRR 2 EH (&)

(Continued)
b. Movement in the Company’s b. XATREEZE
reserves
Capital
Share  Contfribution  redemption Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
RAEE EHRS RIABERE 2 EE ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn FERn T FER FER
At 1 April 2020 gt 1
A—8 2,025,611 262,143 446 (2,092,602) 195,598
Loss for the year FERR - - - (42,571 (42,57)
At 31 March 2021 R-B=-%
ZRA=t-8 2,025,611 262,143 446 (2,135,173) 163,027
Loss for the year FEFB - - - (96,145) (96,145)
Issue of shares BORG 38,920 - - - 38,920
Transaction cost BOROEERSHK
attributable to N
issue of shares (125) - - - (125)
At 31 March 2022 R-B-Z%
ZRA=t-8 2,064,406 262,143 446 (2,231,318) 95,677
44. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 44 L B E F
Certain comparative figures have been ETUBRBFEEHIEUREEAFEZ
reclassified to conform with the current 2HHRK e

year’s presentation.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEE=

The consolidated results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements

are as follows:

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HILEE

AEERBEREMRFEZGEXEREE
REEDNREEEERYBHRER  HIIWOT :

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
ZF-\f ZB-7§ ZB-FF =B--F§ =B =%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TET TER TEr FEr TET
RESULTS E4
Continuing operations SELEER
Revenue O 34,910 18,206 153,288 206,605 62,365
Loss before tax BRBAIE R (45,889) (21,219) (60,634) (71,042) (39,574)
Income tax (expense) credit FiEH (AX)E& (18) 6 155 1,121 369
Loss for the year from REBELEEK
continuing operations FEFR (45,907) (21,213) (60,479) (69,921) (39,205)
Loss for the year from RERREERY
discontinued operations EEER (11,889) (10,827) (3,258) (374) -
Loss for the year attributable A2 R#HE A ELF
to owners of the EEA
Company:
- From continuing - REFELEER
operations (46,153) (20,508) (65,121) (56,889) (28,403)
- From discontinued -RERLELEEL
operations (11,889) (10,827) 3.114) (302) -
(68,042) (31,335) (58,235) (67,191) (28,403)
Loss for the year aftributable  JFERER ML EE
to non-controlling BB
interests:
- From continuing - REFELEEK
operations 246 (705) (5,358) (13,032  (10,262)
- From discontinued - REREEEER
operations = = (144) (72) -
246 (705) (5.502) (13,104) (10,262)

F3j 2021-2022 XLBEEERRAF

279



280

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEBRE

As at 31 March

R=A=1+-A
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
“E-\& C-E-fAF C-BE-EF C-E--F CZB-=fF
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER TER TER TERr TET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Property and equipment MERFE 805 837 993 473 163
Right-of-use assets THEEE - - 1,825 2,260 172
Film right and film EFMERBEFTEY
production in progress 1,620 117 - - -
Rental deposits Here 555 555 108 1,333 -
Interests in associates REENRAzER 1,143 1,390 1,218 1,195 935
Goodwill EE - 19,949 12,126 1,396 -
Intangible assets BVEE 1,385 6,162 7,454 5,366 2,057
Financial assets of fair value B A FEET ARH
through profit or loss RZEWEE - 5,379 715 1,802 8,032
Net current assets RBEEFE 306,872 269,187 213,834 160,377 179,547
311,380 303,576 238,273 174,202 190,906
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (698) (1,384) (2,554) (1,628) (12)
310,682 302,192 235,719 172,574 190,894
Share capital (AN 13,907 13,907 13,907 13,907 16,687
Share premium and reserves  R13EE K #1E 302,234 270,842 206,962 151,383 166,153
Equity attributable to NG 2PN
owners of the Company Ei 316,141 284,749 220,869 165,290 182,840
Non-controlling interests FERER (5,459) 17,443 14,850 7,284 8,054
310,682 302,192 235,719 172,574 190,894
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